## SPECIFICITY OF A NOVEL *MYO*-INOSITOL PHOSPHATASE TOWARDS LESS-PHOSPHORYLATED *MYO*-INOSITOL PHOSPHATES

PETER H. VAN HERK Bachelor of Science, University of Lethbridge, 2012

A Thesis Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies of the University of Lethbridge in Partial Fulfilment of the Requirements for the Degree

### **MASTER OF SCIENCE**

Department of Chemistry and Biochemistry University of Lethbridge LETHBRIDGE, ALBERTA, CANADA

© Peter H. Van Herk, 2014

## PREPARATION OF THESIS

## PETER H. VAN HERK

Date of Defence: October 2, 2014

Dr. S. Mosimann Supervisor	Associate Professor	Ph.D.
Dr. U. Kothe Thesis Examination Committee Member	Associate Professor	Ph.D.
Dr. R. Golsteyn Thesis Examination Committee Member	Associate Professor	Ph.D.
Dr. W. Abbott Thesis Examination Committee Member	Adjunct Professor	Ph.D.
Dr. Stanley Moore External Examiner University of Saskatchewan Saskatoon, Saskatchewan	Associate Professor	Ph.D.
Dr. Michael Gerken Chair, Thesis Examination Committee	Professor	Ph.D.

#### Abstract

Protein tyrosine phosphatase-like *myo*-inositol phosphatases (PTPLPs) remove phosphoryl groups from phosphorylated *myo*-inositols (IPs) via largely ordered pathways. To understand the substrate specificity of this enzyme family, a simple method has been developed to produce pure, less-phosphorylated IPs that involves the hydrolysis of InsP<sub>6</sub>. The less-phosphorylated IPs were utilized to characterize the binding affinity and apparent kinetic parameters of a representative PTPLP. Finally, the structure of a PTPLP from *Desulfovibrio magneticus* and its hydrolytic pathway were determined. Main-chain conformational differences within the substrate binding site give rise to its unique InsP<sub>6</sub> dephosphorylation pathway and has allowed for the identification of structural determinants that give rise to its specificity for the C4 phosphoryl of  $Ins(1,2,4,5,6)P_5$ . Understanding how the number and nature of contacts in each of the phosphoryl binding sites control specificity will ultimately allow us to engineer PTPLPs with any desired substrate specificity.

## Acknowledgements

I would like to thank Dr. Steven Mosimann for his guidance and encouragement throughout my Master's Degree.

I would also like to thank the members of my supervisory committee Dr. Ute Kothe, Dr. Roy Golsteyn and Dr. Wade Abbott for their helpful suggestions and comments.

I am grateful for the financial support from the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada, Canadian Foundation for Innovation and the School of Graduate Studies at the University of Lethbridge.

I would like to thank members of the Mosimann lab both past and present for their help over the past few years.

And lastly, I would like to thank my family and friends for their support without which I would not be where I am today.

# **Table of Contents**

Abstract	iii
Acknowledgements	iv
List of Tables	vii
List of Figures	viii
List of Abbreviations	X
Chapter 1: Literature Review	1
1.1 Myo-inositol phosphates	1
1.1.1 Myo-inositol	1
1.1.1 Myo-inositol-1,2,3,4,5,6-hexakisphosphate	2
1.1.2 Structure and chemistry of myo-inositol-1,2,3,4,5,6-hexakisphosphate	2
1.1.3 Less-phosphorylated myo-inositol phosphates (IPs)	3
1.2 Myo-inositol phosphatases (IPases)	6
1.2.1 Hydrolysis pathways of IPase families	8
1.2.2 PTPLP biochemical properties	12
1.2.3 PTPLP structure and mechanism	15
1.4 Goals and objectives	18
Supplementary Figures	20
Chapter 2: Myo-inositol Phosphate Production and Utilization	28
2.1 Introduction	28
2.2 Materials and methods	30
2.2.1 InsP <sub>6</sub> hydrolysis and visualization	30
2.2.2 InsP <sub>x</sub> purification	31
2.2.3 Purity and yield	31
2.2.4 PhyAsrC252S/K301C binding assays	32
2.2.5 Kinetic analysis of PhyAsr and PhyAmm	32
2.3 Results	34
2.3.1 Production of InsP <sub>5</sub> and InsP <sub>4</sub>	34
2.3.2 Inositol phosphate (IP) purity	35
2.3.3 Utilization of inositol phosphates in binding and kinetic studies	37
2.4 Discussion	39
Supplementary Figures	42
Chapter 3: Structural Analysis of a Myo-inositol Phosphatase from Desulfovib	rio
magneticus and its Ins(1,2,3,4,5,6)P <sub>6</sub> Hydrolytic Pathway	52
3.1 Introduction	52
3.2 Materials and methods	54
3.2.1 Cloning and mutagenesis	54
3.2.2 Purification of PhyAdm and PhyAlpp	54
3.2.3 Crystallization	55
3.2.4 Data collection and image processing	56
3.2.5 Structure refinement and model validation	56
3.2.6 Identification of the PhyAdm and PhyAlpp hydrolysis products	59
3.3 Results.	61
3.3.1 Structure of PhyAdm	61
3.3.2 Comparison to other IPases.	62
3.3.3 Model of PhyAdm in complex with InsP <sub>6</sub>	65

3.3.4 Substrate specificity	70
3.4 Discussion	74
Supplementary Figures	76
Chapter 4: Conclusions and Future Directions	79
4.1 Overview	79
4.2 Characterization of diverse PTPLPs	80
4.3 Production of less-phosphorylated IPs	81
4.4 Structural determinants in specificity of PTPLPs	82
References	84

# List of Tables

Table 1.1	Prices of commercially available <i>myo</i> -inositol phosphates	5
Table 1.2	The hydrolysis pathways of characterized PTPLPs	12
Table 1.3	Biochemical properties of characterized PTPLPs	13
Table 1.4	Contacts in the PhyAsrC252S:InsP <sub>6</sub> complex structure	17
Table 2.1	Kinetic parameters and binding affinities of PhyAsr and PhyAmm	38
Table 3.1	Data collection and processing statistics for PhyAdm	56
Table 3.1	Refinement statistics for PhyAdm	58
Table 3.3	PhyAsr and PhyAdm InsP <sub>6</sub> contacts	67

List of Figures

Haworth projection of $Ins(1,2,3,4,5,6)P_6$	3
Agranof's turtle representation of InsP <sub>6</sub>	3
Eukaryotic IP pathways	7
Structure of a HAP from E. coli	8
Structure of a BPP from <i>B. subtilus</i>	8
Structure of a PAP from <i>P. vulgaris</i>	8
Structure of a PTPLP from S. ruminantium	8
<i>B. subtilis</i> BPP dephosphorylation pathway	9
E. coli HAP dephosphorylation pathway	10
K. terrigena HAP dephosphorylation pathway	10
PhyAsr InsP <sub>6</sub> dephosphorylation pathway	11
PhyAmm InsP <sub>6</sub> dephosphorylation pathway	11
PhyAsrl InsP <sub>6</sub> dephosphorylation pathway	11
Sequence alignment of characterized PTPLPs	14
PTPLP reaction mechanism	15
PhyAsrC252S InsP <sub>6</sub> contacts	17
PhyAsrC252S phosphoryl binding sites	17
Alignment of 58 PTPLPs with less than 80% identity20	-27
PAGE gel of PhyAsr InsP <sub>6</sub> hydrolysis products	34
PAGE gel of purified InsP <sub>5</sub> and InsP <sub>4</sub>	36
HPLC chromatogram of purified InsP <sub>5</sub> and InsP <sub>4</sub>	36
<sup>31</sup> P NMR spectra of InsP <sub>6</sub> , InsP <sub>5</sub> and InsP <sub>4</sub>	37
HPLC chromtagram of the PhyAsr hydrolysis products	42
Q-sepharose chromatogram of P <sub>i</sub> removal	43
50 mM InsP <sub>6</sub> hydrolysis products	44
SEC removal of salt	45
HPLC of pre and post InsP <sub>5</sub> purification	46
<sup>31</sup> P NMR spectra of InsP <sub>6</sub> and InsP <sub>6</sub> +P <sub>i</sub>	47
5-IAF labeled PhyAsr	48
PhyAsr InsP <sub>6</sub> , InsP <sub>5</sub> and InsP <sub>4</sub> titrations	49
PhyAsr and PhyAmm initial velocity plots	51
P <sub>i</sub> inhibition of InsP <sub>6</sub> hydrolysis	51
PhyAdm P-loop electron density	59
Quaternary structure of PhyAdm	61
Domain diagram of PhyAdm	63
PhyAdm/PhyAsr superposition	63
PTPLP omega loop alignment	64
PTPLP phy loop alignment	64
PTPLP penultimate helix extension alignment	64
Omega loop contacts with symmetry molecule	65
Omega loop electron density	65
Model of PhyAdm in complex with InsP <sub>6</sub>	66
PhyAdm Arg-242 substitution for PhyAsr Arg-57	68
PhyAdm P <sub>b</sub> phosphoryl site interactions	69
	Haworth projection of Ins(1,2,3,4,5,6)P <sub>6</sub>

Figure 3.9	PhyAdm P <sub>b</sub> phosphoryl site interactions	70
Figure 3.10a	HPLC chromatogram of PhyAdm InsP <sub>6</sub> hydrolysis	71
Figure 3.10b	HPLC chromatogram of PhyAdm InsP <sub>6</sub> hydrolysis	71
Figure 3.11	Model of PhyAdm in complex with Ins(1,2,4,5,6)P <sub>5</sub>	72
Figure 3.12	HPLC chromatogram of PhyAlpp InsP <sub>6</sub> hydrolysis	73
Supplementary Figure 3.1	ClustalW alignment of structurally characterized PTPLPs	s.76
Supplementary Figure 3.2	PAGE gel of PhyAdm purification	77
Supplementary Figure 3.3	PhyAdm size exclusion chromatography (SEC)	78

## List of Abbreviations

5-IAF	5-Iodoacetamidofluorescein
ASU	Asymmetric unit
B. bacteriovorus	Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus
BD1204	Phytase A from <i>Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus</i>
BME	β-mercaptoethanol
BPP	β-propeller phosphatase
CLS	Canadian Light Source
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
dsDNA	Double stranded DNA
E. coli	Escherichia coli
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
GA	General acid
HAP	Histidine acid phosphatase
HPLC	High performance liquid chromatography
InsP <sub>6</sub>	Myo-inositol-1,2,3,4,5,6-hexakisphosphate
IEC	Ion-exchange chromatography
IPase	<i>Myo</i> -inositol phosphatase
IP	<i>Myo</i> -inositol phosphate
IPTG	Isopropyl β-D-1-thiogalactopyranoside
K <sub>d</sub>	Dissociation constant
K <sub>M</sub>	Michaelis-Menten constant
k <sub>cat</sub>	Catalytic constant
L. pneumophila	Legionella pneumophila str. Paris
LSQ	Least squares
M. elsdenii	Megasphaera elsdenii
M. multacida	Mitsuokella multacida
MIHS	<i>Myo</i> -inositol-1,2,3,4,5,6-hexasulfate
mRNA	Messenger RNA
NMR	Nuclear magnetic resonance
P-loop	Phosphate binding loop
PAGE	Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
PAP	Purple acid phosphatase
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PDB	Protein data bank
PEG	Polyethylene glycol
PhyA	Phytase A
PhyAmm	Phytase A from Mitsuokella multacida
PhyAsr	Phytase A from Selenomonas ruminantium
P <sub>i</sub>	Inorganic phosphate
PISA	Protein interfaces, surfaces and assemblies
pKa	Ionization constant
РТР	Protein tyrosine phosphatase
PTPLP	Protein tyrosine phosphatase-like myo-inositol phosphatase
P. syringae	Pseudomonas syringae

RMSD	Root mean square deviation
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
S. lacticifex	Selenomonas lacticifex
S. ruminantium	Selenomonas ruminantium
SDS-PAGE	Sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
SEC	Size-exclusion chromatography
U	Unit
v/v	volume/volume

#### **Chapter 1: Literature Review**

#### 1.1 Myo-inositol phosphates

#### 1.1.1 Myo-inositol

Myo-inositol is one of the isomeric forms of cyclohexanehexol, which, in its lowest energy conformation, has one hydroxyl in the axial position and the the remaining five hydroxyls in the equatorial position (Michell, 2008). Of the nine isomeric forms of inositol, myo-inositol is the only abundant isomer and is the most widely distributed in biological systems (Michell, 2008). The other naturally occurring stereoisomers of inositol are scyllo-, muco-, D-chiro-, and neo-inositol. Even though the existence of inositol phosphates has been known since 1919, it was not till 1983 that their biological roles started to be assigned when inositol-1,4,5-triphosphate  $(Ins(1,4,5)P_3)$  was shown to be a Ca<sup>2+</sup>-mobilizing second messenger (Irvine and Schell, 2001). Inositol is also an important component of cellular membranes and inositol containing phospholipids are found in the membranes of all eukaryotes and many archaea (Michell, 2008). Even though inositol phosphates are not found in archaea or bacteria, prokaryotes have been shown to produce inositol phosphate degrading enzymes that serve a range of functions including phosphate scavenging and pathogenesis (Norris et al., 1998; Chatterjee et al., 2003; Michell, 2008). Inositol pyrophosphates (InsP<sub>7</sub> and InsP<sub>8</sub>) are recently discovered IPs that play a role in human insulin signaling (Chakraborty et al., 2010), regulation of telomere length (Saiardi et al., 2005), exocytosis (Illies et al., 2007) and endocytosis (Saiardi et al., 2002).

#### 1.1.1 *Myo*-inositol-1,2,3,4,5,6-hexakisphosphate

Myo-inositol 1,2,3,4,5,6-hexakisphosphate (InsP<sub>6</sub>) is the most abundant cellular *myo*-inositol phosphate (IP) and is ubiquitous in eukaryotic cells (Raboy, 2003). In plants, InsP<sub>6</sub> is the major form of phosphorus in seeds and is also found in other plant organs such as pollen, roots and tubers (Raboy, 2003). It generally accumulates during seed development and is broken down during germination to maintain a steady level of inorganic phosphate (Strother, 1980). Even though  $InsP_6$  was originally thought to serve solely as a storage molecule for phosphorus, inositol and cations, this view has evolved. More recently it has been shown that  $InsP_6$  plays a central role in numerous essential cellular processes including RNA processing, mRNA export, dsDNA break repair, apoptosis, endocytosis and bacterial pathogenicity (York et al., 1999; Hanakahi et al., 2000; Chatterjee et al., 2003; Macbeth et al., 2005; Tan et al., 2007; Lupardus et al., 2008). InsP<sub>6</sub> serves as a cofactor in most of these cellular activities and processes. The importance of  $InsP_6$  was exemplified when a deletion of the genes encoding enzymes responsible for the synthesis of InsP<sub>6</sub> in mouse embryos caused a lethal phenotype (Frederick et al., 2005; Verbsky et al., 2005).

#### 1.1.2 Structure and chemistry of myo-inositol-1,2,3,4,5,6-hexakisphosphate

InsP<sub>6</sub> has 12 acidic protons of which six have a pKa between 1.1 and 2.1, three have a pKa between 6.0 and 7.6 and the remaining three protons have pKa's between 9.2 and 9.6 (Isbrandt and Oertel, 1980). At physiological pH, InsP<sub>6</sub> carries a charge between -6 and -9 and adopts a chair conformation with 5 equatorial and 1 axial (C2) phosphate. Depending on the counter-ions present in solution, the pKa values vary slightly and high concentrations of divalent cations stabilize the alternative chair conformation (5 axial and 1 equatorial phosphate; Veiga *et al.*, 2014). The negative charge density of  $InsP_6$  makes it a strong chelator of cations and proteins, and also is important for many of its biological functions (Macbeth *et al.*, 2005; Tan *et al.*, 2007; Lupardus *et al.*, 2008).

To determine the absolute configuration of *myo*-inositols, the Agranoff turtle analogy is often used (Irvine and Schell, 2001). With five equatorial oxygen's and one axial oxygen in the chair conformation, the molecule is represented as a turtle (Figure 1.1). The head symbolizes the O2 position, the front flippers represent O1/O3, the back flippers O4/O6 and the tail shows the position of O5. When O2 is positioned on the left and pointing up, and the numbering increases in a counter-clockwise fashion around the turtle, the D-isomer is being represented.



**Figure 1.1.** Agranoff's Turtle. (a) Haworth projection of *myo*-inositol 1,2,3,4,5,6-hexa*kis*phosphate (InsP<sub>6</sub>) in the energetically favored chair conformation with five equatorial phosphates and one axial phosphate. The phosphates are illustrated with the symbol P. (b) The InsP<sub>6</sub> molecule resembles a turtle with the axial 2-position representing the head, the 1, 3, 4, and 6 positions representing the flippers and the 5-position representing the tail. The numbering shown inside the ring follows the nomenclature for the D stereoisomer (Irvine, 2005).

#### **1.1.3** Less-phosphorylated *myo*-inositol phosphates (IPs)

Lower order (or less-phosphorylated) *myo*-inositol phosphates (IPs) have been implicated in a wide range of critical eukaryotic cellular events. For example,  $Ins(1,4,5)P_3$ 

is needed to mobilize  $Ca^{2+}$  from storage organelles and for the regulation of cellular proliferation and other cellular processes that require free calcium (Somlyo and Somlyo, 1994). Ins(1,3,4,5,6)P<sub>5</sub> is involved in a range of cellular events including chromatin remodeling, viral assembly and regulation of L-type  $Ca^{2+}$  channels (Campbell *et al.*, 2001; Quignard *et al.*, 2003; Steger *et al.*, 2003). Ins(1,3,4,5,6)P<sub>5</sub> induces apoptosis in ovarian, lung, and breast cancer cells by inhibiting the serine phosphorylation and kinase activity of Akt/PKB (Piccolo *et al.*, 2004) and Ins(3,4,5,6)P<sub>4</sub> is an inhibitor of Ca<sup>2+</sup>-regulated Cl<sup>-</sup> channels in epithelial cells (Irvine and Schell, 2001). These are just a few examples of inositol phosphates that have biologically significant roles; many more have been shown to be bio-active and others are still being discovered in biological systems (Irvine, 2005; Gillaspy, 2013).

InsP<sub>6</sub> is found in many plant tissues, especially seeds, grains and rice (up to 6% of dry tissue weight) and is easily isolated by chemical methods (O'Dell *et al.*, 1972). Extraction of InsP<sub>6</sub> is usually done by macerating the plant tissue in hot alcohol, drying the macerated tissue sample and extracting InsP<sub>6</sub> with strong acid (Makower, 1970). Unfortunately, IPs other than InsP<sub>6</sub> are difficult to isolate from natural sources because of their low abundance or chemically synthesize due to the large number of stereoisomers. Because of this, (unlike InsP<sub>6</sub>) less-phosphorylated IPs that are commercially available are prohibitively expensive. For example, 10 grams of InsP<sub>6</sub> can be purchased for \$67.00 (CAD) whereas 1 mg of Ins(1,2,4,5,6)P<sub>5</sub> (the InsP<sub>5</sub> isomer produced in the PhyAsr, PhyAmm and PhyAdm major hydrolysis pathways) costs \$967.00 (CAD) and 1 mg Ins(1,3,4,5)P<sub>4</sub> \$1240.00 (CAD). Additionally, Ins(1,2,5,6)P<sub>4</sub> (which is the InsP<sub>4</sub> isomer produced in PhyAdm's major hydrolysis pathway) currently costs more than \$13,000 per

mg. For a complete list of available IPs and their prices refer to Table 1.1.

D-myo-Inositol Phosphate	Price (per mg)	Purity
InsP <sub>6</sub>		
Ins(1,2,3,4,5,6)P <sub>6</sub>	\$0.0067 <sup>1</sup>	~99%
InsP <sub>5</sub>		
Ins(2,3,4,5,6)P <sub>5</sub>	\$967.00 <sup>1</sup>	≥90%
Ins(1,3,4,5,6)P <sub>5</sub>	\$259.00 <sup>2</sup>	≥98%
Ins(1,2,4,5,6)P <sub>5</sub>	\$967.00 <sup>1</sup>	≥96%
Ins(1,2,3,5,6)P <sub>5</sub>	\$706.00 <sup>1</sup>	≥80%
Ins(1,2,3,4,6)P <sub>5</sub>	\$967.00 <sup>1</sup>	≥85%
Ins(1,2,3,4,5)P <sub>5</sub>	\$705.00 <sup>1</sup>	≥80%
InsP <sub>4</sub>		
Ins(1,3,4,5)P <sub>4</sub>	\$1,240.00 <sup>1</sup>	≥95%
Ins(1,4,5,6)P <sub>4</sub>	\$386.00 <sup>1</sup>	NA
Ins(1,3,4,6)P <sub>4</sub>	\$199.50 <sup>1</sup>	NA
Ins(3,4,5,6)P <sub>4</sub>	$825.00^{2}$	NA
$Ins(1,2,5,6)P_4$	\$13,620 <sup>2</sup>	NA
InsP <sub>3</sub>		
$Ins(1,4,5)P_3$	\$520.00 <sup>1</sup>	NA
$Ins(1,3,4)P_3$	\$1090.00 <sup>1</sup>	NA
$Ins(1,3,5)P_3$	\$825.00 <sup>2</sup>	NA
$Ins(1,2,3)P_3$	\$2,010.00 <sup>2</sup>	NA
$Ins(1,2,6)P_3$	\$360.00 <sup>3</sup>	NA

 Table 1.1. Prices of commercially available myo-inositol phosphates

<sup>1</sup>Price obtained from Sigma-Aldrich (May, 2014; www.sigmaaldrich.com) <sup>2</sup>Price obtained from Santa Cruz Biotechnology (May, 2014; www.scbt.com) <sup>3</sup>Price obtained from Echelon BioSciences (July, 2014; <u>www.echelon-inc.com</u>) Commerically available IPs that we are currently able to produce are shaded NA – Not available

A protocol describing the large-scale production, purification and use of specific IP isomers has been previously described (Greiner *et al.*, 2002). The protocol utilized a single Q-sepharose ion exchange chromatography step to separate a mixture of less-phosphoryloated IPs generated using  $InsP_6$  degrading enzymes. The purity of the

resulting IP products is not fully addressed in the literature.

#### **1.2** *Myo*-inositol phosphatases (IPases)

Myo-inositol phosphatases (IPases) are enzymes that remove one or more phosphoryl groups of myo-inositol phosphates (IPs). They are typically identified in enzyme activity assays utilizing *mvo*-inositol-1,2,3,4,5,6-hexakisphosphate (InsP<sub>6</sub>; phytic acid) and IPases active against InsP<sub>6</sub> and have been identified in prokaryotes, protists, fungi, animals and plants (Mullaney et al., 2000). Many IPases remove multiple phosphoryl groups resulting in the stepwise formation of *myo*-inositol penta-, tetra-, tri-, bi-, and monophosphate isomers, as well as the liberation of inorganic phosphate. Prokaryotic IPases have been implicated in phosphate scavenging (Norris et al., 1998) and more recently in pathogenesis (Chatterjee *et al.*, 2003). They are widely used as monogastric livestock feed additives where they reduce phosphate requirements and phosphate release into the environment (Schroder et al., 1996; Urbano et al., 2000; Rao et al., 2009). Plants also have enzymes that remove multiple phosphoryl groups from InsP<sub>6</sub>, whereas all eukaryotic organisms have IPases that are components of biosynthetic and regulatory pathways (Figure 1.2; Stevensen-Paulik *et al.*, 2006). Eukaryotic IPases that participate in these pathways have a narrow substrate spectrum and are often tightly regulated. Additionally, these eukaryotic IPases are generally membrane associated enzymes, which are difficult to express and purify in mature form.

**Figure 1.2.** Abridged eukaryotic inositol phosphate phosphorylation and dephosphorylation pathway mechanism. Pathways I and II are lipid-dependent pathways that generate IPs from the phosphorylation and dephosphorylation of  $Ins(1,4,5)P_3$  whereas pathway III is a lipid independent pathway that exists in plants and slime mold (Stevensen-Paulik *et al.*, 2006).

IPases that hydrolyze InsP<sub>6</sub> can be separated into four distinct enzyme families based upon their primary sequence and structure: histidine acid phosphatases (HAPs), βpropeller phytases (BPPs), purple acid phosphatases (PAPs) and protein tyrosine phosphatase-like phosphatases (PTPLPs), which are the subject of this thesis (Mullaney and Ullah, 2003; Puhl *et al.*, 2007). The IPases of these families are structurally and mechanistically diverse. For example, the PAPs and BPPs are metal-dependent enzymes with acidic and alkaline pH optima, respectively. These enzymes activate water molecules as nucleophiles whereas the HAPs and PTPLPs have no metal requirement and form phosphoenzyme intermediates with invariant histidine and cysteine residues, respectively (Mullaney and Ullah, 2003; Yao *et al.*, 2012; Kerovuo *et al.*, 1998; Tye *et al.*, 2002; Yao *et al.*, 2012). Notably, each of the IPase families are capable of removing multiple phosphoryl groups from InsP<sub>6</sub> and display varying degrees of specificity.



**Figure 1.3.** Structures of representative IPases from the four classes. (a) Structure of a HAP from *Escherichia coli* in complex with  $InsP_6$  (PDB: 1DKP). (b) Structure of a BPP from *Bacillus subtilus* in complex with  $Ca^{2+}$  and phosphate (sticks) (PDB: 1H6L). (c) Structure of a PAP dimer from *Phaseolus vulgaris* (PDB: 1KBP). (d) Structure of a PTPLP from *S. ruminantium* in complex with  $InsP_6$  (PDB: 3MMJ). The metal ions are show in grey spheres, the  $\beta$ -strands are blue,  $\alpha$ -helices are red and loops are grey.

### 1.2.1 Hydrolysis pathways of IPase families

Hydrolysis pathways have been determined for members of the BPP, HAP and PTPLP IPase families. PAPs are the least characterized of the IPase families and catalyze the hydrolysis of a wide range of phosphomonoester and amide substrates. Only the PAP isolated from *Glycine max* (soybean; GenBank accession number NM 111593) has

significant InsP<sub>6</sub> activity (Hegeman and Grabau, 2001) and its hydrolysis pathway has not been characterized. Other known PAPs have limited or no activity towards InsP<sub>6</sub>.

BPPs, the other metal dependent family, have been extensively characterized and are the most common IPase in aquatic habitats (Lim *et al.*, 2000). They have a cleavage site and adjacent affinity sites (Shin *et al.*, 2001). Substrates must simultaneously fill all sites and a maximum of 3 phosphates can be hydrolyzed from InsP<sub>6</sub>, resulting in inositol triphosphate as a final product (Kerovuo *et al.*, 2000). Further, these structural constraints limit BPPs to removing either all of the odd numbered or all even numbered phosphates of InsP<sub>6</sub>. The dephosphorylation pathway of InsP<sub>6</sub> by a BPP from *B. subtilis* is shown in Figure 1.4 (Kerovuo *et al.*, 2000). BPPs typically hydrolyze InsP<sub>6</sub> to a number of InsP<sub>5</sub> products at roughly equal rates and do not have a single major desphosphorylation pathway.

$$Ins(1,2,4,5,6)P_{5} \rightarrow Ins(2,4,5,6)P_{4} \rightarrow Ins(2,4,6)P_{3}$$
  
Ins(1,2,3,4,5,6)P\_{5} \rightarrow Ins(2,4,5,6)P\_{4} \rightarrow Ins(2,4,6)P\_{3}  
Ins(1,2,3,4,5)P\_{5}  $\rightarrow Ins(1,2,3,5)P_{4} \rightarrow Ins(1,3,5)P_{3}$   
Ins(1,2,3,5,6)P\_{5}



In contrast to the metal-dependent enzymes, HAPs, and PTPLPs tend to hydrolyze InsP<sub>6</sub> via a major dephosphorylation pathway that can account for more than 80% of the starting material. Most of the InsP<sub>6</sub> degrading enzymes characterized to date are histidine acid phosphatases (HAPs, EC 3.1.3.2) and they are most prominently found in bacteria, plants and fungi (Van Etten *et al.*, 1991). One of the main applications of HAPs currently are as an additive to grains, cereals and animal feed to promote the hydrolysis of InsP<sub>6</sub>, allowing for the absorption of inorganic phosphate in the digestive tract and its utilization in biologically active compounds such as DNA, RNA and ATP (Oh *et al.*, 2004). The

dephosphorylation pathways of InsP<sub>6</sub> by a HAP from *Escherichia coli* (Greiner *et al.*, 1993) and *Klebsiella terrigena* (Greiner and Carlsson, 2006) are shown in Figure 1.5 a and b, respectively.



**Figure 1.5.** Dephosphorylation pathway of  $InsP_6$  by a HAP from (a) *E. coli* and (b) *K. terrigena*. The major pathways are shown by bold arrows and account 85% and 98 % of  $InsP_6$  hydrolysis in (a) and (b), respectively. The minor pathways are indicated by smaller arrows.

As can be seen in Figure 1.5, representative HAPs have one or several major hydrolysis pathways. The *E. coli* enzyme is an example of a HAP with one major hydrolysis pathway that initially removes the C6 phosphate whereas the *K. terrigena* enzyme has several major hydrolysis pathways starting at  $InsP_5$  and initially removes the C3 phosphate. HAPs that initially remove the C5 phosphate have also been characterized (Barrientos *et al.*, 1994).

The most recent class of IP degrading enzymes to be classified are the PTPLPs (Yanke *et al.*, 1998; Chu *et al.*, 2004; Puhl *et al.*, 2007; Puhl *et al.*, 2008a,b). The dephosphorylation pathways for several PTPLPs have been characterized (Figure 1.6 and Table 1.2) and with the exception of PhyA from *Megasphaera elsdenii*, the hydrolysis pathways of PTPLPs utilize a single major pathway that account for the vast majority of hydrolysis. In comparison with HAPS, the hydrolysis pathways associated with InsP<sub>6</sub> breakdown by PTPLPs are more likely to follow a single pathway.



**Figure 1.6.** Dephosphorylation pathways of  $InsP_6$  by (a) PhyAsr (Puhl *et al.*, 2007), (b) PhyAmm (Gruninger *et al.*, 2009) and (c) PhyAsrl (Puhl *et al.*, 2008a). The major pathways are shown by the bold arrows and the minor pathways are pointed out by the regular arrows.

As seen with HAPs, individual PTPLPs can intiate hydrolysis by removing different phosphoryl groups (C3, C4 or C5). Even when the initial hydrolysis steps are identical, individual enzymes can have unique dephosphorylation pathways. For example, the enzymes from *S. ruminantium* (PhyAsr) and *M.multacida* (PhyAmm) initially hydrolyze the C3 of InsP<sub>6</sub> and the C1 of Ins(1,2,4,5,6)P<sub>5</sub>. Subsequently, PhyAsr remove the C6 phosphoryl whereas PhyAmm removes the C5 phosphoryl group (Gruninger *et al.*, 2009; Gruninger *et al.*, 2012).

Directory	Phosph	Pathway				
Phytase	$1^{st}$	$2^{nd}$ $3^{rd}$ $4^{th}$ $5^{th}$		$5^{\text{th}}$	prevalence	
PhyAsr <sup>A</sup>	$3 \rightarrow$	$1 \rightarrow$	$6 \rightarrow$	$5 \rightarrow$	$4 \rightarrow$	80 %
PhyAmm <sup>B</sup>	$3 \rightarrow$	$1 \rightarrow$	$5 \rightarrow$	$6 \rightarrow$	$4 \rightarrow$	80 %
PhyAsrl <sup>C</sup>	$5 \rightarrow$	$6 \rightarrow$	$4 \rightarrow$	$3 \rightarrow$	$1 \rightarrow$	90 %
PhyAsl <sup>D</sup>	$3 \rightarrow$	$4 \rightarrow$	$5 \rightarrow$	$6 \rightarrow$	$1 \rightarrow$	>90 %
PhyBsl <sup>D</sup>	$3 \rightarrow$	$4 \rightarrow$	$5 \rightarrow$	$6 \rightarrow$	$1 \rightarrow$	>90 %
PhyAme <sup>E</sup> (a)	$3 \rightarrow$	$4 \rightarrow$	$5 \rightarrow$	$6 \rightarrow$	$1 \rightarrow$	60 %
PhyAme <sup>E</sup> (b)	$4 \rightarrow$	$5 \rightarrow$	$6 \rightarrow$	$1 \rightarrow$	$3 \rightarrow$	30 %

Table 1.2 The hydrolysis pathways of characterized PTPLPs.

A. Puhl et al. 2007

B. Gruninger et al. 2009

C. Puhl et al. 2008b

D. Puhl et al. 2008a

E. Puhl *et al.* 2009

#### **1.2.2 PTPLP biochemical properties**

PTPLPs can be further subdivided into two main categories where the first grouping contains PTPLPs with high activity and high specificity for IP substrates and a second category that contains PTPLPs with lower activity towards IP substrates and broad specificity for phosphate containing compounds (Puhl *et al.*, 2007; Puhl *et al.*, 2008b,a; Puhl *et al.*, 2009a). Phytase A from *Selenomonas ruminantium* (PhyAsr) belongs to the first group that has high activity and specificity for InsP<sub>6</sub> (Puhl *et al.*, 2007). Phytase A from *Mitsuokella multacida* (PhyAmm) is a tandemly repeated enzyme where the N-terminal repeat has low activity and specificity for phosphate containing compounds whereas the C-terminal repeat has high activity and specificity for InsP<sub>6</sub> (Gruninger *et al.*, 2009). A selected set of biochemical properties associated with known PTPLPs are reported in Table 1.3. Because of their catalytic mechanism, PTPLPs have optimal pHs in the acidic range.

	рН optima <sup>н</sup>	Temperature optimum (°C)	Phytase activity <sup>A</sup>	Specificity	$k_{\text{cat}}^{B}(\text{s}^{-1})$	$K_{M}^{B}(\mu M)$
PhyAmm <sup>C</sup>	5.0	50	High	High	1109	347
PhyAsr <sup>D</sup>	5.0	50	High	High	264	425
$PhyAsrl^{E}$	4.5	55	Low	Broad	65	7
PhyAsl <sup>F</sup>	4.5	40	High	High	256	309
$PhyBsl^{F}$	4.5	37	Low	Broad	18	582
PhyAme <sup>G</sup>	5.0	60	Medium	High	122	64
PhyAdm	6.0	55	Medium	High	ND	ND

Table 1.3. Biochemical characteristics of characterized PTPLPs.

A. Specific activity (Units/mg), Low < 100, Medium > 100 and < 300, High > 300

B.  $k_{cat}$  and  $K_M$  for InsP<sub>6</sub>

C. Gruninger et al. 2009

D. Puhl et al. 2007

E. Puhl et al. 2008b

F. Puhl et al. 2008a

G. Puhl et al. 2009

H. pH optima are at half integer values

ND - Not determined

An amino acid sequence alignment was generated with the sequences of all PTPLPs characterized to date (Figure 1.7).

								Omega
PhyAsr PhyAmm_N PhyAmm_C PhyAme PhyAsrl PhyAsl PhyAdm	: EPVG : AEAQ : TPYS : QGGR : Q : Q : EP	SYARAEF APAVVKN VWAKKNP TPLPALA 	RP QD NP (VNSWEPD AP AA TD G	FEGFV\ - PKLAL YNGYI \ YEGHF\ - EEAVL CEGFV\ PDVGVL	WRL DNDG _ KI DRAE WRL DTKE WRV DAEN _ RL DAKT WRL DSPN _ TL DAPA	GKEALPRN DVNQLPRN DRNQLPRN IDASLPRN GAVFPRS IQAQLPRN ASALPHR	IFRTSA IFRMGS IFRTMN IFRTCQ IFRTCQ IFRTSK RFRTCF	DAL RAPEK: <b>82</b> DKYVGVT - SAFRTDVN SPFHAVEH DTFTKS SAFHAPVG FPLTAS
PhyAsr PhyAmm_N PhyAmm_C PhyAme PhyAsrl PhyAsl PhyAdm	Ioop KFH- VKK- KYAS KYAS KFK- KFK-	- L DAAY\ KTGI M - TGKGFT EVDPSYI LQP\ - LDPAY\ - DGAA\	/PSREG MPTRKG PTPTRKG PSRKG /PSRQG /PSRKG /PSREG	MDALHI MDTMN\ LDTLYI LDDLRI LDKLRC LDGLDJ LNGLR\	SGSSAF VSASSCF MSGSAEF SGSSQF CSASAEF ASGSAEF VSGSSQF	T P A QL K N S E K E L E A S N G E L QA S A R Q F D A S G S G L S L S V G Q F Q K S L A G L A L	IVAAKLI MLPVLI LVHELI IRDKII MREQFI	REKT AG: <b>126</b> PVKP S KQQA KG RKKT KG RTAAGSDA RQQA EG PPRA
PhyAsr PhyAmm_N PhyAmm_C PhyAme PhyAsrl PhyAsl PhyAdm	: PI YD : QF YD : PI YI : PI YD : VI YV : PVYI : VI	VDLRQES VDLRGES MDLRQET VDLRQES VDLRKES VDLRRES	SHGYLDG- SHGYLNG- THGVFNG- SHGFFDG- SHGFVNGD SHGILNG- SHGFLGG-	I PVSW TAVSW NAVSW TAVSW I PVSQ DAVSW NAVSW	Y G E R D WA F A N H D WG Y G L R D WG Y G R H D WG Y MK K N R G Y G K R D WG R L P D N Q G	NL GKSQH GND GRT E D GNL GKNKA GNI GKSPT GNVKL KAA GNL GRNQR GNP GRDAA	IEALADI DIIIPLI EVLKDI AVLADI AVKQVI RAVQSDI FVAEAI	ERHRLHAA: <b>175</b> EKEQLASL ENSRLNAA EQQRLQAA EGKWLQSL ERRRLKAA EAALLAAI
PhyAsr PhyAmm_N PhyAmm_C PhyAme PhyAsrl PhyAsl PhyAdm	: L H- K : KGST : RG- K : L G- K : VG- K : L G- K : DE RP	F TVY I APL VKS I YRF SLI VAEL DVI VYDC ELTFVPN I QYVAPL DI VVARE	Phyloop GKHKLPE DDKKNVI DKDKMPI QGKGDLPI MGKTDTKL NKHKLPS ARRGGP-	GGEV-F LSPVY\ DPKP-\ HPRV-I FPACS\ GGKA-F -TPLTI	RRVQKVG VNYNKVF VKIESVM AVRRVG VKVEKVE ERITQAM - GPLPAV	QTEQEVAE RTEEEMVK ITEQQLVE RTEQELAE TEEALAS ITEEQLVT SEAQAAA	AAGMR` QHGAN` KNGLH` SKGIH` SLGMR` SLGLG`	Y F RI AATD: <b>223</b> Y F RL TL QD Y Y RI AATD Y V RL ANTD Y K RI LI TD Y V RI TATD Y L RL AV SD
PhyAsr PhyAmm_N PhyAmm_C PhyAme PhyAsrl PhyAsl PhyAdm	: HV WP : HF RP : HI WP : HL WP : QMAP : HV WP : HT RP	TPENIDF DDPDVDF SAANIDE TPGEIDF TDEEVDF APECIDC DDAVVEF	RFLAFYRT (FLEFYKS FFINFTRT AFLAFVRT AFMAFYKS QFIRLYRQ RFVRFSRS	L P Q D A \ L P K D A \ MP A N A \ L P A D A \ L P K N A \ L P P K A \ L P P D V \	NLHFHCE NLHYHCY NLHFHCC NLHFHCE NLHFHCF NLHFHCG NLHFHCG	A G V G R T T Y A G M G R T T A G A G R T T A G A G R T T A G A G R T T A G H G R T T A G V G R T T	A F MV M I F MV MI A Y MA M A Y MV M T F A V F T Y MA L T F MT L	T D ML K N P - : <b>272</b> H D I L K N A K Y D MMK N P - Y D MI K N P - Y D I L S N P - Y D MMR N P - V D ML R N A P
PhyAsr PhyAmm_N PhyAmm_C PhyAme PhyAsrl PhyAsl PhyAdm	: SVSL : DVSF : DVSL : DLPY : AVAM : DVTL : SVAF	KDILYR DDIIQR GDILSR KDIVYR DDIVAR KDILYR EDIIAR	QHEI GGFY QKLI GI VD QYLLGGNY QYEI GGNY QYALGG QHEI GGTY QKALGGSD	Penultim YGEFPI LSEIPI VAYEIA TPHDVV TNLFAF LGYEGA LAKTSI	nate helix ex KTKDK- OKKKNY- AKPKPD- VHPKQG- PGKKDN- AKHQDRT OGSAPG-	tension DSWKTKY GRKA - QWKADY - DWKGPY WKGKE EGWKSVY RDAL	YREKI YIERY( YHQKAI YHEKHI IRKRAI YADKAI	VMI EQFYR: <b>321</b> QFVQHFYD HMI EKFYQ EMVSLFYQ EQI RKFYA EMI QSFYR EFLRRFYE
Figure 1	<b>.7.</b> Clus	stalW ami	no acid se	quence	alignmen	t of charac	cterized	protein tyrosine
phosphata	ase-like	inositol	phosphata	ases (P	TPLPs).	The activ	ve site	nucleophile is

phosphatase-like inositol phosphatases (PTPLPs). The active site nucleophile is highlighted in grey. The protein abbreviations, source and GenBank accession number are as follows: PhyAsr, *S. ruminantium*, AAQ13669; PhyAmm\_N, *M. multacida* Nterminal repeat, ABA18187; PhyAmm\_C, *M. multacida* C-terminal repeat, ABA18187; PhyAme, *M. elsdenii*, ABC69358; PhyAsrl, *S. ruminantium* subsp. *lactilytica*, ABC69359; PhyAsl, *S. lacticifex* ABC69367; PhyAdm, *D. magneticus*, YP\_002953065.

#### **1.2.3 PTPLP structure and mechanism**

Protein tyrosine phosphatase (PTP) superfamily of enzymes are found in a range of prokaryotes and are key regulatory components in signal transduction pathways that control cell growth, proliferation and differentiation (Dixon and Denu, 1998; Paul and Lombroso, 2003). PTPLPs contain both a catalytic protein tyrosine phosphatase (PTP) domain ( $\alpha$ - $\beta$ - $\alpha$  sandwhich) and an IPase specific domain that plays a role in substrate specificity. Whereas PTPLPs do not display activity towards classic PTP substrates, they are known virulence factors in several microbial systems (Chu et al., 2004; Nakashima et al., 2007; Puhl et al., 2009a). PTPLPs possess the PTP active site sequence CX<sub>5</sub>R(S,T) and follow a classic two-step PTP reaction mechanism (Puhl et al., 2007). Upon substrate binding  $(k_1)$ , the first catalytic step corresponds to the nucleophilic attack of the scissile phosphate by the invariant P-loop cysteine  $(k_2)$ . This is followed by simultaneous protonation of the IP leaving group by an invariant aspartic acid (general acid), formation of the phosphoenzyme intermediate and releases the  $InsP_5$  product. In step 2, a water molecule binds  $(k_3)$  and is activated by the aspartate and the resulting hydroxyl hydrolyzes the phosphoenzyme intermediate and releases inorganic phosphate  $(k_4)$ .

Step 1: 
$$E + InsP_6 \xrightarrow{k_1} E \cdot InsP_6 \xrightarrow{k_2} E \cdot P + InsP_5$$
  
Step 2:  $E \cdot P + H_2O \xrightarrow{k_3} E \cdot P \cdot H_2O \xrightarrow{k_4} E + P_i$ 

**Figure 1.8.** PTPLP reaction mechanism where  $InsP_6$  is hydrolyzed to produce  $InsP_5$  and inorganic phosphate.

As of August 2014, more than 120 potential and known PTPLP IPase sequences were identified with BLAST (version 2.2.29). We have identified and aligned 59

sequences that share less than 80% identity (Supplementary Figure 1.1). When considering the seven IPases whose hydrolysis pathways have been characterized (Figure 1.7), IPase specific sequence elements implicated in substrate binding are not conserved and five have distinct  $InsP_6$  hydrolysis pathways (Table 1.2). The same IPase specific sequence elements are highly variable in alignments of known sequences (Figure 3.4) and suggest additional distinct hydrolysis pathways will be uncovered as more IPases are characterized.

Crystal structures of three PTPLPs have been solved to date: PhyAsr (PDB: 2PSZ), PhyAmm (PDB: 3F41) and Bd1204 (PDB: 4NX8). Additionally, the structure of PhyAsr has been solved in complex with InsP<sub>6</sub> (PDB: 3MMJ), Ins(1,2,3,5,6)P<sub>5</sub> (PDB: 3MOZ) and Ins(1,3,4,5)P<sub>4</sub> (PDB: 3O3L). In the PhyAsrC252S:InsP<sub>6</sub> structure (PDB: 3MMJ), the substrate binds in a deep electropositive cleft and the C3 phosphate is adjacent to the nucleophilic cysteine (C252S), consistent with the known hydrolysis pathway of PhyAsr. Six phosphoryl group binding sites were identified in the PhyAsrC252S:InsP<sub>6</sub> structure. Each of the binding sites have been named: P<sub>s</sub> (scissile phosphate), P<sub>a</sub>/P<sub>a</sub>' (adjacent to scissile phosphate), P<sub>b</sub>/P<sub>b'</sub> and P<sub>c</sub>, in order to facilitate discussion (Gruninger *et al.*, 2012). Extensive contacts are observed between the C2, C3 and C4 phosphates of the substrate and the P<sub>a</sub>', P<sub>s</sub> and P<sub>a</sub> sites at the base of the binding pocket (Figure 1.9; Gruninger *et al.*, 2012). In contrast, there are relatively few contacts with the solvent exposed C1, C5 and C6 phosphates that occupy the P<sub>b</sub>', P<sub>c</sub> and P<sub>b</sub> sites.



**Figure 1.9. (a)** Contacts between PhyAsrC252S and each of the InsP<sub>6</sub> phosphates. **(b)** View of the interactions between InsP<sub>6</sub> and the PhyAsrC252S phosphoryl group binding sites. The binding sites are labeled  $P_s$ ,  $P_a$ ,  $P_a$ ,  $P_b$ ,  $P_b$  and  $P_c$  to facilitate discussion of the PTPLP phosphoryl binding sites in this work (Gruninger *et al.*, 2012).

The specificity of PhyAsr for the C3 phosphoryl group of  $InsP_6$  is almost entirely due to the  $P_{a'}$  site, which can accommodate an axial (C2) but not an equatorial phosphate. Assuming less-phosphorylated IPs bind in a similar manner, the major PhyAsr pathway can be understood on terms of two simple principles. First, the  $P_{a'}$  site is only able to accept an axial phosphate or hydroxyl group, and second, the  $P_a$  and  $P_b$  phosphoryl binding sites are preferentially filled owing to the number and nature of contacts (Table 1.4).

Phosphoryl Binding Site	Carbon atom	PhyAsr Residue
Ps	C3	Ser-252, Glu-253, Ala-254, Gly-255, Val-256
Pa	C4	His-224, Gly-257, Lys-312
P <sub>a'</sub>	C2	Arg-57, Asp-153, Asp-223
P <sub>b</sub>	C5	Lys-83, Lys-305, Tyr-309
P <sub>b'</sub>	C1	Arg-68
Pc	C6	Lys-189, Lys-305

Table 1.4. Contacts in the PhyAsrC252S:InsP<sub>6</sub> complex structure.

#### 1.4 Goals and objectives

The goal of our research is to extend our knowledge of the structural determinants that control the substrate specificity and hydrolysis pathways of PTPLPs. Ultimately, this knowledge will allow us to produce any IP (including bioactive IPs) in large quantities using a combination of natural and bioengineered enzymes. In the short term, the development of methods to purify the less-phosphorylated IPs will allow us to extend our biophysical and mechanistic studies of PTPLPs. This work may also contribute to the development of inhibitors of IPases that have recently been shown to act as virulence factors. Finally, since many of the less-phosphorylated IPs are either extremely expensive or commercially unavailable, we will be able to provide these substrates to other research groups and support an area of research that continues to grow rapidly as IPs are progressively implicated in a wide range of diverse cellular functions (Irvine, 2005; Gillaspy, 2013).

Chapter 2 discusses the production of pure less-phosphorylated inositol phosphate substrates. Even though a specific example was used in this work (InsP<sub>6</sub> hydrolysis by PhyAsr), the inositol phosphate purification methodology described can be applied to any enzyme that hydrolyzes InsP<sub>6</sub> to less-phosphorylated IPs. As the number of characterized PTPLPs increase, this simple methodology should facilitate the purification of an increasingly larger number of IPs. To test our purified IPs, we carried out simple kinetic and binding assays and have provided the first experimentally determined K<sub>d</sub>'s.

In chapter 3, I have determined the crystallographic structure of a PTPLP from *D*. *magneticus* (PhyAdm) at 1.92 Å. PhyAdm shares less than 37% sequence identity with PTPLPs that have been structurally characterized and lacks many residues implicated in

substrate binding. In structural comparison with known PTPLPs, the IPase specific sequence elements (the omega loop, phy loop and penultimate helix extension) are highly variable. These structural differences are ultimately responsible for the PhyAdm hdyrolysis pathway and structural determinants that give rise to the hydrolysis of the C3 phosphoryl group followed by the C4 and C5 phosphoryl groups are identified.

Finally, in Chapter 4 I summarize the results of my two research chapters and present several possible directions that future experimentation may follow.

# Supplementary Figures

Selenomonas_ruminantium	: HAVLCSLLVGAS LWILPQADAAKAPEQIVIEPVGSYARAERP : 48
Mitsuokella_multacida_N-term	: HHHSSGLVPRGSHMASAVVQEVSAEAQAPAVV
Mitsuokella_multacida_C-term	: DITURRUK LIGTVDLSETPDKKKNYGRKAYTERYQFVQHFYDYVKENPDLK
Megasphaera_elsdenii	: LQSKGKIMIRCKKIAVILAVFSAMGMVVQGQGNGDNIAFSQGGRI
Selenomonas_ruminantium_subsplactilytica	: QKSGCRILAVIS CLLILLMGAVQAAAKQ
Selenomonas_lacticitex	: RYLAAGLALALC LGGLPLAQASSAEAAAQGQ KAALAA
Desulfovibrio_magneticus	: RSARPRLAAPWP LAGLLAVVLALFLAGPSAAA
Acidovorax_avenae_subspcitrulli_AAC00-1	: MPHVSLACRHH
Clostridium_arbusti	: KRIRIFWLIFFVFIFASGYIFSSTNVIKAFDNK
Clostridium_acetobutylicum_ATCC_824	: KKTKLICIGILATAIVTISIYNFDFFKRTP
Clostridium_celatum	: SYFFRKVNLIFVFILLSTFISANPMNNLFKNN
Megamonas_funiformis	: LKYLSLLLSSIC IMQFMTVPSLANAQAMEIKSNLAIDVEDIK
Fluoribacter_dumoffii	:LWMTHLKHILVTFFMVS
Cystobacter_fuscus	:
Waddlia_chondrophila_WSU_86-1044	:MSKWLLLTILLI
Legionella_longbeachae_D-4968	:MAYFKSIIVTLTLL
Clostridium_tetani_E88	:RKFKIYISSFLIFLSIFLSLSMESTLAYTS
Candidatus_protochlamydia_amoebophila_UWE25	:-MKNIYILLFLFSLGVVAQSFLYQHQP
Xanthomonas_campestris_pvvasculorum_NCPPB702	: VEVRSNTSPQGALSGLARRPQRETEGGEPRSASSS
Clostridium_colicanis	:KYIKSFLLISLTIICLLG-FSLPTF
Parachlamydia_acanthamoebae_strHall's_coccus	: KKLENWIHIFKLFLGLGFCMLKVFYITAVIFIFFF
Clostridium_pasteurianum	: KRIKLFWITFFIAIFSLSFIFENVNAV-SFAPK
Selenomonas_sputigena_ATCC_35185	: MSLCAAVLLVLG AMFGMAGRASAADAPPR
Veillonella_ratti	:LPTQETRLESINEHEKTTKAVAKQSHTAINPNRMYADKRLIN
Clostridium_saccharoperbutylacetonicum_N1-4(HMT)	:RKLKLLVILVMFMTTISSFMVKKNVEAQSV
Xanthomonas_campestris_pvvesicatoria_str85-10	: APSASSDAMKSADCAEN I KEEVVSKHVHQAVPAELADL PSRQPPRSKTAL
Clostridium_botulinum_F_strlangeland	:KNFKLNIFILLILVGVFSFFSITNKATIATDD
Clostridium_ljungdahlii_DSM_13528	:KKLSIFMCTMFLVSLLGVPVVYSKEVTGMKNENVQLEH
Desulfovibrio_fructosovorans_JJ	:
Candidatus_odyssella_thessalonicensis	: V L Q L S W G Q V N F Q P S W I V G F N P I Q P I D D
Clostridium_botulinum_BKT015925	: N - YMKKTNFCFTLFILLFLISLPVNAKILSTDAP
Myxococcus_stipitatus_DSM_14675	:
Clostridium butyricum 5521	: KRKNFNVLLSAFLVSVSLFSLIPYKIDAFIQEPSNTSQ
Clostridium sp. DL-VIII	: KKFK   SVVL TML   A   FCSF   VNENVYAEAS
Clostridium beijerinckii NCIMB 8052	: KNFKRITIL TMLIVSIFSFAVNNNA I AQVPSD
Selenomonas noxia ATCC 43541	: HLLTALLLCTLC
Svnergistetes bacterium SGP1	: RSSIAWKLAFAVLLSFAIAPQMEGAEPKPEWKVDFVN
Pseudomonas svringae pv. tomato Max13	: GATPLSRGVTASDVKPEAY
Clostridium sp. maddinglev MBC34-26	: RKLKSFFAL ILTIVIELSETANNTIITKAA
Legionella pneumophila str. Paris	:MSEKGEKVVMLILL
Clostridium pasteurianum BC1	: KRIKI SWETEEIEIETI GYVEONINVM-AEAPN
Acidaminococcus fermentans DSM 20731	:   TTG     MSQ  S  GLAWADAPS AA VK
Desulfovibrio sp. U5	·····
Pelosinus fermentans	: RTLASKKI FFALLI TI LI COVTI VA LANEVP
Clostridium kluvveri DSM 555	: KKESIEMI I LEAVSEMAMSVVYSRGIENSONE
Acidaminococcus sp. D21	
Zymonhilus raffinosiyorans	
Acidovorax avenae subsp avenae ATCC 19860	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus HD100	· KIIII PVI FAVAACAOKSVSI TPDKPVSTKIPFFMTP
Clostridium botulinum E2 ctr. alaska E43	
Clostridium butvricum	· KIDKIVISI I ETEIEI ETSEIVDIN
Baldenia colonococrum EOV 4	. KIPKIILSLLFIFIFLFISFIIPIN
raisiona_solallacearum_rQT_4	. IALAGHAAAAGAUUAMF EUISG
Ciosurialum_spJC122	
	LEILKKKILFSIIAATILGSMPLSGNAWEAEPEISGVSLQQAPDQIDVS
Ciosululum_sp/_2_43FAA	. NOLNLUOIIILLIILIOLAMIOTAAAFAAF
Witsuokeila_MUItaCida_DSM_20544	ENVOMINTOUTORRIAALIVAAMLSTAAAFAAE
Pseudomonas_syringae_pvtomato_strDC3000	: DASSPYSANDLASSGLSERTH-
Ciostriaium_pertringens_str13	:KHFKKNALIIFLLLSIFISFFISNTLVVSAED

Selenomonas_ruminantium	:QDFEGFVWRLDNDGKEALPRNFRTSADALRAP: 80
Mitsuokella_multacida_N-term	:
Mitsuokella_multacida_C-term	: TPYSVWAKKNKVNSWEPDYNGY IWRLD TKDRNQLPRNFRTMNSAFRTD
Megasphaera_elsdenii	: PLP ALAPAAYEGHFWRVD AENDASLPRNFRTCQSPFHAV
Selenomonas_ruminantium_subsplactilytica	: EEAVLRLD AKTGAVFPRSLRFMTDTFTKS
Selenomonas_lacticifex	: TDCEGFVWRLD SPNQAQLPRNFRTSKSAFHAP
Desulfovibrio_magneticus	: SAEPGPDVGVLTLDAPAASALPHRFRTCFFPLTAS
Acidovorax_avenae_subspcitrulli_AAC00-1	: DRSAGRTALQLRQPEAETRLE LVYDTEPPHPAGTMAFFRHSTQASELP
Clostridium_arbusti	: TVTLPKNFRKTTDSNK   K
Clostridium_acetobutylicum_ATCC_824	: LKEHKVKLVIDAEN KNTLPPKFRTTSDTISLH
Clostridium_celatum	: NSGLPDRFR
Megamonas_funiformis	: DT AEYKGYLWR I D AKDDENLPRNFR TSKDKFKKA
Fluoribacter_dumoffii	: LNPGFLFAQTNTKVCDGSLSHPCIVTDSEYSSSPLKWLREAAMIASAY
Cystobacter_fuscus	: · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Waddlia_chondrophila_WSU_86-1044	: LIYPPFAKKYSYLLILNSKNRYELPRNF
Legionella_longbeachae_D-4968	: LFQGFIFAQTETQMCDATLNHPCIVQDSELSSSPLKWFRDVSMIADIY
Clostridium_tetani_E88	: DTTNLNLVLDTSK YTDMPKRFRKTSNLEN I K
Candidatus_protochlamydia_amoebophila_UWE25	: HLPKKWRSTKQISQLV
Xanthomonas_campestris_pvvasculorum_NCPPB702	: LVRSSSYPSITKPQKLENQKRPIMIFDSVEPSRIR
Clostridium_colicanis	: AYDDVRLVLDSAS TDKLNKHFRKSTDTVDLS
Parachlamydia_acanthamoebae_strHall's_coccus	: FIYPLIGKSTASFLLVNMSNQDEMPRHFRICH
Clostridium_pasteurianum	: TVTLPKNFRKTTDSDK   K
Selenomonas_sputigena_ATCC_35185	: MRNAGY IWR ID ADDVRGLPRNFR TMEDEFH
Veillonella_ratti	: PYAAHMWRED NENTNTLPPAFR TSQDRFKVK
Clostridium_saccharoperbutylacetonicum_N1-4(HMT)	: EENIAHLVLDTST - EGETIPKEFRKTSDLTSIK
Xanthomonas_campestris_pvvesicatoria_str85-10	: YQV I QKFRDPLPLPPPPTSHP - VLAYDR DLGSSDNFRSS - DEFDLP
Clostridium_botulinum_F_strlangeland	: NNGVHLVLDSRN NNKVPKKFRESSDISNVE
Clostridium_ljungdahlii_DSM_13528	: IQNKNVQLKIDSKK KNKIPKRFRKTTDD IR
Desulfovibrio_fructosovorans_JJ	: MESDP TL I FDS I REQGLPSHFRSLAGPWAVP
Candidatus_odyssella_thessalonicensis	: FILAPNDIIFDSSKGAVMPRMYRSPIFFQNAR
Clostridium_botulinum_BKT015925	: TSPLPSFFR VPPKPLVVLDSNS TSPLPSFFR
Myxococcus_stipitatus_DSM_14675	: MLIPPLAADASSAPLVLDD DGAEARQFRSTTQPPDMG
Clostridium_butyricum_5521	: YDTMPFKFRKSNELQSIA
Clostridium_spDL-VIII	: SEKTIPKNFRKTSDLTTIK
Clostridium_beijerinckii_NCIMB_8052	: KDNGVHL I LDSVN YNSVLPKHFRKTTDLAVVK
Selenomonas_noxia_ATCC_43541	: ADYRGYVWR I DTTAGNAAELPHNFR TAASPFRTW
Synergistetes_bacterium_SGP1	: EDLAADFKYMNWRMSIDPFPEEKLSKLKELGCS
Pseudomonas_syringae_pvtomato_Max13	: RHAITKFKQALTTPERPTGEP - VFIYDR TPGELENFRSS - DSFILP
Clostridium_spmaddingley_MBC34-26	: EENNVHLILDSLD YNDVLPKNFRKTSDLSTIQ
Legionella_pneumophila_strParis	: STQSYASKLASSSVCDSTIENPCIVQDSKTQFSPVIRYREVASIADVY
Clostridium_pasteurianum_BC1	: TATLPKNFRKTTDSDK I K
Acidaminococcus_fermentans_DSM_20731	: PSKGYVWRLD TKNKLQLPRNYR
Desulfovibrio_spU5L	: MADEP TL I FDS I REQGLPNHFR TMAGPFAPP
Pelosinus_fermentans	:
Clostridium_kluyveri_DSM_555	: EDEMPKRFRKTTDT IK
Acidaminococcus_spD21	: SVP LEAPFSYEGALWRLD AENAPGLPRNYR TCDDAYRA I
Zymophilus_raffinosivorans	: PPVGVSILKCDRPASTNELPRNFRTAQSEFKKL
Acidovorax_avenae_subspavenae_ATCC_19860	: MLLRQPVADTDLR LAYDTEPPQPPGTMAFFRHSGQAAELP
Bdellovibrio_bacteriovorus_HD100	: PQPTTPVELVFDKDHAAPKPMNYRKS
Clostridium_botulinum_E3_stralaska_E43	: TNK I PSN FR TTSNL TN I K
Clostridium_butyricum	: SDSLPNSFRKTTDISNAN
Ralstonia_solanacearum_FQY_4	: PVGPGIPKLRLSIPKREMSP VLAYDRTPKADPSALSFFRCTNDLSGLP
Clostridium_spJC122	: PLNTVNLVLDVSNPSHYNQVPETFRKTSDISSIK
Dialister_invisus_DSM_15470	: AAD RTKYDGY IWRLD AKDRDQLPRRFR TANSAFRSH
Clostridium_sp7_2_43FAA	: NNTLPHH <mark>FR</mark> MISAETNLA
Mitsuokella_multacida_DSM_20544	: PVPGVQILKYDRPAAVSEMPANFR TAQSQYKTA
Pseudomonas_syringae_pvtomato_strDC3000	: - LGMNRVLLRYAVPPRETEDQCVMVIDKMPPPKHGKMSFFRTTNDLSKLP
Clostridium_perfringens_str13	:INNLPNNFRTTSDLERLK

Selenomonas_ruminantium	: EK KFHLDA AYVPSREGMDALHISGSSAFTPAQLKNVAAKLR: 12
Mitsuokella_multacida_N-term	: TKTGIMP TRKGMDTMNVSASSCFSEKELEAILKKVP
Mitsuokella_multacida_C-term	: VNVKKTGKGF TPTPTRKGLDTLYMSGSAEFSNGELQAMLPVLK
Megasphaera_elsdenii	: EHKYASEVDP SY IPSRKGLDDLR ISGSSQFSARQFDALVHELR
Selenomonas_ruminantium_subsplactilytica	: LQP VPSRQGLDKLRCSASAEFSGSGLSL I RDK I R
Selenomonas_lacticifex	: VG KFKLDP AYVPSRKGLDGLDASGSAEFSVGQFQKMTEVLR
Desulfovibrio_magneticus	: DG AAVPSREGLNGLRVSGSSQFSLAGLALMREQFP
Acidovorax_avenae_subspcitrulli_AAC00-1	: PG I D TR G L E S L Q L S G S E R I T S V E Q V R A I R Q
Clostridium_arbusti	: D I D K S I N L EG L NK L N I SG SAQF SEKGLA L A K ES I G
Clostridium_acetobutylicum_ATCC_824	: KKG SLNLSGLSDLNASGSGAFSEDELKSIKNKIG
Clostridium_celatum	: D I TNL <mark>N I SG</mark> SSQFTKSQ I NNL KEA I N
Megamonas_funiformis	: SD KYG I DV NYVP TKEG L DE L QA SG SAQF SL NQF SAL TKALQ
Fluoribacter_dumoffii	: PGNIQ G IAELTISGSEEPSEKGWKEIAEYIA
Cystobacter_fuscus	: MG GAALRALA
Waddlia_chondrophila_WSU_86-1044	: H T T P <mark>F</mark> N S S G S G Q F S E K E L Q R M I S Q I P
Legionella_longbeachae_D-4968	: QGNNY G INE <mark>L</mark> S ISGSEEPSEKGWRE IADY IT
Clostridium_tetani_E88	: NN N I N L NG L DK <mark>L</mark> N I SG S Q Q F S A Y N L P L I I K S I E
Candidatus_protochlamydia_amoebophila_UWE25	: GN YAN LKG L TQ <mark>L</mark> H L SG SGQ F SQ ED L K NM SQ E I K
Xanthomonas_campestris_pvvasculorum_NCPPB702	: STTNLAALDG INQEGLDR ISMTG I EQFSEAQLDDV I KSVY
Clostridium_colicanis	: KNP NLNLTGLNE <mark>L</mark> NISGSSQFTESTLSLIKDSIG
Parachlamydia_acanthamoebae_strHall's_coccus	: QELAP SINSDHLSD <mark>L</mark> NASASAQFCANSLQKILSILP
Clostridium_pasteurianum	: D I D K S V N L E G M N K L N I S G S G Q F S E K G L E M A K E N I G
Selenomonas_sputigena_ATCC_35185	: - APYKKDMDD SYVPTREGLER <mark>L</mark> HASGSGEFSASGLQSLLEALA
Veillonella_ratti	: PAK I R T E S N D T T D D E V D L N L P T R K G L D D L H I S G S S Q P S E K Q F A Q I A S T L R
Clostridium_saccharoperbutylacetonicum_N1-4(HMT)	: DNK N INLKGLDK <mark>L</mark> N I SGSQQFSEFNLPTL I KS IG
Xanthomonas_campestris_pvvesicatoria_str85-10	: ESLNPT GWKN <mark>L</mark> HVSGSGSIASI GQITRLRP
Clostridium_botulinum_F_strlangeland	: KDK NVNLTGLNT <mark>L</mark> NISGSKQFSKQNLPLIINNIG
Clostridium_ljungdahlii_DSM_13528	: VYGK A L N L K G L S S <mark>L</mark> N A S G S A Q F T G Q N I K M V K E E I G
Desulfovibrio_fructosovorans_JJ	: I T T T P P S R Q G L A E <mark>L</mark> R A S G S E Q P S S S E M A T T I K G L A
Candidatus_odyssella_thessalonicensis	: PQ EFNLAGFNQLHISGSAQYSWLELKELLNHIH
Clostridium_botulinum_BKT015925	: I I PE <mark>L</mark> N I SG SKQF TPAQLKN I QNK I N
Myxococcus_stipitatus_DSM_14675	:-GLEMRGLEV <mark>L</mark> RCSGSAQLSVSGYQDVVRRIA
Clostridium_butyricum_5521	: NNS TLNLAGLDNLNISGSQQFSKMNLPLLLKAID
Clostridium_spDL-VIII	: DNK NLNLNGLDK <mark>L</mark> NISGSQQFSEFNLPLLVKAIG
Clostridium_beijerinckii_NCIMB_8052	: DNK DLDLKGLDK <mark>L</mark> NISGSQQFSGNNIDLLTKAID
Selenomonas_noxia_ATCC_43541	: TDAAKFGVDP NY TPSREGLDA <mark>L</mark> PLSGSAEFSVPAFHALLKDLH
Synergistetes_bacterium_SGP1	: TDVS RAGMDT <mark>L</mark> RTAGGADFTEKQFDWILSTLK
Pseudomonas_syringae_pvtomato_Max13	: HDLNQK
Clostridium_spmaddingley_MBC34-26	: DNK DLNLKGVEQ <mark>L</mark> NISGSQQFSEYNLPILVKAIG
Legionella_pneumophila_strParis	: GGN   T G   NK <mark>F</mark> HL SG S EQPSEKGWEA   A E S I S
Clostridium_pasteurianum_BC1	: DIDK SVNLEGLNNLNISGSAQFSEKGLDIAKESIG
Acidaminococcus_fermentans_DSM_20731	: ADVEN CMSGSAQPSILGLSSLVQELA
Desulfovibrio_spU5L	: VG QTP - SRLGLES <mark>L</mark> LA <mark>SG</mark> SEQPSLSELATS I RQLA
Pelosinus_fermentans	: LKDGS I P S R V G I D K <mark>V</mark> R A S A S S I F S E K E F E Q V L A R L P
Clostridium_kluyveri_DSM_555	: EDDD LPNLTGFSSL <mark>NESG</mark> GAQFTTKNIGLMKKAIG
Acidaminococcus_spD21	: PPRYAKEAS SR I PSCKGLSE <mark>L</mark> H I SGS SQYSEKGLDA I LADLR
Zymophilus_raffinosivorans	: TTDQVMP SREGLEN <mark>L</mark> RLSGSSYFSKNEFREMLKQLT
Acidovorax_avenae_subspavenae_ATCC_19860	: PGFDTR GLES <mark>L</mark> QLSGSER I TSA EQVRA I RQ
Bdellovibrio_bacteriovorus_HD100	: DS <mark>L</mark> RMSGSATFSPKALKEVAKPVK
Clostridium_botulinum_E3_stralaska_E43	: NNS SLNLKGLET <mark>L</mark> NTSGSQQFSKDNLDILTKSID
Clostridium_butyricum	: LLK SLNIK <mark>G</mark> LDK <mark>L</mark> NIS <mark>G</mark> SGQFSEFNIKNLIKSID
Ralstonia_solanacearum_FQY_4	: ASINTTSQVQRVMA
Clostridium_spJC122	: NNA NLNLTGLDKLNISGSHQFSGHNLPILIKNID
Dialister_invisus_DSM_15470	: VDVKKTGKGF TMTPSRKGLDRLNISGSAEFSVGEFEKLVSVLK
Clostridium_sp7_2_43FAA	: KNQ DINLKGLDKLNISGSGQFSESGLSLIKNSIP
Mitsuokella_multacida_DSM_20544	:K-DGIYPSREGLDKLRQSGSSFFSKNEFKELLKHVP
Pseudomonas_syringae_pvtomato_strDC3000	: LGMETG GLSDLKLAGCERISSV EQVKSIRA
Clostridium_perfringens_str13	: NLS N I NMKGLDTLN I SGSQQFSPNNLSLLVTS I K

Selenomonas ruminantium			
Mitsuokella multacida N-term	: VKP SQFYDV		HGYLNG - TAVSWEANH DWGNDGRTED
Mitsuokella multacida C-term	: QQAKGP IYIME		HGVENG - NAVSWYGLR DWGNLGKNKAEV
Megasphaera elsdenii	: KKTKGP IYDV		HGEEDG - TAVSWYGRH DWGN LGKSPTAV
Selenomonas ruminantium subsp. lactilytica	: TAAGSDA VIYVVI	DLRKES	HGEVNGDIPVSQYMKK NRGNVKLKAAAV
Selenomonas lacticifex	:QQAEGP VYIII	DLRQES	HGILNG - DAV SWYGKR DWGNLGRNQRAV
Desulfovibrio magneticus	: PR AV   VI	DLRRES	HGFLGG - NAV SWRLPD NQGNPGRDAAFV
Acidovorax avenae subsp. citrulli AAC00-1	: ACG DAPLVVV		HAVADG - HSL TWRGPM DWGNVGLGTAAA
Clostridium arbusti	: EK VPITVV	DLREES	HGFLNG - NA I SWTDDH NKANKGLVESQV
Clostridium_acetobutylicum_ATCC_824	: N K P I V D I	DLRQES	HIFVNG - IGISWYGKN DDANLNLTSSEV
Clostridium_celatum	: K PNICIV	DLRQES	HGMLND - FAISFFSPY TDLNNGLTTEEV
Megamonas_funiformis	: ENGAKD IYIV	DLRQEN	HGFFNN - DAVSWYGKR DWAN I GKSRKE I
Fluoribacter_dumoffii	: RRG GKKVLVV	DLRQES	HGYING - RAITLVSEY DWINRGKTNAQS
Cystobacter_fuscus	: ANT PGPLVVV	DLREES	HGFLGD - LPVSWYAPR NVG <mark>N</mark> RGRTREAT
Waddlia_chondrophila_WSU_86-1044	: A S N I M I V	DLRQEP	HGFLNG - NAVSWYHEH NWGD TEKNTAEV
Legionella_longbeachae_D-4968	: KDRRIE - GKSVLVL	DLRQES	HGYLNG - RAITLVSEY DWINRGKSNEQS
Clostridium_tetani_E88	: TS LPITVV	DLREES	HGFING - MPVSWVSEK NNA <mark>N</mark> MGLTRDEI
Candidatus_protochlamydia_amoebophila_UWE25	: G K A F V L L	DLREES	HGFIDG - TPISWTDGL NYG <mark>N</mark> VGKTLRQI
Xanthomonas_campestris_pvvasculorum_NCPPB702	2: PKT VVV I	DTRQEA	HGFVSG - KPVSWMALDNKNWG <mark>N</mark> ADKPMAD I
Clostridium_colicanis	: KK YNIIDIC	DLREES	HGFVNG - MA I SWKNKL NNANAGLNLQE I
Parachlamydia_acanthamoebae_strHall's_coccus	: TN KVTIV	DLREES	HGFING - DAVSWYGTR GWSNRGKTLDQI
Clostridium_pasteurianum	: EK VP I T V V	DLREES	HGFLNG-NAISWTDGHNKANKGLIEAQV
Selenomonas_sputigena_ATCC_35185	: EKTQMP ICIV	DLREES	HGFFDG - IAVSWYGEH DWGNVGLTQEEA
Veillonella_ratti	: TKTDGP IYVV	DLRQET	HIFING - IPVSHYGKR NWGNVGKSYQTI
Clostridium_saccharoperbutylacetonicum_N1-4(HMT)	: TS MPITDIC	DLRQES	HGFING-LPVSWANSKNNANEGLTREQV
Xanthomonas_campestris_pvvesicatoria_str85-10	: SK ERPVVVLL	DAREES	HATVGG - YPGTWRTPN NWGNAGKSRDEA
Clostridium_botulinum_F_strlangeland	: 15LPIIVVL	JLRQES	HGFING-LPVSWANKKNNANAGLIKIEV
Desulfevibrio fructorevorane			HALLCE HEVSWYGEE - KNNANNGLIREQU
Candidatus odvesella thesealonicensis	. K B H K I B - E N K I V I I C		
Clostridium botulinum BKT015925	· S KNI Y I V		
Myxococcus stipitatus DSM 14675	: EVP RELLHVV		HGELNG - AAVSWYAES NWGAAGLSDAEA
Clostridium butvricum 5521	: TN LPV I DF	DLRQES	HGFING-IPISFENEHNNANKGLSNDQV
Clostridium sp. DL-VIII	: TS IP I TV I	DLRQES	HGFING - NAV SWANQK NNANEGLSREQV
Clostridium_beijerinckii_NCIMB_8052	: TS LPMTVI	DLRQEC	HGFING - FAVSWADAR NNANVGLTRDQV
Selenomonas_noxia_ATCC_43541	: TRAKAS ICIV	DLRQES	HGFMNG - NAVSWYGKH DWG <mark>N</mark> I GRTKHEA
Synergistetes_bacterium_SGP1	: EKVG - VTPDKLTVM	D L R G E T	HGLIDGNVFMYWIPNNYV <mark>N</mark> EGTPTEKV
Pseudomonas_syringae_pvtomato_Max13	: TP ERPVVVL	DVREES	HA I VGG - Y P C T W R L G N N WA N V G K S R N D V
Clostridium_spmaddingley_MBC34-26	: TS LP   TVV	D L R <mark>Q E</mark> S	HGFING - FAVSWANSK NNA <mark>N</mark> EGLTREQV
Legionella_pneumophila_strParis	: RKMGPE - TKKVIVL	DLRQES	HGYLNG - RAITLVSVY NWINLGKSNSQS
Clostridium_pasteurianum_BC1	: EK I P I T V V	DLREES	HGFLDG - NA I SWTDDH NKANKGLNKTEV
Acidaminococcus_fermentans_DSM_20731	:QQGVKPQ QIILVI	DLRQES	HGFVNG - QAVSWYGDN NWANVGKADAA I
Desulfovibrio_spU5L	: KT VTVIC	DLRQES	HAYLGE - HPVSWYGTK NWANQGKSLAEV
Pelosinus_termentans	: VSSKNVIVLL	DLRQES	HGYLNG - TAVSWFLPN NWGNDGKNLEEV
Clostridium_kluyveri_DSM_555	: D MPIFIVL	JLREES	
Acidaminococcus_spD21			
Acidovoray avenae subsp. avenae ATCC 19860	· AXG DGPVVVV		
Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus HD100	: KNK ASLYVE		HGLIND - LEV TWYADR - DWANADI NHEEA
Clostridium botulinum E3 str. alaska E43	: SK LPILVIC		HGEVNQ - EPISEANEK NDANLGLSKSAV
Clostridium butyricum	:SQLSIIDV	DLREES	HGFVNG-TAISFANSNNSANAGLTLTEV
Ralstonia solanacearum FQY 4	: EMG TPTLYFV	DLREES	HAIASG - HPITLRGRR DWANVGLSHEEV
Clostridium_spJC122	: TK LPITVV	DLRQES	HGFINS-FPVSWANTQNNANVGLSKDEV
Dialister_invisus_DSM_15470	: KQANGP IY IV	DLRQET	HGIFNG-NAVSWFGARDWG <mark>N</mark> IGKNKTDV
Clostridium_sp7_2_43FAA	: NK FSIIDV	DLRQES	HGFING-IAVSWENSNNSANKGLSLPEV
Mitsuokella_multacida_DSM_20544	: AK DLVVI	DLRNES	HGYIND-DGISWYSRYKTF <mark>N</mark> KGQSAKEI
Pseudomonas_syringae_pvtomato_strDC3000	: A L G G G P L T V L C	DLREES	HAIVNG-LPITLRGPMDWANAGLSQVDG
Clostridium_perfringens_str13	: TT LPITIV	DLRQES	HGFINE-YPVSWKGEKNDANLGLTRTEV

Colonemana musicantina	
Selenomonas_ruminantium	LADERHRLHAALHKI VY TAPLGKHKLPEGGEV RRVQKVQT: 204
Mitsuokella_multacida_N-term	: IPLEKEQLASLKGSTVKSTYRFDDKKNVILSPVYVNYNKVRT
Mitsuokella_multacida_C-term	: LKDENSKLNAARGKS LIVAELDKDKMPIDPKP VKIESVMI
Megasphaera_elsdenii	: LADEQQRLQAALGKD VIVYDQGKGDLPIHPRV IAVRRVQI
Selenomonas_ruminantium_subspiactilytica	: KQVEGKWLQSLVGKE LTFVPMGKTDTKLFPACS VKVEKVET
Selenomonas_lacticitex	: QSDERRRLKAALGKIQYVAPLNKHKLPSGGKAERIIQAMI
Desultovibrio_magneticus	: AEAEAALLAAIDERP DIVVAREARR GGPIP LILGPLP
Acidovorax_avenae_subspcitrulli_AAC00-1	: TAREAEQLEELRRQG NAVATHADHVKGKSDEPA - LRRLDTTLARS
Clostridium_arbusti	: LADENERLKKLSEQK IVKIKNII
Clostridium_acetobutylicum_AICC_824	: LKDENNKLMRISKDK KVIFDKLSKKKSIS NISQLNDVKSVEI
Clostridium_celatum	: IKKENSQLSSIKIGSDVDIYHKIGRLFKEVIAEFVSN
Megamonas_funiformis	: IRQEMNLLKANLNKN IKRAILDDDKNADEVDI FLIKIVII
Fluoribacter_dumomi	LADQENWLQSLKNQK KLKGVLSSQQFAAKEYSS - GKILRVKVVKN
Cystobacter_tuscus	: LAEELRLLDSLRRHE SLAFDGQGRDRG - PPEPV - RPTAAFGTVCT
waddila_chondrophila_wSU_86-1044	
Legionella_longbeachae_D-4968	LIAGENWENSERTER KARDVESSQQFAAREYSS - GKNTPVKKTKN
Clostridium_tetani_E88	: ISKEINLLNSIKLNVPIIFYNHKNIIIIPINVEN
Candidatus_protocniamydia_amoebopniia_UWE25	
Xantnomonas_campestris_pvvasculorum_NCPPB/02	EPREEKKLSKWVRKNDGKEVSTPNGSTAKVRRAAEPLILSVSSDEVET
	: ICDENQKLQSTKLDE PLNYYAHKNTQ
Parachlamydia_acanthamoebae_strHall's_coccus	: EDDQLQKLSKSGKQPFLVAYKQKIYPVLLFPRDIFI
Clostridium_pasteurianum	: IKDENERLKKLSEEK IVEIKNRI LNVEKVEN
Selenomonas_sputigena_ATCC_35185	: LADEAERTHGAAGQM TAVAHLGGEKNPLDEHE IFVEEAQT
Veillonella_ratti	: INEECQYVADLVNIS LPTAALAENKEAGPEET LAVISAKT
Clostridium_saccharoperbutylacetonicum_N1-4(HMT)	: LEDEASKLKSIKIGA PITFDNKPK ETVIVAKVED -
Xanthomonas_campestris_pvvesicatoria_str85-10	: LADEQQRIQALKSQE IVHIFHRKDVKSEARNPR - GAILSKPLIFS
Clostridium_botulinum_F_strlangeland	: LKDENNKLKSIKLNSPISFYNHPDKTIIPTKVEN
Clostridium_ljungdahlii_DSM_13528	: LKDESERLKGIKLNE KLGIEEKE IIPDKVQD
Desultovibrio_tructosovorans_JJ	: ECDEEIRIGDLPPCGEAAVSRVISKDPDGALAEVRVEEVAYDR
Candidatus_odyssella_thessalonicensis	: IDSELKRINQVRAFP MVFINSIQKSERGVPSAKKIEIFPVEVVMR
Clostridium_botulinum_BK1015925	: LKKEKLDLDSTKNVE NLNTYDQMG ILKATLKPDKVLS
Myxococcus_stipitatus_DSM_14675	: QSLEHQRLLLLSRSP RVRVNDVAGVKG - RAPPS - SRDWECHSVMD
Clostridium_butyricum_5521	: LANEAQUUSTRKGVPISFHNHPNKITTPEEVFD
Clostridium_spDL-VIII	LANEASKLKSTKLNE PMSFYNKPN QTTVTTKVKD
	: TAKEKEDLKSTKLNE PTTFYNNSK QTMDVKTVQS
Selenomonas_noxia_ATCC_43541	: LRDENMRTRSAQGKDVVLAHLDKKKQQKNQQTVKVTAAMT
Synergistetes_bacterium_SGP1	LETEAGLIDELKKQDTVKMYQTKDWGADHESPMLEYKKPVTRS
Pseudomonas_syringae_pvtomato_max13	: TADEQSRTAALKQQP TVETVHRKDAKHGLDNPR - KVVLNNPDTSS
Clostridium_spmaddingley_MBC34-26	
Legionella_pneumopnila_strParis	: ILDUENWLIGLRSRK IVNGVLIVPQYVARQYSQ - GKSMVVSIVKN
Clostridium_pasteurianum_BC1	
Actualitinococcus_lettientaris_DSM_20731	
Belosinus formentans	
Clostridium klungeri DSM 555	
Asidaminococcus en D21	
Zymonhilus raffinosiyorans	
Acidovorax avenae subsp. avenae ATCC 19860	
Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus HD100	· VRRERRIIGDIRVGDKIGT
Clostridium botulinum E3 str. alaska E43	
Clostridium butvricum	
Ralstonia solanacearum FQY 4	: LRSFAEMITKLOOOD ELALVRSLDLRKGVAEPH - RLVLKOPEVVS
Clostridium sp. JC122	
Dialister invisus DSM 15470	: LKDEMRRLCAAKGKSLIVTMLDEGKKSIDPKIMKINSVMS
Clostridium sp. 7 2 43FAA	:LSVENKLLESIKIGTPITEYNTKDTVIPESVON
Mitsuokella multacida DSM 20544	: DRREKSMLETAKMNQ DVDIATLDKHK - DIASQ KVEHVNSVOT
Pseudomonas svringae pv. tomato str. DC3000	: AARESAMITELKRTK SLTLVDANYVKGKKSNPO - TTELKNLNVRS
Clostridium perfringens str. 13	: IDTERKLLNSITLGT PIQFFNDPK LTVIPEKVLS

Selenomonas_ruminantium :	E	QEVAEAAGMRY	FRIAA T	DHVWI	PTPENIDR	LAFYRTLPQD : 245
Mitsuokella_multacida_N-term :	6	EEMVKQHGANY	FRLTL Q	DHFR	PDDPDVDKF	LEFYKSLPKD
Mitsuokella_multacida_C-term :	6	QQLVEKNGLHY	Y <b>R</b> I A A T	DHIW	SAANIDE	INFTRTMPAN
Megasphaera_elsdenii :	6	QELAESKGIHY	VRLAN T	DHLW	PTPGEIDAF	LAFVRTLPAD
Selenomonas_ruminantium_subsplactilytica :	6	EALASRLGMRY	KRILIT	DQMA	TDEEVDAF	MAFYKSLPKN
Selenomonas_lacticifex :	6	EQLVTQSGLKY	VRITAT	DHVW	PAPECIDQE	IRLYRQLPPK
Desulfovibrio_magneticus :	AVS	AQAAASLGLGY	LRLAV S	DHTR	DDAVVER	VRFSRSLPPD
Acidovorax_avenae_subspcitrulli_AAC00-1 :	6	QEIVEAAGADY	RRIAV T	DHLR	SRGEVDQF	IDLVRGLPDG
Clostridium_arbusti :	E	ESLVKRQDMSY	VRILA T	DKEAI	SNEAVDE	VNFVKTLPES
Clostridium_acetobutylicum_ATCC_824 :	E	EQLAKALGINY	SRITV P	онкт	DDAQINSF	VSFVKNLPKG
Clostridium_celatum :	6	DSIVTNDTMQY	KRYAV K	DNGS	PTPIIVDNF	VEFIKNKPTD
Megamonas_funiformis :	6	KNLVKKNNLHY	VRITAT	DHVW	SPENIDE	IKLYKSLPKD
Fluoribacter_dumoffii :	6	QEVVSGLGFKY	HRLYV T	DHTAI	SDSEVDAF	LTLIKNAPKD
Cystobacter_fuscus :	6	ESICTEAGAGY	ARLLV T	DHHG	DAGELDR	VAFLERLPDG
Waddlia_chondrophila_WSU_86-1044 :	6	QDIVELQRLQY	CRFSIT	DHRR	PKDKHVDAF	VHWIKSIPPD
Legionella_longbeachae_D-4968 :	6	KELVSRLGFEY	HRLYV T	DHMG	NDSEVDAF	LTIINNAPKD
Clostridium_tetani_E88 :	6	DTLVTSNSLSY	LRVPV T	DTKL	TDDMVNYF	VDSIKSTPKD
Candidatus_protochlamydia_amoebophila_UWE25 :	· · · •	KELVESFGYTY	IRLPIT	DHHR	VDSVVDQF	IEIVLSLPAD
Xanthomonas_campestris_pvvasculorum_NCPPB702:	6	KRLVTRKGGIY	IRVPVPVP	DHAAI	DEDALAH	AASTRSVVMDKGLE
Clostridium_colicanis :	E	CKLVNNKGISY	VRIPV T	DGGL	SDEMVNSF	VNFVKYQPKN
Parachlamydia_acanthamoebae_strHall's_coccus :	· · · •	EELAHSLNVDY	LRLPV T	DHCR	TDEIIDQF	LEFVKTLSPD
Clostridium_pasteurianum :	E	ENLTKKHGISY	TR I TV T	DKEAI	SKEAVDE	VNFAKSVPNS
Selenomonas_sputigena_ATCC_35185 :	E	KELVEAAGLRY	KRIAA T	DHIW	SPAAVDE	VQFYKSMPED
Veillonella_ratti :	E	ETVAKELGLRY	VRLTA T	DHIW	DEASIDR	IAFYKTLPKN
Clostridium_saccharoperbutylacetonicum_N1-4(HMT) :	E	KDIVKSNSVSY	KRIPI R	DGGI	SDEMVDY	IDFVKNQGDN
Xanthomonas_campestris_pvvesicatoria_str85-10 :	E	EELVRAAGAKY	VRLTV T	DHLS	RADDIDAF	IAMEREMAHD
Clostridium_botulinum_F_strlangeland :	E	EQLVKHNSLSY	VRVPV T	DTKL	TDDMVDYF	VDVIKSNPKD
Clostridium_ljungdahlii_DSM_13528 :	E	RELTEENKMSY	VRIPVT	DTEG	TDEMVDY	ISIVKKTPPG
Desulfovibrio_fructosovorans_JJ :	ARS	QEALCGLGLG	FRIAV R	DHSR	SDADVDR	IRFVRELPPG
Candidatus_odyssella_thessalonicensis :	E	QEAVKSFGAHY	IRLPV T	DHFR	PEERDIDDF	ITMVKALPAG
Clostridium_botulinum_BKT015925 :	E	KKLTTHNKINY	VRLPV I	DNYVI	PSPEIVDK	IKLIKDKPHK
Myxococcus_stipitatus_DSM_14675 :	6	ARAFDLLPGRY	ARFPV T	DHTR	RDTTVDSF	IQWVRGLDER
Clostridium_butyricum_5521 :	6	KTLVTSDNIKY	MRIFAT	DEEL	SVESIDS	ITIIKNLKED
Clostridium_spDL-VIII :	E	NELTKSNSLSY	SRITV R	DGGI	SDEMVDYF	VGLVKSAYQN
Clostridium_beijerinckii_NCIMB_8052 :	E	EELTKSKNLGY	ERVTV R	DGGI	TDDMVDYF	MEFIKNKPKD
Selenomonas_noxia_ATCC_43541 :	· · · •	RELVEHAGVRY	VRLAV T	DНКW	ADPQTIDK	VDLVKKMPAD
Synergistetes_bacterium_SGP1 :	E	EDLVKSKGAKY	VRFAD T	NHFRI	DDHEVDLF	VAFMANLPAD
Pseudomonas_syringae_pvtomato_Max13 :	· · · E	EDLVKSTGAEY	LRLMV T	DHMGI	PRSEDIDLF	VAMERALPEQ
Clostridium_spmaddingley_MBC34-26 :	E	NELVKTKDLLY	NRITV R	DGGI	SDDMVDYF	IDFVKTQPKN
Legionella_pneumophila_strParis :	E	EYYVYKKGFDY	YRIFI S	DHRA	PLDSEVDAL	VALIKNNPED
Clostridium_pasteurianum_BC1 :	E	ESLVKRHGINY	VRIPV T	DKEAI	STEAADNF	MNFVKTLPES
Acidaminococcus_fermentans_DSM_20731 :	E	RQAAASFGLGY	ARFAS T	DHIW	PEPEEVDAF	LAWQKTLPKD
Desulfovibrio_spU5L :	AQT	RQATRSLGLGY	LRLAV T	DHMRI	PLDADVDRF	LALVRVLAPN
Pelosinus_fermentans :	E	EQMVKDHGAGY	YRLAL A	DHFR	PEDKDVDTF	IEWYKKLPKD
Clostridium_kluyveri_DSM_555 :	· · · F	KELVEKNKMFY	VRIPV T	DNER	PSDEMVDYF	IKLVKKFPKD
Acidaminococcus_spD21 :	· · · F	AELAAQKGVMY	VRFTA T	DHLW	PDAGEIERF	RRFVKTLPKD
Zymophilus_raffinosivorans :	· · · •	KEFVESQGVRY	YRIPV A	DYDAI	PSDANIDRF	LKFYKKLAGN
Acidovorax_avenae_subspavenae_ATCC_19860 :	E	QEIVETAGAEY	RRIAV T	DHMR	PSRAEVDQF	IELVRDLPEG
Bdellovibrio_bacteriovorus_HD100 :	· · · •	ESMIRTGGHQY	VRLTV T	DHVR	PVDSEVDRF	IESVRALPEN
Clostridium_botulinum_E3_stralaska_E43 :	E	KQLTKAYSLNY	SRVPV T	DTKL	PTNEMVDCF	INIVKECSKE
Clostridium_butyricum :	· · · F	KTLAEDNNIGY	LRIPV T	DGNL	PNDDMTNYF	INFVNNQPEN
Ralstonia_solanacearum_FQY_4 :	· · · F	RELVESAGANY	RRLTV T	DHSR	PRREEVDR	LKVVREMPEG
Clostridium_spJC122 :	· · · F	EKLVTSNSLSY	IRIPV T	DNNLI	PTDDMVDYF	IKTVKSQPKN
Dialister_invisus_DSM_15470 :	· · · •	RQLVEQNGLYY	YRIAA T	DHIW	PSPENIDD	IAFIRTLPDH
Clostridium_sp7_2_43FAA :	· · · F	EELAKSKGMQY	IRIPV T	DGNL	PTDDMVKYF	IDFVSKLPND
Mitsuokella_multacida_DSM_20544 :	· · · •	EQFVKSMGVKY	YRVPV M	DYSAI	PTPANVDEF	LAIYKKLPKN
Pseudomonas_syringae_pvtomato_strDC3000 :	· · · F	REVVTEAGATY	RRVAIT	DHNR	SPEATDEL	VDIMRHCLQAN
Clostridium_perfringens_str13 :	E	NQLVKANSMDY	V R I P V T	DGKL	PTYEMVDFF	VQYVNSMPKD
<b>0</b>						
--	--	----				
Selenomonas_ruminantium	- AWLHYHCZAGVGRITAFMVMTUMLKN-PSVSLKUTLTRQHETGGFIIGE: 29	13				
Mitsuokella multacida C torm						
Magashaara eledenii						
Selenomonae ruminantium subso lactilytica						
Selenomonas lacticifex						
Desulfovibrio magneticus						
Acidovoray avenae subsp. citrulli AAC00-1						
Clostridium arbusti	- SWI HEHCRAGKGRTTSEMAMYDMMKNAKNVSEEDIIKROYVI GGE					
Clostridium acetobutylicum ATCC 824						
Clostridium celatum						
Megamonas funiformis	- AWLHEHCEAGKGRTTTELAMYDMMKN - PQVPLKDILYRQLLLGGNYVAY					
Fluoribacter dumoffii	- TWLHIHCRGGKGRTTSFFVMYDMLKNADKVSFFFIIARHASIPPYYN					
Cystobacter fuscus	- AWVHYHCRGGRGRTSTFLLLHDLLRNAHRLPFSVIAHRQRVLSDGYD					
Waddlia chondrophila WSU 86-1044	- TWLHFHCSAGKGRTTTFLAMQDMMLHASKDSLQTIIRRQHDLGGINLHR					
Legionella longbeachae D-4968	: - AWFHIHCRGGKGRTTTFLVMYDMLKNANKVSFDEIIARHASIPPYYN					
Clostridium tetani E88	: - TWFHFHCKQGIGRTSTFMIMYDMIKNSKEVSFDDIVRRQLLLAG					
Candidatus_protochlamydia_amoebophila_UWE25	: - SWIHLHCKGGKGRTTTFMTLYDIMHNAQTVGLNDILSRQTLLGGADLVQ					
Xanthomonas_campestris_pvvasculorum_NCPPB70	NVHFVVHCRGGMGRTTMFMSALDMLTNAGDVPMKEIVDRQVKLRQRDEGS					
Clostridium_colicanis	:-SWLHFHCKAGIGRTTTFMIMYDIMKNCKKVPLDDIITRQVILSK					
Parachlamydia_acanthamoebae_strHall's_coccus	: - TWLHFHCSAGQGRTTTFLVMYDIVKNATKVSLENIVKRHEALGGINILS					
Clostridium_pasteurianum	: - GWLHFHCKAGKGRTTTFMAMYDMMKNAKNVSFEDIIKRQFLLGGE					
Selenomonas_sputigena_ATCC_35185	: - VWLHFHCQAGEGRTTEFLAMYDILKN - PAVPLQDILYRQCLLGGSYVAH					
Veillonella_ratti	: - AWLHFHCEAGKGRTTAFMAMYDIMKN - PDVPLADILERQQLIGGNNVAA					
Clostridium_saccharoperbutylacetonicum_N1-4(HMT)	:-SWLHFHCKAGVGRTTTFMIMYDMTKNCKEIGIEDIINRHMALAA					
Xanthomonas_campestris_pvvesicatoria_str85-10	: - ERLHVHCGMGLGRTTIFIVMHDILRNAAMLSFDDIIERQRKFNPGRS					
Clostridium_botulinum_F_strlangeland	: - TWYHFHCKQGIGRTTTFMVMYDMMRNAKEVPADDIIKRQLLLAD					
Clostridium_ljungdahlii_DSM_13528	: - TWMHFHCKAGIGRTTTFMTMYDIMKNAKDVSLDDIMERQILLGGK					
Desulfovibrio_fructosovorans_JJ	: - TWLHFHCHAGDGRTTTFLLLYDMLRNAAVLGLEELAARQHMIGGIDLLH					
Candidatus_odyssella_thessalonicensis	: - VWLHFKCRGGKGRTTTFMTLYDIIQNPK - VSLEHILARQKALGGTDLSH					
Clostridium_botulinum_BKT015925	: - SHLHFHCKEGQGRTTMFMAMYEMMYNEKNLTLDEILKHQQDAGG					
Myxococcus_stipitatus_DSM_14675	: - AHLHLHCRGGKGRTATFMCLLDMLHNARHVSLDALLDRQARLG - GYD					
Clostridium_butyricum_5521	:-SWLHFHCKEGIGRTTTFMIFYDMMKNYNNVSANDITNRQIELAD					
Clostridium_spDL-VIII	: - SWLHFHCKAGVGRTTEFMIMYDMIKNYKAASADEIINRQLALAK					
Clostridium_beijerinckii_NCIMB_8052	: - SWLHFHCKEGIGRTSTFMIMYDMINNYKDVNADGIIKRQLALAN					
Selenomonas_noxia_ATCC_43541	: - TWMHFHCQAGKGRTTSFMAMYDMMKN - PSVPLKDILYRQYLLGGAYLAY					
Synergistetes_bacterium_SGP1	: - EWL FMH CYAGEGRTTN FMVMTDIYKNYKVASFDDIAARQGLIGPVDVRT					
Pseudomonas_syringae_pvtomato_Max13	GRVHTHCGVGQGRTGTFTAMHDMLKNAHHVSFHDLTERQLVFNPGRA					
Clostridium_spmaddingley_MBC34-26	SWLHFHCKEGVGRTTLFMTMYDMTKNYKEVNVDETTKRQLALAG					
Legionella_pneumopnila_strParis	TWYHVHURGGKGRTTTVFAMFUMLKNAUKVSFEETTARQASTPPFYN					
Acidaminococcus formentans DSM 20731						
Actualitimococcus_letimentaris_DSM_20731						
Pelosinus fermentans						
Clostridium kluvveri DSM 555	- SWVHEHCKAGIGRTTTEMVMYDIMKNGKQVSIEDIMERQVIIGGK					
Acidaminococcus sp. D21	- AWLHEHCVAGEGRTTAEMTMYDMLKN - PDVPYEDIVLRQLRIGGVYTP -					
Zymophilus raffinosivorans	- TWIHTHCEAGEGRTTTFMSMIDMLHNADKLSYDEIMTRQVLLGGQDLR -					
Acidovorax avenae subsp. avenae ATCC 19860	- TGLHVHCNGGRGRTTTFMVLYDMLRNAREVGADAIMARQSKLGMDYN					
Bdellovibrio_bacteriovorus_HD100	: - AWVHFHCRAGKGRTTTFMVLYDMLKNAKTDSFEEIIKRNTELSNDYDVL					
 Clostridium_botulinum_E3_stralaska_E43	- NWLHFHCKAGFGRTTTFMIMYDMIKNYNNATSDEIIKRQFALAN					
Clostridium_butyricum	: - TWLHFHCKAGVGRTTTFMIMYDIMKNYNEVSLHDIIARQLLLGN					
Ralstonia_solanacearum_FQY_4	: - AG I HVHCLGGRGRTTTFMTLYDMLHNATRVPAED I I KRQAVFSYDYQ					
Clostridium_spJC122	: - TWLHFHCKHGVGRTTTFMVMYDMVKNYKDVSAEDIIKRQILLGN					
Dialister_invisus_DSM_15470	: - AWLHFHCRAGKGRTTIYMAMYDMMKN - PDISLEDILSRQYLLGGNYIAY					
Clostridium_sp7_2_43FAA	: - TWLHFHCKEGIGRTTTFMIMYDIMKNYKDVSLDDIIKRQVVLST					
Mitsuokella_multacida_DSM_20544	: - AWIHVHCEAGVGRTTIFLSLMDMIKNADKLSYDDIMTREVLLGGQDVRK					
Pseudomonas_syringae_pvtomato_strDC3000	: - ESLVVHCNGGRGRTTTAMIMVDMLKNARNHSAETLITRMAKLSYDYN					
Clostridium_perfringens_str13	:-SWLHFHCKEGIGRTTTFMIMYDIMKNYNNATLDEIINRQLALSG					

Selenomonas_ruminantium	: FPIKTKDK - DSWKTKYYREKIVMIEQ	YRYVQENRAD-GYQTPWSVWLKS:341
Mitsuokella_multacida_N-term	: E I P D K K K N Y G R K A Y I E R Y Q F V Q H F	YDYV-KENPDLKTPYSV
Mitsuokella_multacida_C-term	: EIA KPKPDQWKADYYHQKAHMIEK	YQYVQENHAD - GFKTSWSQWLAA
Megasphaera_elsdenii	: DVVH PKQGDWKGPYYHEKHEMVSL	YQYVQDQTKQ - RWSQSWSQWLEN
Selenomonas_ruminantium_subsplactilytica	: PGKK DNWKGKE IRKRAEQIRK	YAYVQANRSN - QYAQTFSAWVKA
Selenomonas_lacticifex	: EGAKHQDRTEGWKSVYYADKAEMIQS	Y R Y V Q Q N H A D - G Y K V L W S E W L K L
Desulfovibrio_magneticus	: TSDG SAPGRDALARQRLEFLRR	Y E Y A R - A N P G - G A P L G W T A W L A G
Acidovorax_avenae_subspcitrulli_AAC00-1	: - CAYRPPDACGFQVKFSERTLAVVRTS	WRSP-INPLIPRVSPI
Clostridium_arbusti	: - NLL KNTTIENLKGT - RAKLLKS	Y D Y S - KQ N N D - N F N T S W S E W I K N
Clostridium_acetobutylicum_ATCC_824	: DLLS GQDSLGKSDAEKRVQLLKK	YNYC-QNNND-NFKTSWTNYNNK
Clostridium_celatum	: ILLTDNKNQLEFLQE	YNYVSENKST - NYEKTYSQWITE
Megamonas_funiformis	: TEDI - SASSN - WKAPYYNQKAKMIEV F	YQYVQENHQN - NFQVLWSDWLKN
Fluoribacter_dumoffii	: LFEVHRAEPFLTPYYEQRIMFLSR	YQFALQVLK GYSGTWSQWNRD
Cystobacter_fuscus	: LLAHGEPADWKTPLRRARAEIVPA	AEFARERAV GGSQRFTEWLGA
Waddlia_chondrophila_WSU_86-1044	: ISDA ANDRWKKSHIKKRADFIDMF	YDYC-REVPS-FDMT-WSEWVEK
Legionella_longbeachae_D-4968	: LFDVNRADPYLTPYYEQRILFLSR	YQFAQQFLK GNPESWSQWKAK
Clostridium_tetani_E88	: FN EDK I KSFSN - NKR I A F L KNF	YRYC-KENSD-NFDVKWSDWK-K
Candidatus_protochlamydia_amoebophila_UWE25	: AEKN E TYKQKPAKDRIEFIRAF	Y TY C - REVPN - FEMT - WS DWV HQ
Xanthomonas_campestris_pvvasculorum_NCPPB702	: I TAAG NAYKATFRDEKAAVLQF	YDYAAANRFGSKDAKSLEAWSAD
Clostridium_colicanis	:--IS---KPNAQYFFN-KRRHDFLSNF	YNKC-KSDEFKVASNNVLSD
Parachlamydia_acanthamoebae_strHall's_coccus	: LP SDHFWKHEHAEQRAEFIRLF	YEYC-KDGHH-LETP-WSLWFEK
Clostridium_pasteurianum	: - NLL KRTTVENIKGT - RAKFLKNF	YDYC-RTNND-NFNTTWEQWLKN
Selenomonas_sputigena_ATCC_35185	: VEP EGS TYWKVPYYAEKAKHIALF	YRYVQENEGA - GFAVSWSDWLLA
Veillonella_ratti	: TPDT GSWKDPYYEEKAVMINKF	YRYVQQNYQT - GFELSWSEWLHP
Clostridium_saccharoperbutylacetonicum_N1-4(HMT)	: FN EENIKSFQN - KERMDFLKKF	YDYC - KENAN - SFNKKWSEWK - T
Xanthomonas_campestris_pvvesicatoria_str85-10	: - LDNNKDVSDKGRSEFRNERSEFLPLF	YEYAKQNPK GQPLLWSEWLDH
Clostridium_botulinum_F_strlangeland	: FD EKHMKSFYN - NERHDFLQNF	Y K Y A - K E NGS - N F D V KWS DWK - K
Clostridium_ljungdahlii_DSM_13528	: - NLL KPFHKVGSKSSERSEFIKK	YEYA-KENKD-NFNISWSEWLKN
Desuitovibrio_tructosovorans_JJ	: IP HIGWKGALYNERAAFVGRE	HHYAG - IRDF - RRVL - WIQYLAS
Candidatus_odyssella_thessalonicensis	: NKLS VGKEWKYRLAQDRINTIRVF	FEYR-HAADG-WEHMRFSDWVKK
Clostridium_botulinum_BK1015925		
Cleateridium huturioum 5521		HETARENER GGELGWGEWLAR
Clostridium cp. DI VIII	· EN DENINGERN KERMDELNKE	YEVE KENGD SENTKWSEWK K
Clostridium beijerinckij NCIMB 8052	· FE DTTLKSEYN - NEPMGELNKE	
Selenomonas novia ATCC 43541	· DPTT-OHTPTGWEDADYHHKSEMLAKE	
Synergistetes bacterium SGP1	: EVATTG KKHYKMKAS   ERR   EL QOE	YNYAKDTDEK - G KTWTEWCRE
Pseudomonas svringae pv. tomato Max13	: - LDFNKDVTHEGRANLRNDRLEFISLF	YEYAKONPK GAPRSWSEWLAD
Clostridium sp. maddinglev MBC34-26	: FD EKNISSFYNNKEKVSFLNKF	Y D Y C - KANGN - S F N L KWS EWN - K
Legionella pneumophila str. Paris	: LMVTNREIPELTPYYEQRLQFLIH	YEFARQSLM GYSGTWSEWKKL
Clostridium_pasteurianum_BC1	: - NLL KNTTIENIRGK - RAKFLKS	YEYC-KANND-NYTTTWSQWIKN
Acidaminococcus_fermentans_DSM_20731	: MTHK EAWRQTIDDNKVYRLKQF	Y TY VKGLQQG - T I TG TW TE Y L KQ
Desulfovibrio_spU5L	: TP HTDWKEALYNGRAAFLGR	F D Y A R - T R D P - R T T S - W S E H L A G
Pelosinus_fermentans	: DIDG KLNWKRKAYIERLQFTKH	YEYV - KQSPK - DFPVKYSEWAKK
Clostridium_kluyveri_DSM_555	:-NLLKPSYKPGSYSSERSEFIKD	YEYV-KENKD-GFNTNWSQWVKD
Acidaminococcus_spD21	: - FLG KGLSTWKKPYYRAKKRGLEA	YRKLHKTQVTD
Zymophilus_raffinosivorans	: - SATS KDPVKKEGYLRRALFTKH	Y D Y V - K A N L D F V K S W S Q W A K E
Acidovorax_avenae_subspavenae_ATCC_19860	: LADPGTAKKRKQLFHADRLAFLHE	HAYARENPG GLPRTWSQWRST
Bdellovibrio_bacteriovorus_HD100	: TVPAD EKDWKYPYQKERAAFVTE	YNYA - KAHPN - GEGMLWGEWVLR
Clostridium_botulinum_E3_stralaska_E43	: FD EKEI IEFSS - SDR INFLNQF	YNYC-KDVNG-NFDTTWSSWLNN
Clostridium_butyricum	: IK SKTSLDFFV - GKRYEFLNKF	YSKF-KNNEYNTSSLNTVDK
Ralstonia_solanacearum_FQY_4	: MSTINADKPYKMALQEDRLEFLNAF	HEYARENPG GKGLLWSEWRWS
Clostridium_spJC122	: LK DTP I KPFYD - KNSLAFLQNF	YKYC - KENGD - NFN I KYSDWK - K
Dialister_invisus_DSM_15470	: EMD KPKPNQWKAAYYHEKAAMIAKF	YQYVQETHAN - HFTMRWSRWLKS
Ciostriaium_sp7_2_43FAA	: IS DKSAQDFYI - GNHFKFLSDF	YYSY-IAKNIYSMN-YQN
Mitsuokella_Multacida_USM_20544	. MTDLCS ISAL KODELEDD KELOA	
r-seucomonas_syringae_pvtomato_strDC3000	IK EKSIISEDS KEDIDEETVE	

**Supplementary Figure 1.1.** ClustalW amino acid sequence alignment of 58 protein tyrosine phosphatase-like inositol phosphatases (PTPLPs) that share less than 80% identity as identified by BLASTP. Shading is according to alignment consensus (dark grey, >90%; light grey, 50-90%).

## Chapter 2: Myo-inositol Phosphate Production and Utilization

# 2.1 Introduction

*Myo*-inositol phosphates (IPs) are cyclitols containing between 1 and 8 phosphoryl groups attached to specific carbons. They are synthesized in eukaryotes where they play central roles in numerous essential cellular processes. Inositol pyrophosphates (InsP<sub>7</sub> and InsP<sub>8</sub>) are involved in human insulin signaling (Chakraborty *et al.*, 2010), regulation of telomere length (Saiardi *et al.*, 2005), exocytosis (Illies *et al.*, 2007) and endocytosis (Saiardi *et al.*, 2002). InsP<sub>6</sub> plays a role in dsDNA break repair (Hanakahi *et al.*, 2000), mRNA export (York *et al.*, 1999), apoptosis (Majerus *et al.*, 2008) and bacterial pathogenicity (Chatterjee *et al.*, 2003).

Less-phosphorylated IPs also have significant cellular roles. For example,  $Ins(1,3,4,5,6)P_5$  is involved in chromatin remodeling, viral assembly and regulation of Ltype Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels (Campbell *et al.*, 2001; Quignard *et al.*, 2003; Steger *et al.*, 2003).  $Ins(3,4,5,6)P_4$  is an inhibitor of Ca<sup>2+</sup>-regulated Cl<sup>-</sup> channels in epithelial cells (Irvine and Schell, 2001),whereas  $InsP(1,3,4,5)P_4$  can activate Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels in the plasma membrane of endothelial and neuronal cells (Luckhoff and Clapham, 1992; Tsubokawa *et al.*, 1996).  $Ins(1,4,5)P_3$  is needed to mobilize Ca<sup>2+</sup> from storage organelles and for the regulation of cellular proliferation and other cellular processes that require free calcium (Somlyo and Somlyo, 1994). These are only a few examples of inositol phosphates that have been shown to have biologically significant roles and many more are still being discovered (Irvine and Schell, 2001; Irvine, 2005). Unfortunately, IPs other than InsP<sub>6</sub> are difficult to isolate from natural sources or chemically synthesize due to their low abundance and large number of stereoisomers, respectively, rendering them prohibitively expensive or even commercially unavailable. This limits experimental studies involving these important compounds and is particularly problematic for techniques requiring large quantities of relatively pure material.

An alternative approach for producing IPs involves the use of microbial IPases and the relatively cheap and abundant InsP<sub>6</sub>. *Myo*-inositol phosphatases (IPases) catalyze the stepwise removal of phosphate from IPs, producing less-phosphorylated IPs, which are released from the enzyme and serve as substrate for subsequent rounds of hydrolysis (Konietzny and Greiner, 2002; Mullaney and Ullah, 2003). The recently discovered PTPLP class of IPases sequentially hydrolyze IPs via a largely ordered pathway (Yanke *et al.*, 1998; Mullaney *et al.*, 2000). Currently characterized PTPLPs each have a specific dephosphorylation pathway, producing multiple sets of less-phosphorylated IP products (Table 1.2).

Here we demonstrate a method for the enzymatic production of pure lessphosphorylated IPs that exploits the ordered hydrolysis of (cheap and readily available) InsP<sub>6</sub> by IPases, and several chromatographic purification steps. In principle, this general method allows us to purify the major products from the hydrolysis pathways of any IPase. The Ins(1,2,4,5,6)P<sub>5</sub> and Ins(2,4,5,6)P<sub>4</sub> products of PhyAsr were subsequently utilized in both binding and kinetic assays aimed at understanding the specificity of IPases.

### 2.2 Materials and methods

### 2.2.1 InsP<sub>6</sub> hydrolysis and visualization

InsP<sub>6</sub> (5 mM) hydrolysis was carried out at room temperature in the presence of 50 nM PhyAsr (50 mM Na-acetate pH 5.0, 100 mM NaCl, 1 mM  $\beta$ ME) unless otherwise stated. Typical reaction volumes were 1-5 mL and aliquots of the reaction mixture were quenched with NaOH (0.1 M final concentration) prior to visualization.

InsP<sub>6</sub> hydrolysis products were followed indirectly using a modified phosphomolybdate colourimetric phosphate release assay (Phillipy and Bland, 1988) or directly using either a modified PAGE (Losito et al., 2009) or ion-pair chromatography (Skoglund *et al.*, 1998). We have further altered the modified PAGE by adapting it to a mini-gel format and increasing the acrylamide concentration to 35%. The gels were run for 80-90 minutes at 300 V, stained using a Toluidine Blue staining solution (0.1% w/v)Toluidine Blue, 20% w/v methanol, 2% w/v glycerol) for 20-30 minutes followed by destaining in a 20% (w/v) methanol solution to wash away excess Toluidine Blue (30-45 minutes). Ion-pair chromatography utilized a CarboPac PA-100 (4 x 240 mm) analytical column (Dionex; Sunnyvale, CA) on a high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) system (Waters 1525 Binary HPLC Pump; Milford, MA) as previously described (Skoglund *et al.*, 1998) but with a methanesulfonic acid gradient (5-85%) instead of Hcl (at a flow rate of 1 mL/min). A post-column reactor was used to detect the presence of IPs and free phosphate by reacting 0.1% Fe(NO<sub>3</sub>)<sub>3</sub>9H<sub>2</sub>O, 2% HClO<sub>4</sub> (w/v) with the eluted contents and observing the absorbance at 290 nm. (Phillipy and Bland, 1988).

# 2.2.2 InsP<sub>x</sub> purification

Less-phosphorylated IPs were separated from inorganic phosphate using Qsepharose (GE Healthcare) ion-exchange chromatography (IEC) resin (5-50 mL) on a BioLogic LP system (Bio-Rad). The Q-sepharose column was equilibrated with Milli-Q water prior to applying hydrolysis products (pH adjusted to 5.0) at a flow rate of 2 mL/min. A 500 mM NaCl (10 mM Na-acetate, pH 5.0) wash removes the inorganic phosphate and is followed by the step elution of InsP<sub>x</sub> products with 1500 mM NaCl. One mL fractions were collected and visualized using the modified PAGE protocol and inorganic phosphate was detected using the phosphomolybdate colourimetric assay. In order to remove NaCl, samples were lyophilized and redissolved in approximately 0.5-1.0 mL of water. The concentrated  $InsP_x$  sample was applied to a 75 mL Sephadex G25 (GE Healthcare) column (50 cm in length) equilibrated with Milli-Q water and run at a flow rate of 1 mL/min. One mL fractions were collected and visualized using the modified PAGE protocol. Fractions containing  $InsP_x$  were then pooled and lyophilized prior to use. This process was utilized for both InsP<sub>5</sub> and InsP<sub>4</sub> samples, and can in principle be applied to any of the major hydrolysis products generated by any of the IPases.

### 2.2.3 Purity and yield

The purity of our InsP<sub>x</sub> preparations were assessed by modified PAGE, ion-pair chromatography and <sup>31</sup>P NMR. Percent purity values were calculated using the integrated area of HPLC or NMR peaks arising from a single InsP<sub>x</sub> and the total integrated area of all peaks. Likewise, percent purity values were calculated using the integrated intensity of

PAGE bands arising from a single  $InsP_x$  and the total integrated intensity of all bands using ImageJ (Schneider *et al.*, 2012).

A 300 MHz Bruker Avance II solution state NMR spectrometer was used for all NMR experiments. After referencing the spectrometer with 85% phosphoric acid, the <sup>31</sup>P (<sup>1</sup>H decoupled) spectra for the inositol phosphate samples were collected at 293 K. All inositol phosphate samples were prepared in ~5 mM in deuterium oxide and 1M NaOH.

Yields were calculated for each step of the  $InsP_x$  purification by comparing the amount of  $Na_xInsP_y$  recovered and the total amount of  $Na_{12}InsP_6$  used as starting material.

# 2.2.4 PhyAsrC252S/K301C binding assays

PhyAsrC252S/K301C was fluorescently labeled as previously described (Gruninger *et al.*, 2012) with a labelling efficiency of 43%. Fluorescent titrations were carried out in 96-well micro-well plates and after a 15 minute incubation, a fluorescent reading was taken on a Typhoon Trio<sup>TM</sup> (GE Healthcare) at an excitation wavelength of 488 nm and an emission wavelength of 526 nm. 10 nM 5-IAF labeled PhyAsrC252S/K301C and substrate (InsP<sub>6</sub>, InsP<sub>5</sub> and InsP<sub>4</sub>) concentrations ranging from 5 nM to 1  $\mu$ M were used. All experiments were done in triplicate at 293 K and the resulting fluorescent values were fit to the single site model, (A+(B•x))/(C+x), where A is the minimum fluorescence, B is the maximum fluorescence, C is the binding affinity (K<sub>d</sub>) and x is the substrate concentration.

## 2.2.5 Kinetic analysis of PhyAsr and PhyAmm

Kinetic assays were done at 293 K using a standard phytase assay as previously

described (Yanke *et al.*, 1998). The enzyme was added to a final concentration of 50 nM to 50  $\mu$ L substrate solutions varying in concentration from 0.010 mM to 2.24 mM InsP<sub>6</sub> (in 50 mM NaOAc (pH 5.0), 300 mM NaCl and 1 mM  $\beta$ ME). After a four minute incubation, the reactions were stopped by the addition of 50  $\mu$ L 5% (w/v) trichloroacetic acid. The modified phosphomolybdate colourimetric assay was used to quantify phosphate release. All experiments were done in triplicate. Kinetic data was fit to the Michaelis–Menten equation using QtiPlot 0.9.8.7 (soft.proindependent.com/qtiplot.html), an open source analysis and graphing program.

# 2.3 Results

Enriched solutions of  $InsP_x$  are generated by incubation with selected IPases and purified in a simple, two-step chromatographic procedure. The purified  $InsP_xs$  were then utilized to characterize the specificity, binding and kinetic properties of model IPases.

## 2.3.1 Production of InsP<sub>5</sub> and InsP<sub>4</sub>

The extent of  $InsP_6$  hydrolysis by PhyAsr was followed as a function of time by following inorganic phosphate release, and hydrolysis products were viewed by PAGE (Figure 2.1) and HPLC (Supplementary Figure 2.1). Aliquots quenched after 2 minutes and 7 minutes of hydrolysis were highly enriched in  $InsP_5$  and  $InsP_4$ , respectively. The scale of the reaction was then increased (up to 50 mL of 5 mM  $InsP_6$ ) to produce large quantities of each enriched solution.



**Figure 2.1.** The hydrolysis products of a 5 mM InsP<sub>6</sub> solution (Ins(1,2,4,5,6)P<sub>5</sub> and Ins(2,4,5,6)P<sub>4</sub>) viewed on a 35% PAGE gel. Using ImageJ, the aliquot at 2 minutes was shown to be ~80% InsP<sub>5</sub>, with InsP<sub>6</sub> and InsP<sub>4</sub> making up the remaining 20%. Aliquots taken every 30 seconds were quenched by adding NaOH to a final concentration of 0.1 M. The gel was stained using a Toluidine Blue solution.

InsP<sub>6</sub> hydrolysis produces less phosphorylated IPs and inorganic phosphate. As inorganic phosphate is an inhibitor of IPases (Gruninger *et al.*, 2012), we utilized anion exchange chromatography (Q-Sepharose) to separate phosphate and  $InsP_x$ . Both

phosphate and  $InsP_x$  bind in the absence of salts and can be eluted using 0.5 M and 1.5 M salt solutions, respectively (Supplementary Figure 2.2). Fractions containing  $InsP_x$  are free of phosphate contamination as judged by the phosphate release assay. Samples were subsequently lyophilized and redissolved in 0.5-1.0 mL of water and subjected to size exclusion chromatography (SEC) to remove NaCl. Optimal separation of NaCl and  $InsP_x$  is achieved with Sephadex G25 resin and a 75 mL column (1.5 cm diameter) (Supplementary Figure 2.3). Notably, a similar column using Sephadex G10 resin fails to separate NaCl and  $InsP_x$  whereas neither size exclusion resin separates inorganic phosphate from  $InsP_x$ . Baseline separation of the NaCl and  $InsP_x$  peaks suggests all NaCl is removed from our  $InsP_x$  samples.

We have subsequently and successfully scaled the reaction to 0.25 millimoles Na<sub>12</sub>InsP<sub>6</sub> (5 mL of 50 mM InsP<sub>6</sub>) without altering the selectivity (Supplementary Figure 2.4) and fractions without visible contaminants were pooled and lyophilized.

# 2.3.2 Inositol phosphate (IP) purity

The purity of our IPs is assessed by PAGE (Figure 2.2a), HPLC (Figure 2.2b) and <sup>31</sup>P NMR (Figure 2.3). As seen in Figure 2.2, there are only very minor contaminating bands or peaks in our InsP<sub>5</sub> and InsP<sub>4</sub> samples.



**Figure 2.2.** Purity of  $Ins(1,2,4,5,6)P_5$  and  $Ins(2,4,5,6)P_4$  samples confirmed by (a) PAGE and (b) HPLC. The  $InsP_5$  trace was offset by 0.05 AU and the  $InsP_4$  trace by 0.10 AU.

With minimal optimization of the IEC and SEC protocols, our simple approach (0.25 millimole scale) generates  $InsP_5$  and  $InsP_4$  samples that are 96% and 93% pure, at yields of ~25% (50 mg) and ~15% (25 mg), respectively (Supplementary Figure 2.5). The low yields are primarily due to incomplete separation of the different IPs and with further optimization of the chromatography steps, the yields are likely to significantly improve.

To confirm our lyophilized product is the Na<sup>+</sup> salt of InsP<sub>6</sub>, we loaded 0.0233 g of Na<sub>12</sub>InsP<sub>6</sub> dissolved in 0.5 mL of 1.5 M NaCl onto our SEC column. After pooling all fractions containing InsP<sub>6</sub> and lyophilization, the mass of the recovered product was virtually identical (> 95% recovery). Likewise, the intensity of the recovered InsP<sub>6</sub> and the starting material bands on a PAGE gel are virtually identical.

In addition to PAGE and HPLC, <sup>31</sup>P nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) was also used to confirm the identity and assess the purity of our IPs. The peaks in the <sup>31</sup>P NMR spectra of InsP<sub>6</sub> (Supplementary Figure 2.6) have previously been assigned (Martin *et al.*, 1987). The <sup>31</sup>P NMR spectra of our purified products (Figure 2.3) are consistent with the HPLC derived identification of our products as Ins(1,2,4,5,6)P<sub>5</sub> and Ins(2,4,5,6)P<sub>4</sub>. InsP<sub>5</sub> produces a single peak for each of its phosphorus atoms whereas InsP<sub>4</sub> only produces three peaks as two of its phosphorous atoms are chemically equivalent (Figure 2.3). Minor peaks in each spectra are indicative of low levels of IP contamination (<5%). As free phosphate produces a distinct peak in a spiked sample (Supplementary Figure 2.6), our products are free of inorganic phosphate contamination.



**Figure 2.3.** <sup>31</sup>P (<sup>1</sup>H decoupled) spectra of (a)  $\sim$ 5 mM InsP<sub>6</sub>,(b)  $\sim$ 5 mM purified InsP<sub>5</sub> and (c)  $\sim$ 5 mM InsP<sub>4</sub>. Minor peaks are indicative of low levels of IP contamination.

## 2.3.3 Utilization of inositol phosphates in binding and kinetic studies

Apparent  $K_M$  and  $V_{max}$  kinetic parameters associated with the hydrolysis of our novel substrates by PhyAsr and PhyAmm were determined and are reported in Table 2.1. Additionally, a labeled and inactive PhyAsr mutant (PhyAsrC252S/K301C) was generated to determine the binding affinity towards InsP<sub>6</sub> and our purified InsP<sub>x</sub> substrates. The signal change observed upon titration of 5-IAF labelled PhyAsrC252S/K301C with InsP<sub>6</sub> is significantly larger than that observed for a previously generated mutant, PhyAsrH188C/C252S (Gruninger *et al.*, 2012). The fluorescent titration curves for 5-IAF labeled PhyAsrC252S/K301C with InsP<sub>6</sub>, InsP<sub>5</sub> and InsP<sub>4</sub> were fit with a single site binding model (Supplementary Figure 2.8) and the K<sub>d</sub>'s are reported in Table 2.1. Notably, the K<sub>d</sub>'s for substrate binding are between 2 and 3 orders of magnitude smaller than the apparent K<sub>M</sub>'s.

**Table 2.1.** Michaelis-Menten steady-state kinetic parameters associated with the hydrolysis of *myo*-inostiol phosphates (IPs) by PhyAsr and PhyAmm and the binding affinities of PhyAsr and PhyAmm for IP substrates.

Substrate	PhyAsr (Selenomonas ruminantium)			PhyAmm ( <i>Mitsuokella multacida</i> )		
Substrate	$K_{\rm M}\left(\mu M\right)$	$k_{cat}(s^{-1})$	$K_{d}\left(\mu M ight)$	$K_{\rm M}\left(\mu M\right)$	$k_{cat}(s^{-1})$	$K_{d}\left(\mu M\right)$
Ins(1,2,3,4,5,6)P <sub>6</sub>	$411 \pm 26$	$19.1 \pm 0.5$	$0.13 \pm 0.03$	$161 \pm 19$	$6.7 \pm 0.3$	$0.26 \pm 0.08$
Ins(1,2,4,5,6)P <sub>5</sub>	$567 \pm 45$	$12.9 \pm 0.5$	$0.17 \pm 0.04$	$169 \pm 30$	$11.2 \pm 0.7$	ND
Ins(2,4,5,6)P <sub>4</sub>	$737 \pm 74$	$14.0 \pm 0.8$	$0.26 \pm 0.10$	$187 \pm 28$	10.5 ±0.6	ND

ND - Not Determined

# 2.4 Discussion

A simple, cost-effective and general method for the production and purification of large quantities of *myo*-inositol phosphate (IP) stereoisomers has been developed. The method relies upon and can utilize any IPase that hydrolyzes the readily available InsP<sub>6</sub> to less-phosphorylated IPs via a specific pathway, in order to produce enriched solutions of select IPs. Here, we utilize PhyA from Selenomonas ruminantium (Puhl et al., 2007) to produce in excess of 60  $\mu$ moles (48 mg) of Ins(1,2,4,5,6)P<sub>5</sub> and 30  $\mu$ moles (20 mg)  $Ins(2,4,5,6)P_4$  for use in kinetic and binding studies. This enzyme is a particularly favorable case, as each of its less-phosphorylated products accumulate, and more than 80% of the InsP<sub>6</sub> starting material is hydrolyzed to InsP<sub>1</sub> following a single pathway. When considering homologs of PhyAsr (Puhl et al., 2008b,a; Gruninger et al., 2009; Puhl et al., 2009b) and unrelated IPases with different specificities (Greiner et al., 1993; Greiner et al., 1993; Kerovuo et al., 2000; Greiner et al., 2001; Greiner et al., 2002a; Greiner and Carlsson, 2006), this simple approach has the potential to produce more than a dozen less-phosphorylated IPs. Given the large number of related and unrelated IPases in sequence databases that are currently uncharacterized, the number of distinct IPs that might be produced could be significantly larger. While the purification of IPs from natural sources is not new (Greiner et al., 2002a,b; Puhl et al., 2007), existing protocols do not generate the quantity and purity of IPs required for many biophysical and systems biology studies.

Apparent  $K_M$  and  $V_{max}$  values for PhyAsr and related enzymes towards InsP<sub>6</sub> have been reported (Puhl *et al.*, 2007; Puhl *et al.*, 2008a,b; Gruninger *et al.*, 2009; Puhl *et al.*, 2009b). In addition, apparent  $K_M$  and  $V_{max}$  values towards less-phosphorylated IPs have

been inferred from hydrolysis data or small scale purification of select IPs (Greiner *et al.*, 2002a). More recently, inorganic phosphate has been shown to be an inhibitor of IP hydrolysis at sub-millimolar concentrations (Supplementary Figure 2.10). To further characterize the kinetic mechanism of PhyAsr, we have determined the K<sub>i</sub> for phosphate (0.3 mM) and redetermined the apparent kinetic constants for  $InsP_5$  and  $InsP_4$  hydrolysis using our purified substrates in the absence of phosphate. The apparent V<sub>max</sub> values associated with these substrates are comparable to previously reported values and are consistent with phosphate acting as a competitive inhibitor. This is not surprising as phosphate hydrolysis and release are rate-limiting and phosphate is a competitive inhibitor in the related PTPs (Zhang, 1995; Zhang et al., 1995). Our measured apparent K<sub>M</sub> values are similar in magnitude but differ from previously reported values which are roughly constant for all substrates (Puhl et al., 2007; Gruninger et al., 2009). In contrast, our redetermined apparent K<sub>M</sub> values increase for less-phosphorylated substrates suggesting PhyAsr has a greater affinity for highly phosphorylated substrates. This is confirmed by our binding assay in which the K<sub>d</sub> values determined for IP binding increase for less-phosphorylated substrates and increase by similar relative amounts in comparison with our apparent K<sub>M</sub> values. Finally, the K<sub>d</sub> values determined for IP binding are 2-3 orders of magnitude smaller than the apparent K<sub>M</sub> values. Taken together, this data suggests the energetic barrier for substrate dissociation is similar or greater than that for the formation of product. Interestingly, crystallographic studies show that substrate binds in both the presence of phosphate and to the oxidized enzyme (Chu et al., 2004; Puhl et al., 2007; Gruninger et al., 2012). This suggests there are multiple potential binding sites within the PhyAsr active site and supports the idea that IP substrate (or product) release is

energetically unfavorable.

# **Supplementary Figures**



**Supplementary Figure 2.1.** HPLC chromatograms of the PhyAsr InsP<sub>6</sub> hydrolysis products (Ins(1,2,4,5,6)P<sub>5</sub> and Ins(2,4,5,6)P<sub>4</sub>). Ion-pair chromatography utilized a CarboPac PA-100 analytical column on a high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) system, with a methanesulfonic acid gradient (5-85%) to separate the IPs. The eluents were mixed in a post column reactor with 0.1% (m/v) Fe(NO3)3 in a 2% (m/v) HClO<sub>4</sub> solution (0.2 mL/min).



**Supplementary Figure 2.2.** Q-sepharose ion-exchange chromatogram of inorganic phosphate removal from an IP sample containing  $InsP_6$ ,  $InsP_5$  and inorganic phosphate. After loading the sample, a sodium chloride gradient of 500 - 1500 mM was used to elute the contents. A phosphomolybdate colourimetric assay was used to detect the presence of inorganic phosphate (yellow line) whereas PAGE was used to detect  $InsP_6$  (red line) and  $InsP_5$  (blue line) in the eluted fractions.



**Supplementary Figure 2.3.** The elution fractions of a size exclusion chromatography (SEC) separation of an  $InsP_5$  solution containing contaminating IPs ( $InsP_6$  and  $InsP_4$ ) and NaCl. Sephadex G-25 resin was used in a 75 mL column and removed all NaCl from the IP sample. PAGE was used to detect the presence of eluted Ips. The gel was stained using a Toluidine Blue solution.



**Supplementary Figure 2.4.** The hydrolysis products of a 50 mM InsP<sub>6</sub> solution (Ins(1,2,4,5,6)P<sub>5</sub> and Ins(2,4,5,6)P<sub>4</sub>) viewed on a 35% PAGE gel. 0.50  $\mu$ M PhyAsr was added to the InsP<sub>6</sub> solution and aliquots taken every minute were quenched by adding NaOH to a final concentration of 0.1 M. The gel was stained using a Toluidine Blue solution.



**Supplementary Figure 2.5.** HPLC chromatograms of (a) an InsP<sub>5</sub> sample (produced by hydrolyzing InsP<sub>6</sub>) before purification and (b) after IEC and SEC purification steps to remove InsP<sub>6</sub>, InsP<sub>4</sub> and inorganic phosphate contamination. Integration of the IP peaks shows that InsP<sub>5</sub> purity is 96%. Ion-pair chromatography utilized a CarboPac PA-100 analytical column on a high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) system, with a methanesulfonic acid gradient (5-85%) to separate the IPs. The eluents were mixed in a post column reactor with 0.1% (m/v) Fe(NO3)3 in a 2% (m/v) HClO<sub>4</sub> solution (0.2 mL/min).



**Supplementary Figure 2.6.** <sup>31</sup>P (<sup>1</sup>H decoupled) spectra of (a)  $\sim$ 5 mM InsP<sub>6</sub> and (b)  $\sim$ 5 mM InsP<sub>6</sub> and (b)  $\sim$ 5 mM and deuterium oxide was utilized as a solvent. 100 scans were done at a sweep width of 49.0 kHz, the pH was approximately 14 and the temperature was 293 K.



**Supplementary Figure 2.7.** Crystal structure of  $InsP_6$  bound in the active site of PhyAsrC252S (3MMJ) at 1.6 Å resolution. Two mutants were created: PhyAsrH188C/C252S and PhyAsr C252S/K301C for fluorescent labelling with 5-iodoacetamidofluorescein (5-IAF) to study the binding of different IP substrates but the PhyAsr C252S/K301C mutant was solely utilized since it provided a much larger signal change upon substrate binding.



**Supplementary Figure 2.8.** Titration of labelled, catalytically inactive, 10 nM PhyAsrC252S/K301C with (a)  $InsP_6$ , (b)  $InsP_5$  and (c)  $InsP_4$ . All experiments utilized 10 nM enzyme and were done in triplicate at 295 K. The fluorophore was excited at 488 nm and the emission was recorded at 526 nm on a Typhoon TrioTM (GE Healthcare). The data were fit to a single site model, (A+(B\*x))/(C+x).



**Supplementary Figure 2.9.** Plots of initial velocity vs. substrate concentration for (a) PhyAsr and (b) PhyAmm. Kinetic parameters were determined by unweighted, curve fitting using the Michaelis-Menten equation and  $QTIPLOT^{TM}$ .



**Supplementary Figure 2.10.** Plot of initial velocity vs.  $InsP_6$  concentration in the presence of phosphate. Kinetic parameters were determined by unweighted, curve fitting using the Michaelis-Menten equation and QTIPLOT<sup>TM</sup>.

Chapter 3: Structural Analysis of a *Myo*-inositol Phosphatase from *Desulfovibrio magneticus* and its Ins(1,2,3,4,5,6)P<sub>6</sub> Hydrolytic Pathway

# **3.1 Introduction**

Myo-inositol phosphatases (IPases) are enzymes that remove one or more phosphoryl groups of *myo*-inositol phosphates (IPs). They are typically identified in enzyme activity assays utilizing *myo*-inositol-1,2,3,4,5,6-hexakisphosphate (InsP<sub>6</sub>; phytic acid) and IPases active against InsP<sub>6</sub> and have been identified in prokaryotes, protists, fungi, animals and plants (Mullaney et al., 2000). Many IPases remove multiple phosphoryl groups resulting in the stepwise formation of *myo*-inositol penta-, tetra-, tri-, bi-, and monophosphate isomers, as well as the liberation of inorganic phosphate (Wyss et al., 1999). More detailed studies indicate several families of IPases hydrolyze IP<sub>6</sub> via distinct 'pathways' with specific IP isomers produced after each reaction (Greiner et al., 2001; Greiner et al., 2002a; Greiner and Carlsson, 2006; Puhl et al., 2007; Puhl et al., 2009b). The recently characterized protein tyrosine phosphatase-like phosphatases (PTPLPs) family of IPases are notable as individual members have both unique and specific pathways of InsP<sub>6</sub> hydrolysis. For example, PhyA of Selenomonas ruminantium (PhyAsr) hydrolyzes  $InsP_6 \rightarrow InsP_1$  with more than 80% of the starting material following a single pathway (Ins(1,2,4,5,6)P<sub>5</sub>  $\rightarrow$  Ins(2,4,5,6)P<sub>4</sub>  $\rightarrow$  Ins(2,4,5)P<sub>3</sub>  $\rightarrow$  $Ins(2,4)P_2 \rightarrow Ins(2)P_1$ ; Puhl *et al.*, 2007).

In the crystallographic structure of PhyAsr alone and in complex with  $InsP_6$ (Gruninger *et al.*, 2012), the protein tyrosine phosphatase (PTP) domain (SCOPe classification c.45.1.4) contributes all the elements of the catalytic site whereas three IPase specific sequence insertions construct the InsP<sub>6</sub> binding site (Figure 3.4). Phosphoryl group binding sites adjacent to the catalytic center account for the experimentally observed substrate specificity as only an axial phosphoryl group (C2) can be accommodated in the  $P_{a'}$  site (Gruninger *et al.*, 2012). Additional structural studies involving IPases from *Mitsuokella multacida* (PhyAmm) and *Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus* (Puhl *et al.*, 2008b; Gruninger *et al.*, 2009; Gruninger *et al.*, 2012; Gruninger *et al.*, 2014) confirm these results and suggest the divergent IPase specific sequence elements of these enzymes account for their known specificity differences.

In this work we have determined the hydrolytic pathway and X-ray crystallographic structure (1.92 Å resolution) of PhyA from *Desulfovibrio magneticus* (PhyAdm). Comparisons of PhyAdm and known IPase structures reveal structural differences in the variable IPase specific elements and identifies stuctural determinants that are likely responsible for the observed differences in their respective hydrolytic pathways. Finally, we have used this information to identify a divergent, uncharacterized IPase with a similar hydrolytic pathway.

## 3.2 Materials and methods

### **3.2.1** Cloning and mutagenesis

The region coding for the mature *D. magneticus* and *L. pneumophila* str. *Paris* IPases (PhyAdm, GenBank accession number YP\_002953065; PhyAlpp, GenBank accession number YP\_125176) were synthesized by Biobasic. The putative signal peptide cleavage sites were identified using SignalP 3.0 (Bendtsen *et al.*, 2004) and are not present in the mature PhyAdm and PhyAlpp. Primary sequence numbering begins with 1 at the N-terminus of the protein sequence found in GenBank and includes the predicted signal peptide (first 43 and 20 residues of PhyAdm and PhyAlpp, respectively). The amplified products were ligated into the NdeI/XhoI site of pET28b and transformed into *Escherichia coli* BL21(DE3) and DH5α cells.

### **3.2.2 Purification of PhyAdm and PhyAlpp**

*E. coli* BL21(DE3) cells transformed with the pET28b expression construct were grown to an optical density (600 nm) of 3.0 - 4.0 in ZYM-505 (high-density growth medium) broth supplemented with 50 µg/mL of kanamycin (Studier, 2005). Protein expression was induced by adding isopropyl- $\beta$ -D-thiogalactopyranoside (IPTG) to the culture to a final concentration of 1 mM. The over-expression was carried out at 293 K in an incubating shaker for 18 h. Induced cells were harvested (20 minutes at 5000 x g) and resuspended in lysis buffer (20 mM KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> pH 7.0, 300 mM NaCl, 5 mM  $\beta$ ME, 25 mM imidazole pH 8.0). Cells were lysed by sonication, and cell debris was removed by centrifugation (45 minutes at 24,700 x g). PhyAdm was purified to homogeneity by metal chelating affinity (Ni<sup>2+</sup>-NTA-agarose, Bio-Rad), cation exchange (Bio-Scale S Column, Bio-Rad), and size exclusion chromatography (S200, GE Healthcare) as previously described for PhyAsr and PhyAmm (Puhl *et al.*, 2007; Gruninger *et al.*, 2009). The purity of the protein was assessed by sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (Laemmli, 1970) and Coomassie Brilliant Blue R-250 staining. Protein concentrations were determined by measuring  $A_{280}$  and using the extinction coefficient calculated with PROT-PARAM (Gasteiger *et al.*, 2005). The purified protein was dialyzed into 10 mM Na-acetate (pH 5.0), 100 mM NaCl, 1 mM  $\beta$ ME and 0.1 mM EDTA. Purified protein was used immediately, or flash frozen (after the addition of 20% glycerol) in liquid nitrogen and stored at 193 K. The same expression and purification protocol was utilized for PhyAlpp other than the omission of the IEC and SEC purification steps.

### 3.2.3 Crystallization

Crystallization experiments were conducted using sitting-drop vapor diffusion with a drop ratio of 2  $\mu$ L of protein solution (5-10 mg/mL) and 2  $\mu$ L of reservoir. Initial crystallization screening was done using the Jena Bioscience Pi-minimal Screen (Gorrec *et al.*, 2011). Several small crystals were observed in the 1.14 M lithium sulfate, 150 mM acetate (pH 4.5) and 5% v/v MPD solution. After optimization of the crystallization conditions, large single crystals (160 x 160 x 90  $\mu$ m) were grown in 1.2 M lithium sufdshate, 150 mM Na-acetate (pH 4.1) and 5% MPD. Crystals were cryo-protected by serial transfers into reservoir solution supplement with 10% and 22% glycerol, respectively, followed by flash freezing in liquid nitrogen.

## 3.2.4 Data collection and image processing

Diffraction data was remotely collected from frozen crystals (100 K) using a Rayonix MX300 CCD detector at beamline 08ID-1 at the Canadian Light Source (CLS; Saskatoon, SK, Canada). Diffraction image data was interactively processed with MOSFLM, prior to scaling and merging within AIMLESS of the CCP4 program suite (version 6.4.0) (Leslie, 1992; CCP4, 1994; Evans, 2006; Evans, 2011). Key data collection and processing statistics associated with the diffraction data set are presented in Table 3.1.

	PhyAdm
Space group	C222 <sub>1</sub>
a, b, c (Å)	61.53, 130.9, 137.2
Wavelength (Å)	0.97959
Resolution (Å)	37.48 - 1.92 (1.96 - 1.92)
Observed reflections	300,899 (15,043)
Unique reflections	56,121 (2,815)
Completeness (%)	99.9 (100.0)
Redundancy	5.4 (5.3)
$R_{pim}^{a}$ (%)	0.054 (0.209)
I/σI	8.4 (3.5)

Table 3.1. Data collection and processing statistics for PhyAdm.

<sup>1</sup> values in parenthesis are for the highest resolution shell

$$R_{pim} = \frac{\sum_{hkl} \sqrt{1/n - 1} \sum_{i=1}^{n} |I_i(hkl) - \overline{I}(hkl)|}{\sum_{hkl} \sum_{i=1}^{n} I_i(hkl) - \overline{I}(hkl)}$$

# 3.2.5 Structure refinement and model validation

The PhyAdm structure was solved by molecular replacement using Phaser-MR within the PHENIX program suite (Adams *et al.*, 2010) and the PhyAmm N-terminal domain (residues 57-319; PDB: 3F41) as a search model with residues 78-87, 117-122,

150-154, 172-177, 183-198 and 287-300 omitted. Residues 73-87 and 183-198 have divergent structures in known IPases, whereas the remaining residue ranges are sites of insertions or deletions in sequence alignments. Automated model building at 1.92 Å resolution produces a model of residues 50-326. Continuous electron density contoured at 1.0 sigma is observed for the backbone of residues 50-326 with the remaining residues located at the termini assumed to be disordered. All refinement was performed using phenix.refine (version 1.8.4) within the PHENIX program suite and interactive fitting of the model and density was performed in COOT (version 0.7.2) (Adams *et al.*, 2010; Emsley *et al.*, 2010). MolProbity was used throughout refinement to assess the stereochemistry of the model (Davis *et al.*, 2007; Chen *et al.*, 2010). Statistics associated with the structural model and refinement of PhyAdm are shown in Table 3.2. The electron density associated with the refined model is of expected quality and a representative segment of electron density is shown in Figure 3.1.

	PhyAdm
Space group	C222 <sub>1</sub>
Resolution (Å)	37.5 - 1.92
No. reflections work set	54,364
No. reflections test set	1731
$R_{work}^{a}$ (%)	20.5
$R_{\text{free}}^{a}$ (%)	24.4
Asymmetric unit	Dimer
Protein atoms	4194
Solvent atoms	297
Small molecule atoms <sup>1</sup>	97
Wilson B (Å <sup>2</sup> )	23.3
Average B protein (Å <sup>2</sup> )	31.9
Average B solvent (Å <sup>2</sup> )	40.1
RMSD Bonds (Å)	0.007
RMSD Angle (°)	1.053
Ramachandran distribution	
Ramachandan outliers <sup>b</sup> (%)	0.5
Ramachandran favored <sup>b</sup> (%)	96.9
Rotamer outliers <sup>b</sup> (%)	1.2

Table 3.2. Refinement statistics for PhyAdm.

 $^1\text{each}$  structure contains 1 chloride ion, 4 acetate, 4 glycerol, 2  $\beta\text{ME}$  and 7 sulfate molecules

<sup>a</sup>  $\mathbf{R} = \Sigma_{hkl} || F_{obs} | - | F_{calc} || / \Sigma_{hkl} | F_{obs} |$ <sup>b</sup> statistics computed by MolProbity



**Figure 3.1.** Electron density associate with the P-loop of the PhyAdm catatlytic site calculated using sigmaA weighted  $2m|F_0| - D|F_c|$  map coefficients and contoured at 1.5 $\sigma$ .

Unless indicated otherwise, figures were prepared with CCP4mg (version 2.7.3) (McNicholas *et al.*, 2011) and all comparisons to other IPases were carried out using chain A of PhyAdm since chains A and B are very similar (RMSD for C $\alpha$  atoms of 0.30 Å). All least-squares superpositions of PhyAdm with other IPases were done with the CLICK server (Nguyen *et al.*, 2011).

## 3.2.6 Identification of the PhyAdm and PhyAlpp hydrolysis products

PhyAdm and PhyAlpp hydrolysis assays were run at 293 K using 50  $\mu$ M enzyme and 5 mM InsP<sub>6</sub> (50 mM NaOAc pH 5.0, 100 mM NaCl, 1 mM  $\beta$ ME). Periodically stopped reactions were resolved on a HPLC system and a CarboPac PA-100 (4 x 250 mm) analytical column (Dionex; Sunnyvale, CA) using the protocol described in section 2.2.1. The end products were identified by comparing the elution times of the hydrolysis products to known values for less-phosphorylated *myo*-inositol phosphates (Skoglund *et al.*, 1998; Greiner *et al.*, 2001; Greiner *et al.*, 2002a; Puhl *et al.*, 2007; Puhl *et al.*, 2008b,a; Puhl et al., 2009b).

# 3.3 Results

# 3.3.1 Structure of PhyAdm

PhyAdm crystallizes in the space group C222<sub>1</sub> with a homodimer in the asymmetric unit (ASU) (Figure 3.2) and also behaves as a dimer in solution (Supplementary Figure 3.3). The PhyAdm model was refined at 1.92 Å to a R<sub>work</sub> and R<sub>free</sub> of 20.6% and 24.4%, respectively. The model displays excellent stereochemistry as assessed by MolProbity, with 97% of the residues in the favored region of the Ramachandran plot (Chen *et al.*, 2010). Continuous main chain electron density is observed (at a contour level of  $1.0\sigma$ ) for nearly all residues of chain A (50-326) and chain B (52-327). The N-terminal histidine tag and residues at the termini (44-49 and 328-331) are not observed in the electron density and are assumed to be disordered. Additionally, one chloride ion, four acetate, four glycerol, two  $\beta$ ME and seven sulfate molecules are present in the asymmetric unit.



**Figure 3.2.** Quaternary structure of the *D. magneticus* PTPLP (PhyAdm) dimer observed in the ASU. Chains A and B are coloured red and blue, respectively.
#### **3.3.2** Comparison to other IPases

PhyAdm shares 33-37% sequence identity with structurally characterized homologs (PhyAsr, PDB: 2PSZ; PhyAmm, PDB: 3F41; Bd1204, PDB: 4NX8) in pairwise sequence alignments (Supplementary Figure 3.1). Pairwise structure-based alignments superimpose between 92-97% of the PhyAdm C $\alpha$  atoms within 6.0 Å and between 88-92% of the C $\alpha$  atoms within 2.0 Å. This suggests a small fraction (~10% or 25 residues) of the equivalent C $\alpha$  atoms have different conformations in these structures. As seen in Figure 3.3, the catalytic PTP domain of PhyAdm and PhyAsr superimpose closely (1.42 Å RMSD for 179 C $\alpha$ 's within 3.5Å), whereas the IPase specific Phy domain shows greater divergence (2.01 Å RMSD for 71 C $\alpha$ 's within 3.5 Å). The three IPase specific segments (omega loop, phy domain and penultimate helix extension) with significantly different conformations (Figure 3.3b) in the superposition, have variable sequences in alignments (Figure 3.4), are near the substrate binding site and have previously been implicated in substrate-binding in PhyAsr (Gruninger *et al.*, 2012).



**Figure 3.3. (a)** Domain diagram of PhyAdm. The IPases specific (Phy) domains are shown in green whereas the PTP domains are shown in grey. The PTP domains contain the omega and penultimate helix extension insertions which are specific to IPases. Substrate binding sites are indicated by asterisks. **(b)** Secondary structure superposition (SSM) of PhyAdm (green and grey) and PhyAsr (dark and light blue; PDB: 2PSZ) using CCP4mg. The penultimate helix extension, omega and phy loop are highlighted in green and dark blue in PhyAdm and PhyAsr, respectively. A phosphate molecule is bound in the active site with oxygen atoms in red and phosphorus in orange.

#### Omega loop

	eniega ieep
(a)	PhyAsr : 73SADALRAPE KKFHLDAAYVPSREGMD 98
()	PhyAdm : 72 CFFPLTASDG AAVPSREGLN 91
	PhyAmmD1: 75GSDKYVGVTKTGIMPTRKGMD 95
	PhyAmmD2: 367MNSAFRTDVNVKKTGKGFTPTPTRKGLD 394
	Bd1204 : 39RPQPTTPVELVFDKDHAAPKPMNYRKSD 66
	Phy loop
(b)	PhyAsr : 180VY - IAPLG - KHKLPEGGEV 196
. ,	PhyAdm : 169DIVVAREARRGGP TPLT 185
	PhyAmmD1: 176VKSIYRFDDKKNVILSPVY 194
	PhyAmmD2: 476LI-VAELD-KDKMPIDPKP 492
	Bd1204 : 144 VGDK   GT 150
	Deputimete beliv extension
(C)	PhyAsr : 291YGEFPIKIKDKDSWKIK 307
• •	PhyAdm : 281LAKTSDGSAP GRDA 294
	PhyAmmD1: 290LSEIPDKKKN YGRK 303
	PhyAmmD2: 586YVAYEIAKPKPDQWKAD 602
	Bd1204 : 246 DVL TVPADEK DWKYP 260

**Figure 3.4.** ClustalW amino acid sequence alignments of the PhyAsr, PhyAmm N- and C-terminal domain, Bd1204 and PhyAdm (a) omega loop, (b) phy loop and (c) penultimate helix extension. Numbers at the beginning and end of each sequence represent the residue numbers for the first and last amino acids in that sequence, respectively. The protein abbreviations, source, and GenBank accession numbers are as follows: PhyAsr, *S. ruminantium*, AAQ13669; PhyAdm, *D. magneticus*, YP\_002953065; PhyAmmD1, *M. multacida* N-terminal repeat, ABA18187; PhyAmmD2, *M. multacida* C-terminal repeat, ABA18187; Bd1204, *B. bacteriovorus*, NP\_968118. A complete alignment can be found in the supplementary information.

The phy domain loop adopts different conformations in PhyAdm and PhyAsr with the C $\alpha$  atoms of equivalent residues differing by more than 10 Å (Figure 3.3b). In PhyAdm, the phy domain loop forms an extended  $\beta$ -hairpin conformation linking the anti-parallel  $\beta$ -strands. The same loop in PhyAsr has a pair of prolyl residues (184 and 191) that introduces a twist in the otherwise extended  $\beta$ -hairpin conformation and gives rise to the large positional differences for residues of the hairpin turn. The large conformational changes associated with the omega loop and penultimate helix extension of PhyAdm are coupled. In comparison with PhyAsr, the omega loop is shorter and tilted away from the active site (Figure 3.3b) whereas residues 282-284 of the penultimate helix extension shift 4.0 Å towards the active site. As a consequence, the penultimate helix extension contributes additional residues to the PhyAdm substrate binding site. Notably, one strand of the omega loop (Gly-81 – Ala-83) is involved in two crystallization specific, symmetry-related contacts (symmetry operator: X+1/2, Y+1/2, Z), that form four favorable intermolecular hydrogen bonds (Figure 3.5). While these contacts likely have some effect upon the observed omega loop conformation in PhyAdm, we note that the penultimate helix extension packs against the omega loop and has strong, clear electron density. This suggests the weaker electron density and less-ordered structure associated with residues 74-79 does not significantly affect the conformation of nearby residues. Simple modeling suggests it is possible for residues of the omega loop to contact the InsP<sub>6</sub> substrate in a PhyAdm:substrate complex without affecting the overall structure, and we cannot rule out binding-induced conformational changes in this region.



**Figure 3.5.** (a) Contacts between omega loop residues and a symmetry related molecule. (b) a close up view of the contacts between the omega loop residues and the symmetry related molecule. The electron density is for a sigma weighted  $2F_o - F_c$  map at a contour level of  $1.5\sigma$ .

#### 3.3.3 Model of PhyAdm in complex with InsP<sub>6</sub>

Crystallographic structures of PhyAsr and an inactive mutant (PhyAsrC252S) in

the presence of  $InsP_6$  have virtually identical backbone conformations (RMSD = 0.3 Å).

Assuming that PhyAdm binds substrate with little or no change in backbone conformation, the superposition of PhyAdm and the PhyAsr:InsP<sub>6</sub> complex structures should provide a simple, yet accurate model of the PhyAdm:InsP<sub>6</sub> complex (Figure 3.6).



**Figure 3.6.** Model of PhyAdm in complex with InsP<sub>6</sub>. The phosphoryl binding sites are labeled as  $P_s$  (scissile phosphate),  $P_a$ ,  $P_{a'}$ ,  $P_b$ ,  $P_{b'}$  and  $P_c$ .

Despite the large backbone conformational differences in the three IPase specific loops of PhyAdm and PhyAsr, the InsP<sub>6</sub> substrate is accommodated without significant steric conflict or changes in conformation within the PhyAdm active site. In addition, each of the phosphoryl groups are in close proximity of one or more PhyAdm residues capable of forming productive electrostatic interactions. Together, these observations suggest the simple PhyAdm:InsP<sub>6</sub> model is reasonable and a comparison of the observed phosphoryl group contacts in the PhyAsr:InsP<sub>6</sub> complex and our model are summarized in Table 3.3.

Phosphoryl Binding Site <sup>1</sup>	PhyAsr Residue	PhyAdm Residue			
	Ser-252	Ser-241			
	Glu-253	Arg-242			
Ps	Ala-254	Gly-243			
	Gly-255	Gly-244			
	Val-256	Ala-245			
	His-224	His-213			
Pa	Gly-257	Gly-246			
	Lys-312	Arg-299			
	Arg-57	Arg-242			
P <sub>a'</sub>	Asp-153	Asn-142			
	Asp-223	Asp-212			
	Tyr-309	None			
D	Lys-83	Lys-283			
r <sub>b</sub>	Lys-305	Arg-292			
	None	Arg-68			
D	Arg-68	None			
Γ <sub>b'</sub>	None	Arg-177, Arg-178, Arg-242			
D	Lys-189	Arg-177			
ſc	Lys-305	Arg-292			

**Table 3.3.** Contacts (<3.5 Å) in the PhyAsrC252S:InsP<sub>6</sub> structure (Gruninger *et al.*, 2012) and the predicted contacts between PhyAdm and InsP<sub>6</sub> at the six phosphoryl binding sites.

<sup>1</sup>Phosphoryl binding sites defined in section 1.2.3

While PhyAsr and PhyAdm make a similar number of contacts with the InsP<sub>6</sub> substrate, the number and nature of contacts with individual phosphoryl groups differs (Table 3.3). In general, the P<sub>s</sub> (scissile) and adjacent P<sub>a</sub> and P<sub>a'</sub> phosphoryl binding sites have the greatest number of specific side-chain contacts with InsP<sub>6</sub> and are the most highly conserved at both the primary sequence and structure level. The P<sub>s</sub>, P<sub>a</sub> and P<sub>a'</sub> phosphoryl binding sites of PhyAdm are closely similar to those observed in PhyAsr and make the greatest number of specific interactions with InsP<sub>6</sub> phosphoryl groups. All side-

chain contacts within the  $P_s$  and  $P_a$  sites involve identical residues with the exception of a conservative Lys-312 to Arg-299 substitution in the  $P_a$  site of PhyAdm. In contrast, while the backbone conformation near the  $P_{a'}$  site is unchanged, one of the three specific contacts differs as Arg-57 (PhyAsr) is structurally equivalent to Arg-242 (PhyAdm). As seen in Figure 3.7, the guanidinium group of Arg-242 (PhyAdm P-loop) occupies a similar space to Arg-57 (PhyAsr) and likely serves as a functional replacement.



**Figure 3.7.** Superposition of PhyAdm (green) and InsP<sub>6</sub> bound PhyAsr (blue). Oxygens are shown in red, nitrogens in blue, phosphorus in orange and the InsP<sub>6</sub> carbons in grey. The dashed lines represent hydrogen bonds between arginine-57 of PhyAsr and InsP<sub>6</sub>.

Phosphoryl binding sites furthest from the catalytic site ( $P_b$ ,  $P_c$  and  $P_b$ ) show greater differences in the two structures as they are formed by the divergent omega loop,

phy loop and penultimate helix extension. Residues Tyr-309 and Arg-68 form the only direct interactions with phosphoryl groups within the  $P_b$  and  $P_{b'}$  sub-sites of PhyAsr, respectively. Neither interaction is conserved in PhyAdm as the  $P_b$  and  $P_{b'}$  sites are formed by residues from different regions of the polypeptide. In Figure 3.8 the  $P_b$  site of PhyAdm includes novel interactions from Arg-68 (omega loop) and Lys-283 (penultimate helix extension). The Lys-283 interaction arises from changes in the backbone conformation of the omega loop and penultimate helix extension and replaces an indirect contact from Lys-83 (PhyAsr omega loop) that is mediated by an ordered water molecule.



**Figure 3.8.** Model of PhyAdm in complex with  $InsP_6$ . The side chains of residues proposed to contact the P<sub>b</sub> phosphoryl group are shown.

In Figure 3.9, the  $P_{b'}$  site displays the greatest differences and has changed from a single partial contact (Arg-68 alternate conformation) in PhyAsr to three contacts

involving Arg-177/Arg-178 of the phy loop and the previously mentioned Arg-242 that is component of both the  $P_{a'}$  and  $P_{b'}$  sites. As a result of the conformational differences in the phy loop, these residues form the  $P_{b'}$  site in PhyAdm and the  $P_c$  site in PhyAsr. Of the proposed contacts between PhyAdm and the InsP<sub>6</sub> substrate, only Arg-177 lacks complete side-chain electron density in our ligand free structure. The equivalent loop in PhyAsr has both a divergent sequence and relatively weak density in the absence of substrate, and suggests the side chains are more ordered in the presence of substrate.



**Figure 3.9.** Superposition of PhyAdm (green) and InsP<sub>6</sub> bound PhyAsr (blue). Oxygens are shown in red, nitrogens in blue, phosphorus in orange and the InsP<sub>6</sub> carbons in grey.

# 3.3.4 Substrate specificity

PhyAdm hydrolyzes InsP<sub>6</sub> to less-phosphorylated compounds at a slower rate than

PhyAsr (3-4x slower) and accumulates different products. PhyAdm removes the C3 phosphoryl group of  $InsP_6$ , followed by the C4 phosphoryl of the  $InsP_5$  product and C5 phosphoryl group of the resulting  $InsP_4$  (Figure 3.10). This differs from the known PhyAsr hydrolysis pathway (Puhl *et al.*, 2007) which removes the C3 phosphoryl groups followed by the C1 and C5 phosphoryl groups.



Figure 3.10. High-performance ion-pair chromatography analysis of the hydrolysis products of  $InsP_6$  by PhyAdm.

In order to understand the differences in substrate specificity, we modeled a PhyAdm:InsP<sub>5</sub> complex with the C4 phosphoryl group in the P<sub>s</sub> site and the C3 hydroxyl in P<sub>a'</sub> (Figure 3.11) and a PhyAsr:InsP<sub>5</sub> complex with the C1 phosphoryl groups within the P<sub>s</sub> site and the axial C2 phosphoryl group in P<sub>a'</sub>. These were the only conformations considered as previous work suggests the P<sub>a'</sub> sub-site cannot accept an equatorial

phosphoryl group without changes in myo-inositol ring conformation (Gruninger *et al.*, 2012).



**Figure 3.11.** Model of PhyAdm in complex with  $Ins(1,2,4,5,6)P_5$ . The side-chains proposed to be involved in contacting the  $P_{b'}$  phosphoryl group are shown in green. The phosphoryl binding sites are labeled as  $P_s$  (scissile phosphate),  $P_a$ ,  $P_{a'}$ ,  $P_b$ ,  $P_{b'}$  and  $P_c$ .

In Figure 3.11, the C2 phosphoryl of the PhyAdm:InsP<sub>5</sub> model occupies the P<sub>b'</sub> site and is the beneficiary of the increased number of contacts from the phy loop and Arg-242. At the same time, the C3 hydroxyl of the PhyAdm:InsP<sub>5</sub> model occupies P<sub>a'</sub> which has fewer contacts than in the PhyAsr:InsP<sub>5</sub> model. The opposite is true in the PhyAsr:InsP<sub>5</sub> model, where the C2 phosphoryl group makes multiple contacts in the P<sub>a'</sub> site and the C3 hydroxyl makes relatively few contacts in the P<sub>b'</sub> site (Gruninger *et al.*, 2012). This suggest the substrate specificity difference arises from PhyAdm preferentially stabilizing phosphoryl groups in P<sub>b'</sub> whereas PhyAsr stabilizes phosphoryl groups in P<sub>a'</sub>.

In order to test this hypothesis, we searched for divergent primary sequences that have an arginine residue following the invariant cysteine nucleophile and multiple positively charged residues in the phy loop (conditions that preferentially stabilize the  $P_{b'}$ phosphoryl binding site). Several IPases met these requirements, one of which was PhyA from *Legionealla pneumophila* strain Paris (PhyAlpp), which shares 31% sequence identity with PhyAdm. Despite the modest primary sequence identity, the hydrolysis pathway for PhyAlpp matches that of PhyAdm (Figure 3.12) strongly suggesting the observed substrate specificity differences in PhyAdm and PhyAsr are due to the number and nature of contacts in the  $P_{a'}$  and  $P_{b'}$  sub-sites.



**Figure 3.12.** High-performance ion-pair chromatography analysis of the hydrolysis products of  $InsP_6$  by PhyAdm (dashed line) and PhyAlpp (solid line).

### 3.4 Discussion

PhyAdm shares 33-37% primary sequence identity with homologous enzymes of known structure (PhyAsr, PDB: 2PSZ; PhyAmm, PDB: 3F41; Bd1204, PDB: 4NX8) and catalyzes a distinct hydrolysis 'pathway'. Structurally, it is the first example of a PTP-like IPase (PTPLP) that preferentially removes the C4 phosphoryl from  $Ins(1,2,4,5,6)P_5$  substrates.

As seen in Figure 3.4, segments of the PhyAdm overall fold implicated in substrate binding (omega loop, phy loop and penultimate helix extension) adopt strikingly different conformations in structural comparison with known IPases. This is somewhat surprising as each of these enzymes specifically removes the C3 phosphoryl from Ins(1,2,3,4,5,6)P<sub>6</sub> substrates. Despite these relatively large differences in backbone conformation, the PhyAdm active site forms phosphoryl binding sites that superimpose with those identified in other IPases. This explains the known specificity for InsP<sub>6</sub> substrates and suggests the PhyAsr:InsP<sub>6</sub> complex structure can serve as an accurate model of the PhyAdm:InsP<sub>6</sub> complex.

More detailed comparisons of these observed and modeled complexes (Table 2.3) indicate PhyAdm and PhyAsr make a similar number of total contacts with the InsP<sub>6</sub> substrate, whereas the number and nature of contacts in each site differ. Of particular note, PhyAdm makes at least 3 contacts in the P<sub>b'</sub> site whereas PhyAsr makes a single contact. In addition, PhyAdm loses one contact within the P<sub>a'</sub> site as Arg-242 cannot make an equivalent bidentate interaction with the P<sub>a'</sub> phosphoryl site. This is notable as enzymes that remove the C4 phosphoryl from Ins(1,2,4,5,6)P<sub>5</sub> are expected to place the C2 phosphoryl group in the P<sub>b'</sub> site and the C3 hydroxyl within the P<sub>a'</sub> site for steric

reasons (Gruninger *et al.*, 2012). Likewise, enzymes that remove the C1 phosphoryl from  $Ins(1,2,4,5,6)P_5$  place the C2 phosphoryl group in the  $P_{a'}$  site and the C3 hydroxyl within the  $P_{b'}$  site. This suggests PhyAdm preferentially binds phosphoryl groups in the  $P_{b'}$  site and likely explains its observed specificity for  $Ins(1,2,4,5,6)P_5$ .

Further, it suggests the relative number of contacts in the  $P_{b'}$  and  $P_{a'}$  sites are responsible for substrate specificity towards InsP<sub>5</sub> in this family of IPases. To test this idea, we searched for uncharacterized sequences containing residues equivalent to Arg-242, that contained a pair of basic residues in the phy domain loop and lacked an arginine at position 46. We identified phytase A from *Legionella pneumophila* strain *Paris* (PhyAlpp) as one such sequence and proceeded to clone, express and purify the enzyme to assess its substrate specificity. Consistent with the simple model above, PhyAlpp preferentially hydrolyzes the C4 phosphoryl of Ins(1,2,4,5,6)P<sub>5</sub> and suggests variation in the number and nature of interactions within phosphoryl sites is an important specificity determinant. Altering the number and nature of contacts in each of the phosphoryl binding sites will allow us to design and engineer PTPLPs with desired substrate specificity.

# Supplementary Figures

	Omega loop												
PhyAsr : PhyAdm : PhyAmmD1 : PhyAmmD2 : Bd1204 :	FEGFV PDVGV KLA YNGY I QKSVS	WRLDA LTLDA LKIDR WRLDT LTPDK	IDGKEA PAASA ADVNQ KDRNQ PVSTK	L P R N F L P H R F L P R N F L P R N F I P - F F	FRTSA FRTCF FRMGS FRTMN FMTRF	DAL FPL DKY ISAF QPT	RAPE TASD VGVT RTDV TPVE	KK GK NVKK LVF[	(FHL) (TG- (TGK) (TGK)	DAAYV AAV IM GFTPT AAPKP	PSREGI PSREGI PTRKGI PTRKGI MNYRKS	AD:98 _N:91 AD:95 _D:394 SD:66	
PhyAsr : PhyAdm : PhyAmmD1 : PhyAmmD2 : Bd1204 :	ALHIS GLRVS TMNVS TLYMS SLRMS	GSSAF GSSQF ASSCF GSAEF GSATF	TPAQL S SEKEL SNGEL SPKAL	KNVAA LAGLA EAILA QAMLA KEVAA	AKLRE ALMRE KKVPV VLKC KPVKK	KTA QFP KPS QAK QAK	GPIY PRAV - QFY GPIY - SLY	DVDL IVDL DVDL IMDL VFDL	RQE RRE RGE RQE RQE	SHGYL SHGFL SHGYL THGVF SHGLI	DGIPVS GGNAVS NGTAVS NGNAVS NDIPV	SW : 148 SW : 137 SW : 144 SW : 444 FW : 115	
PhyAsr : PhyAdm : PhyAmmD1 : PhyAmmD2 : Bd1204 :	YGERD RLPDN FANHD YGLRD YADRD	WANLG QGNPG WGNDG WGNLG WANAD	GKSQHE GRDAAF GRTED I GKNKAE OLNHEE	ALADE VAEAE IIPLE VLKDE AVRRE	ERHRL EAALL EKEQL ENSRL ERRLL	HAA AAI ASL NAA GDL	LHKT DERP KGST RGKS R	VY -    D   V\ VKS   L   - \ 	APL( /ARE/ /ARE/ /AELI	Phy loc G - KHK ARRGG DDKKN D - KDK 	00 LPEGGE P TPI VILSP\ MPIDPI VGDKI	EV: 196 _T: 185 /Y: 194 (P: 492 GT: 150	
PhyAsr : PhyAdm : PhyAmmD1 : PhyAmmD2 : Bd1204 :	RRVQK LGPLP VNYNK VKIES TAIQS	VQTEC AVSEA VRTEE VMTEC IETEE	QAAAS QAAAS EMVKQ QLVEK SMIRT	AGMRY LGLGY HGANY NGLHY GGHQY	YFRIA YLRLA YFRLT YYRIA YVRLT	A TD VSD LQD A TD VTD	HVWP HTRP HFRP HIWP HVRP	TPEN DDA\ DDPE SAAN VDSE	NIDR VER VDK NIDE VDR	F L A F Y F V R F S F L E F Y F I N F T F I E S V	RTLPQI RSLPPI KSLPKI RTMPAN RALPEN	DA : 246 DV : 235 DA : 244 NA : 542 NA : 200	
PhyAsr : V PhyAdm : V PhyAmmD1 : V PhyAmmD2 : V Bd1204 : V	P- WLHFH WLHFH WLHYH WLHFH WVHFH	loop CEAGV CRGGA CYAGN CQAGA CRAGK	GRTTA GRTTT IGRTTI GRTTA GRTTT	FMVM FMTLV FMVMH YMAMY FMVLY	TDMLK /DMLF HDILK /DMMK /DMLK	(NP - S RNAP (NAK (NP - S (NAK	SVSL SVAF DVSF DVSL TDSF	K D   L E D     D D     G D   L E E	YRQ ARQ QRQ SRQ KRN	HEIGG KALGG KLIGI YLLGG TELSN	FYYGEF SDLAK <sup>-</sup> VDLSE - NYVAY DYDVL <sup>-</sup>	FP:295 TS:285 IP:294 YE:590 TV:250	
PhyAsr : PhyAdm : PhyAmmD1 : PhyAmmD2 : Bd1204 :	Penultii IKTKD DGSAP DKKKN IAKPK PADEK	mate heli KDSWK GR YC PDQWK DWK	X extensi TKYYR DALAR RKAY I ADYYH YPYQK	on EKIVN QRLEF ERYQF QKAHN ERAAF	MIEQF = LRRF = VQHF MIEKF = VTEF	YRY YEY YDY YQY YNY	VQEN ARAN VKEN VQEN AKAH	RADO - PGO - PD - HADO - PNO	GYQTI GAPLO LKTI GFKTS GEGM	PWSVW GWTAW PYSVW SWSQW LWGEW	LKSHPA LAGGAP AKKNK LAAHQI VLR	AK: 345 (P: 332 /N: 339 DV: 640 : 293	
Supplementary Figure 3.1. ClustalW amino acid sequence alignment of PhyAsr,													
PhyAdm, P	hyAm	m N- a	nd C-te	rminal	doma	ins a	nd Bo	d1204	1. Nu	mbers	at the b	eginnin	g
and end of each sequence represent the residue numbers for the first and last amino acids													
In that sequence, respectively. The protein appreviations, source and GenBank accession number are as follows: PhyAsr S ruminantium $\Delta \Delta O13669$ : PhyAdm D magneticus													
YP 002953065: PhyAmmD1 <i>M. multacida</i> N-terminal repeat ABA18187: PhyAmmD2													
M. multacia	da C-te	rminal	repeat,	ABA1	8187;	Bd12	04, <i>B</i>	baci	teriov	orus, N	NP_9681	18.	-,
manuella e terminar repeat, miritoror, barzor, b. bacieriovoras, m000110.													



**Supplementary Figure 3.2.** 15% SDS-PAGE gel of the purification of PhyAdm.The SEC eluted fraction was concentrated and used for hydrolysis and crystallization experiments.



Time (min:s)

**Supplementary Figure 3.3.** Size exclusion chromatography (SEC) run of PhyAdm on a S200 column. The elution time of the peak is indicative of a 70 kDa protein, which is the approximate size of a PhyAdm dimer.

### **Chapter 4: Conclusions and Future Directions**

# 4.1 Overview

This work has been aimed at understanding the specificity of PTPLPs for their various substrates. Towards this end we developed a simple, general method to purify large quantities (> 25 mg) of specific, less-phosphorylated IP isomers that can be enzymatically generated using  $InsP_6$  as a starting material (Chapter 2). In this case, both  $Ins(1,2,4,5,6)P_5$  and  $Ins(2,4,5,6)P_4$  were purified and used in binding and kinetic assays. These are the first reported K<sub>d</sub>'s for PTPLPs and suggest the strength of substrate binding and the number of phosphoryl groups are correlated. A similar trend is observed in steady-state kinetic experiments with PhyAsr, where the apparent K<sub>M</sub> is lowest for  $InsP_6$ .

I have also determined the X-ray crystal structure of a novel *myo*-inositol phosphatase (IPase) from *Desulfovibrio magneticus* (Chapter 3). Primary sequence alignments and subsequent biochemical analysis identified PhyAdm as an IPase with a distinct hydrolysis pathway in comparison with structurally characterized Pases. Prior to this work, X-ray crystal structures of IPases from *Selenomonas rumintium* (PhyAsr, PDB: 2PSZ) and *Mitsuokella multacida* (PhyAmm, PDB: 3F41) were determined in their apo state and the structure of PhyAsrC252S has been determined in complex with InsP<sub>6</sub> (PDB: 3MMJ), Ins(1,2,3,5,6)P<sub>5</sub> (PDB: 3MOZ) and Ins(1,3,4,5)P<sub>4</sub> (PDB: 3O3L). Recently, the structure of an uncharacterized IPase from *Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus* (Bd1204, PDB: 4NX8) has been reported in the apo-state. Comparison of PhyAdm to PhyAsr and other known IPase structures have allowed us to identify sequence and

structural elements that account for the observerd specificities of each enzyme.

# 4.2 Characterization of diverse PTPLPs

PTPLPs have a broad range of specificities that contribute to their biological function and their potential applications in the life sciences. Initial studies of PTPLPs have focussed upon the structure, catalytic mechanism and specificity of highly active enzymes that are specific for IPs, as these enzymes are straight forward to overexpress and purify. In this and future work, divergent PTPLPs with different specificities are being targeted in order to understand how their 3D structure gives rise to their unique hydrolysis pathway. As shown in Chapter 3, differences in the number and nature of residues that contribute to a common set of phosphoryl binding sites are sufficient to explain the specificity of PhyAdm for the C4 phosphate of Ins(1,2,4,5,6)P<sub>5</sub>. Further, we utilized this information to identify a divergent (31% identity), uncharacterized IPase from *L. pneumophila* str. *Paris* (PhyAlpp) with the same specificity. This same information also provides a basis for bioengineering mutant IPases with desirable properties.

Of particular interest are the pathogenic variants of these IPases which are currently uncharacterized as a result of the limited solubility of their mature and several truncated forms (unpublished data). Additional pathogenic variants are being identified and their solubility is being assessed. In parallel with these approaches, we are currently trying to evolve a more soluble form of HopAO1 (*P. syringae*) for biochemical and structural analysis as a precursor to the rational design of specific inhibitors.

### 4.3 Production of less-phosphorylated IPs

Unfortunately, IPs other than  $InsP_6$  are difficult to isolate from natural sources or chemically synthesize due to their low abundance and large number of stereoisomers, respectively, rendering them prohibitively expensive or even commercially unavailable (Table 1.1). To resolve this issue, I developed an inexpensive and simple chromatographic method to produce large quantities of pure, less-phosphorylated IPs, enabling us to pursue structure-function studies. These less phosphorylated IPs have allowed us to extend kinetic and binding studies, in addition to pursuing atomic resolution structural studies of IPs in complex with PTPLPs. Without significant optimization, more than 50 mg of  $Ins(1,2,4,5,6)P_5$  (96% pure) and 25 mg of  $Ins(2,4,5,6)P_4$ (93% pure) have been produced using this approach.

In principle, this method is only limited by the diversity of known IPases. The 7 (of 120) PTPLPs with characterized hydrolysis pathways (Table 1.2) generate 13 of the 63 possible IPs. Given the diversity of PTPLP primary sequence (Supplementary Figure 1.1), it is reasonable to assume novel hydrolysis pathways will be identified as more enzymes are characterized, leading to a greater number of IPs that might be isolated by this approach. The sequential use of combinations of IPases with distinct specificities is another route to generating additional IPs. For example, the  $Ins(1,2,4,5,6)P_5$  produced by PhyAsr and purified in this work can be provided as substrate to other enzymes. Preliminary studies suggest PTPLPs are capable of hydrolyzing non-pathway substrates and the combination of PhyAsr and PhyAsrl produces the novel  $Ins(1,2,4,6)P_4$ .

At present, IPases that specifically remove the C1, C3, C4, C5 and C6 phosphoryl group of InsP<sub>6</sub> have been identified. Noticably absent from this list are enzymes that

specifically remove the C2 (axial) phosphoryl group of InsP<sub>6</sub>. As a result, this approach cannot currently produce IPs lacking the C2 phosphoryl group. This includes virtually all of the known eukaryotic IPs that are involved in signal transduction pathways. Consequently, a key research goal moving forward is the identification, design or evolution of an IPase specific for the C2 phosphoryl of InsP<sub>6</sub>. One approach to obtaining a C2 specific IPase is screening the hydrolysis pathways of uncharacterized IPases. Alternatively, an IPase that is specific for the C2 phosphoyrl group can be rationally designed by altering the number and nature of contacts in each of the phosphoryl binding sites within the active site of an IPase. Such an enzyme, in combination with known IPases would allow for the generation of large quantities of almost all IPs.

#### 4.4 Structural determinants in specificity of PTPLPs

I have determined the crystal structure of an IPase from *Desulfovibrio magneticus* (PhyAdm) and compare it to the structures of previously solved PTPLPs. Differences in the main-chain conformation of residues implicated in substrate binding ultimately change the number and nature of residues contributing to each of identified phosphoryl group binding sites. These difference are sufficient to rationalize the observed substrate specificity of both enzymes towards  $Ins(1,2,4,5,6)P_5$  (Chapter 3) and suggest specificity is generated by increasing and/or decreasing the number of favourable electrostatic contacts within each phosphoryl binding site.

Future structural studies will target novel PTPLPs with distinct pathways of InsP<sub>6</sub> hydrolysis, pathogenic variants of PTPLPs and known PTPLPs in complex with IP substrates. Crystals of PhyAdm in complex with MIHS (non-hydrolyzable substrate

82

analogue) have been produced and diffract to 3.0 Å resolution. Optimization of these crystals is ongoing as we attempt to collect higher resolution data.

In this and previous work, structural determinants that control the specificity of PTPLPs have been identified. This allows us to annotate known PTPLP sequences and focus our efforts on novel enzymes. Further, these studies provide a basis for the rational design of PTPLPs with desirable properties. As an example, the N-terminal repeat of PhyAmm is inactive towards InsP<sub>6</sub> despite the presence of all catalytic residues. Based on our structural studies, we identified two mutations to non-catalytic residues (K59R, G301K) that are sufficient to restore its activity towards InsP<sub>6</sub> (unpublished data).

Finally, the development of methods to rapidly and cheaply generate specific IP isomers opens the door to additional kinetic, binding and pathway studies aimed at characterizing the catalytic mechanism of these enzymes towards less phosphorylated IPs.

## References

- Adams P. D., Afonine P. V., Bunkoczi G., Chen V. B., Davis I. W., Echols N., Headd J. J., Hung L.-W., Kapral G. J., Gross-Kunstleve R. W., McCoy A. J., Moriarty N. W., Oeffner R. J., Read R. J., Richardson D. C., Richardson J. S., Terwilliger T. C. and Zwart P. H. (2010) PHENIX: a comprehensive Python-based system for macromolecular structure solution. *Acta Cryst.* D66, 213-221.
- Barrientos L., Scott J. J. and Murthy P. N. N. (1994) Specificity of hydrolysis of phytic acid by alkaline phytase from lily pollen. *Plant Physiol* **106**, 1489-1495.
- Bendtsen J. D., Nielsen H., von Heijne G. and Brunak S (2004) Improved prediction of signal peptides: SignalP 3.0. *J Mol Biol* **340**, 783-795.
- Campbell S., Fisher R. J., Towler E. M., Fox S., Issag H. J., Wolfe T., Phillips L. R. and Rein A. (2001) Modulation of HIV-like particle assembly in vitro by insoitol phosphates. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 98, 10875-10879.
- CCP4 (1994) The CCP4 Suite: Programs for protein crystallography. *Acta Crystallographica Section D Biological Crystallography* **50**, 760-763.
- Chakraborty A., Koldobskiy M. A., Bello N. T. Maxwell M., Potter J. J., Juluri K. R., Maag D., Kim S., Huang A. S. and Dailey M. J. (2010) Inositol pyrophosphates inhibit Akt signaling, thereby regulating insulin sensitivity and weight gain. *Cell* 143, 897-910.
- Chatterjee S., Sankaranarayanan R. and Sonti R. V. (2003) PhyA, a secreted protein of Xanthomonas oryzae pv. oryzae, is required for optimum virulence and growth on phytic acid as a sole phosphate source. *Mol Plant Microbe Interact* **16**, 973-982.
- Chen V. B., Arendall III W. B., Headd J. J., Keedy D. A., Immormino R. M., Kapral G. J., W. M. L., Richardson J. S. and Richardson D. C. (2010) MolProbity: all-atom structure validation for macromolecular crystallography. *Acta Crystallographica* D66, 12-21.
- Chu H.-M., Guo R.-T., Lin T.-W., Chou C.-C., Shr H.-L., Lai H.-L., Tang T.-Y., Cheng K.-J., Selinger B. L. and Wang A. H.-J. (2004) Structures of Selenomonas ruminantium phytase in complex with persulfated phytate: DSP phytase fold and mechanism for sequential substrate hydrolysis. *Structure* 12, 2015-2024.
- Cullen P. J., Chung S. K., Young T. C., Dawson A. P. and F. I. R. (1994) Specificity of the purified inositol (1,3,4,5) tetrakisphosphate-binding protein from porcine platelets. *FEBS letters* **358**, 240-242.
- Davis I. W., Leaver-Fay A., Chen V. B., Block J. N., Kapral G. J., X. W., W. M. L., Bryan Arendall W., Snoeyink J., Richardson J. S. and Richardson D. C. (2007)

MolProbity: all-atom contacts and structure validation for proteins and nucleic acids. *Nucleic Acids Research* **35**, W375-W383.

- Dixon J. E. and Denu J. M. (1998) Protein tyrosine phosphatases: mechansims of catalysis and regulation. *Curr Opin Chem Biol* **2**, 633-641.
- Emsley P., Lohkamp B., Scott W. G. and Cowtan K. (2010) Features and development of Coot. *Acta Crystallographica Section D-biological Crystallography* 66, 486-501.
  Evans P. (2006) Scaling and assessment of data quality. *Acta Crystallographica Section D* 62, 72-82.
- Evans P. R. (2011) An introduction to data reduction: space-group determination, scaling and intensity statistics. *Acta Crystallographica Section D* **67**, 282-292.
- Frederick J. P., Mattiske D., Wofford J. A., Megosh L. C., Drake L. Y., Chiou S.-T., Hogan B. L. M. and York J. D. (2005) An essential role for an inositol polyphosphate multikinase, Ipk2, in mouse embryogenesis and second messenger production. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **102**, 8454-8459.
- Gaidarov I., Krupnick J. G., Falck J. R., Benovic J. L. and Keen J. H. (1999) Arrestin function in G protein-coupled receptor endocytosis requires phosphoinositide binding. *EMBO J* 18, 871-881.
- Gasteiger E., Hoogland C., Gattiker C., Duvaud S., Wilkins M.R., Appel R.D. and Bairoch A.Walker J. (Ed.), (2005) *Protein Identification and Analysis Tools on the ExPASy Server*. Humana Press.
- Gill S. C. and von Hippel P. H. (1989) Calculation of protein extinction coefficients from amino acid sequence data. *Anal Biochem* **182**, 319-326.
- Gillaspy G. E. (2013) The role of phosphoinositides and inositol phosphates in plant cell signaling. *Adv Exp Med Biol* **991**, 141-157.
- Gorrec F., Palmer C. M., Lebon G. and Warne T. (2011) Pi sampling: a methmethod and flexible approach to initial macromolecular crystallization screening. *Acta Crystallogr D Biol Crystallogr* **67**, 463-470.
- Greiner R., Alminger M. L., Carlsson N. G., Muzquiz M., Burbano C. and Cuadrado C. (2002b) Pathway of dephosphorylation of myo-inositol hexakisphosphate by phytases of legume seeds. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 50, 6865-6870.
- Greiner R., Carlsson N. and Alminger M. L. (2001) Stereospecificity of myo-inositol hexakisphosphate dephosphorylation by a phytate-degrading enzyme of Escherichia coli. *J Biotechnol* **84**, 53-62.

- Greiner R. and Carlsson N.-G. (2006) myo-Inositol phosphate isomers generated by the action of a phytate-degrading enzyme from Klebsiella terrigena on phytate. *Can J Microbiol* **52**, 759-768.
- Greiner R., Farouk A., Alminger M. L. and Carlsson N.-G. (2002a) The pathway of dephosphorylation of myo-inositol hexakisphosphate by phytate-degrading enzymes of different Bacillus spp. *Can J Microbiol* **48**, 986-994.
- Greiner R., Konietzny U. and Jany K. D. (1993) Purification and Characterization of 2 Phytases From Escherichia-coli. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics 303, 107-113.
- Gruninger R. J., Dobing S., Smith A. D., Bruder L. M., Selinger L. B., Wieden H.-J. and Mosimann S. C. (2012) Substrate Binding in Protein-tyrosine Phosphatase-like Inositol Polyphosphatases. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 287, 9722-9730.
- Gruninger R. J., Selinger L. B. and Mosimann S. C. (2009) Structural analysis of a multifunctional, tandemly repeated inositol polyphosphatase. *J Mol Biol* **392**, 75-86.
- Gruninger R. J., Thibault J., Capeness M. J., Till R., Mosimann S. C., Sockett E., Selinger B. L. and Lovering A. L. (2014) Structural and biochemical analysis of a unique phosphatase from Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus reveals its structural and functiona relationship with the protein tyrosine phosphatase class of phytase. *PLoS One* 9, e94403.
- Ha N. C., Oh B. C., Shin S., Kim H. J., Oh T. K., Kim Y. O., Choi K. Y. and Oh B. H. (2000) Crystal structures of a novel, thermostable phytase in partially and fully calcium-loaded states. *Nat Struct Biol* 7, 147-153.
- Hanakahi L. A., Bartlet-Jones M., Chappell C., Pappin D. and West S. C. (2000) Binding of inositol phosphate to DNA-PK and stimulation of double-strand break repair. *Cell* **102**, 721-729.
- Hegeman C. E. and Grabau E. A. (2001) A novel phytase with sequence similarity to purple acid phosphatases is expressed in cotyledons of germinating soybean seedlings. *Plant Physiol* **126**, 1598-1608.
- Illies C., Gromada J., Fiume R., Leibiger B., Yu J., Juhl K., Yang S.-N., Barma D. K., Falck J. R., Saiardi A., Barker C. J. and Berggren P.-O. (2007) Requirement of inositol pyrophosphates for full exocytotic capacity in pancreatic beta cells. *Science* 318, 1299-1302.
- Irvine R. F. (2005) Inositide evolution towards turtle domination?. *J Physiol* **566.2**, 295–300.

- Irvine R. F. and Schell M. J. (2001) Back in the water: the return of the inositol phosphates. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **2**, 327-338.
- Isbrandt L. R. and Oertel R. P. (1980) Conformational States of Myoinositol Hexakis(phosphate) In Aqueous-solution - A C-13 Nmr, P-31 Nmr, and Ramanspectroscopic Investigation. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 102, 3144-3148.
- Kaija H., Alatalo S. L., Halleen J. M., Lindqvsit Y., Schneider G., Vaananen H. K. and Vihko P. (2002) Phosphatase and oxygen radical-generating activities of mammalian purple acid phosphatase are fufunctional independent. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 292, 128-132.
- Kerovuo J., Lauraeus M., Nurminen P., Kalkkinen N. and Apajalahti J. (1998) Isolation, characterization, molecular gene cloning, and sequencing of a novel phytase from Bacillus subtilis. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **64**, 2079-2085.
- Kerovuo J., Rouvinen J. and Hatzack F. (2000) Analysis of myo-inositol hexakisphosphate hydrolysis by Bacillus phytase: indication of a novel reaction mechanism. *Biochem J* 352 Pt 3, 623-628.
- Konietzny U. and Greiner R. (2002) Molecular and catalytic properties of phytatedegrading enzymes (phytases). *International Journal of Food Science and Technology* 37, 791-812.
- Krissinel E. and Henrick K. (2007) Inference of macromolecular assemblies from crystalline state. *J Mol Biol* **372**, 774-797.
- Laemmli U. K. (1970) Cleavage of structural proteins during the assembly of the head of bacteriophage T4. *Nature* **227**, 680-685.
- Leslie A. (1992) Recent changes to the MOSFLM package for processing film and image plate data. *Joint CCP4 + ESF-EAMCB Newsletter on Protein Crystallography*, (No 26).
- Lim D., Golovan S., Forsberg C. W. and Jia Z. (2000) Crystal structures of Escherichia coli phytase and its complex with phytate. *Nat Struct Biol* **7**, 108-113.
- Liu Q., Huang Q., Lei X. G. and Hao Q. (2004) Crystallographic snapshots of Aspergillus fumigatus phytase, revealing its enzymatic dynamics. *Structure* **12**, 1575-1583.
- Losito O., Szijgyarto Z., Resnick A. C. and Saiardi A. (2009) Inositol pyrophosphates and their unique metabolic complexity: analysis by gel electrophoresis. *PLoS One* **4**, e5580.

Luckhoff A. and Clapham D. E. (1992) Inositol 1,3,4,5-tetrakisphosphate activates an

endothelial Ca(2+)-permeable channel. Nature 355, 356-358.

- Lupardus P. J., Shen A., Bogyo M. and Garcia K. C. (2008) Small molecule-induced allosteric activation of the Vibrio cholerae RTX cysteine protease domain. *Science* **322**, 265-268.
- Macbeth M. R., Schubert H. L., Vandemark A. P., Lingam A. T., Hill C. P. and Bass B. L. (2005) Inositol hexakisphosphate is bound in the ADAR2 core and required for RNA editing. *Science* **309**, 1534-1539.
- Majerus P. W., Zou J., Marjanovic J., Kisseleva M. V. and Wilson M. P. (2008) The role of inositol signaling in the control of apoptosis. *Adv Enzyme Regul* **48**, 10-17.
- Makower R. E. (1970) Extraction and determination of phytic acid in beans (Phaseolus vulgaris). *Cereal Chemistry* **47**, 288-295.
- Martin J.-P., Foray M.-F., Klein G. and Satre M. (1987) Identification of inositol hexaphosphate in 31P-NMR spectra of Dictyostelium discoideum amoebae. Relevance to intracellular pH determination. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 931, 16-25.
- McNicholas S., Potterton E., Wilson K. S. and Noble M. E. M. (2011) Presenting your structures: the CCP4mg molecular-graphics software. *Acta Crystallographica Section D-biological Crystallography* **67**, 386-394.
- Michell R. H. (2008) Inositol derivatives: evolution and functions. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 9, 151-161.
- Mullaney E. J., Daly C. B. and Ullah A. H. (2000) Advances in phytase research. *Adv Appl Microbiol* **47**, 157-199.
- Mullaney E. J. and Ullah A. H. J. (2003) The term phytase comprises several different classes of enzymes. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **312**, 179-184.
- Murthy P. (2006) Structure and nomenclature of insoitol phosphates, phosphoinositides, and glycosylphosphatidylinositols. *Biology of Inositols and Phosphoinositides* **39**, 1-20.
- Nakashima B. A., McAllister T. A., Sharma R. and Selinger L. B. (2007) Diversity of phytases in the rumen. *Microb Ecol* **53**, 82-88.
- Nguyen M. N., Tan K. P. and Madhusudhan M. S. (2011) Topology independent comparison of biomolecular 3D structures. *Nucleic Acids Research* 39, 1-5.
- Norris F. A., Wilson M. P., Wallis T. S., Galyov E. E. and Majerus P. W. (1998) SopB, a protein required for virulence of Salmonella dublin, is an inositol phosphate

phosphatase. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 95, 14057-14059.

- Nuttleman P. R. and Roberts R. M. (1990) Transfer of iron from uteroferrin (purple acid phosphatase) to transferrin related to acid phosphatase activity. *J Biol Chem* **265**, 12192-12199.
- O'Dell B. L., De Boland A. and Koirtyohann S. R. (1972) Distribution of phytate and nutririonally important elements among the morphological components of cereal grains. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* **20**, 718-721.
- Oddie G. W., Schenk G., Angel N. Z., Walsh N., Guddat L. W., de Jersey J., Cassady A., Hamilton S. E. and Hume D. A. (2000) Structure, function, and regulation of tartrate-resistant acid phosphatase. *Bone* **27**, 575-584.
- Oh B. C., Chang B. S., Park K. H., Ha N. C., Kim H. K., Oh B. H. and Oh T. K. (2001) Calcium-dependent catalytic activity of a novel phytase from Bacillus amyloliquefaciens DS11. *Biochemistry* 40, 9669-9676.
- Oh B. C., Choi W. C., Park S., Kim Y. O. and Oh T. K. (2004) Biochemical properties and substrate specificities of alkaline and histidine acid phytases. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* **63**, 362-372.
- Oh B.-C., Kim M. H., Yun B.-S., Choi W.-C., Park S.-C., Bae S.-C. and Oh T.-K. (2006) Ca(2+)-inositol phosphate chelation mediates the substrate specificity of betapropeller phytase. *Biochemistry* 45, 9531-9539.
- Paul S. and Lombroso P. J. (2003) Receptor and nonreceptor protein tyrosine phosphataes in the nervous system. *Cell Mol Life Sci* 2, 2465-2482.
- Phillipy B. Q. and Bland J. M. (1988) Gradient ion chromatography of inositol phosphates. *Analytical Biochemistry* **175**, 162-166.
- Piccolo E., Vignati S., Maffucci T., Innominato P. F., Riley A. M., Potter B. V. L., Pandolfi P. P., Broggini M., Iacobelli S., Innocenti P. and Falasca M. (2004) Inositol pentakisphosphate promotes apoptosis through the PI3-K/Akt pathway. Oncogene 23, 1754-1765.
- Puhl A. A., Greiner R. and Selinger L. B. (2008a) A protein tyrosine phosphatase-like inositol polyphosphatase from Selenomonas ruminantium subsp. lactilytica has specificity for the 5-phosphate of myo-inositol hexakisphosphate. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* 40, 2053-2064.
- Puhl A. A., Greiner R. and Selinger L. B. (2008b) Kinetics, substrate specificity, and stereospecificity of two new protein tyrosine phosphatase-like inositol polyphosphatases from Selenomonas lacticifex. *Biochem Cell Biol* 86, 322-330.

- Puhl A. A., Greiner R. and Selinger L. B. (2009b) Stereospecificity of myo-inositol hexakisphosphate hydrolysis by a protein tyrosine phosphatase-like inositol polyphosphatase from Megasphaera elsdenii. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol* 82, 95-103.
- Puhl A. A., Gruninger R. J., Greiner R., Janzen T. W., Mosimann S. C. and Selinger L. B. (2007) Kinetic and structural analysis of a bacterial protein tyrosine phosphataselike myo-inositol polyphosphatase. *Protein Sci* 16, 1368-1378.
- Puhl A. A., Selinger L. B., McAllister T. A. and Inglis G. D. (2009a) Actinomadura keratinilytica sp. nov., a keratin-degrading actinobacterium isolated from bovine manure compost. *Int J Syst Evol Microbiol* **59**, 828-834.
- QtiPlot accessed June-August, 2014
- Quignard J. F., Rakotoarisoa L., Mironneau J. and Mironneau C. (2003) Stimulation of Ltype Ca2+ channels by inositol pentakis- and hhexakisphosphate in rat vascular smooth muscle cells. J Physiol 549, 729-737.
- Raboy V. (2003) myo-Inositol-1,2,3,4,5,6-hexakisphosphate. *Phytochemistry* **64**, 1033-1043.
- Rao D. E. C. S., Rao K. V., Reddy T. P. and Reddy V. D. (2009) Molecular characterization, physicochemical properties, known and potential applications of phytases: An overview. *Crit Rev Biotechnol* 29, 182-198.
- Saiardi A., Resnick A. C., Snowman A. M., Wendland B. and Snyder S. H. (2005) Inositol pyrophosphates regulate cell death and telomere length through phosphoinositide 3-kinase-related protein kinases. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 102, 1911-1914.
- Saiardi A., Sciambi C., McCaffery J. M., Wendland B. and Snyder S. H. (2002) Inositol pyrophosphates regulate endocytic trafficking. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 99, 14206-14211.
- Sasakawa N., Sharif M. and Hanley M. R. (1995) Metabolism and biological activities of inositol pentakisphosphate and inositol hexakisphosphate. *Biochem Pharmacol* 50, 137-146.
- Schenk G., Mitic N., Hanson G. R. and Comba P. (2013) Purple acid phosphatase: A journey into the function and mechanism of a colorful enzyme. *Coordination Chemistry Reviews* 257, 473-482.
- Schneider C. A., Rasband W. S. and Eliceiri K. W. (2012) NIH Image to ImageJ: 25 years of image analysis. *Nature Methods* **9**, 671-675.

- Schroder B., Breves G. and Rodehutscord M. (1996) Mechanisms of intestinal phosphorus absorption and availability of dietary phosphorus in pigs. *Dtsch Tieraerztl Wochenschr* **103**, 209-214.
- Shin S., Ha N. C., Oh B. C., Oh T. K. and Oh B. H. (2001) Enzyme mechanism and catalytic property of beta propeller phytase. *Structure* **9**, 851-858.
- Skoglund E., Carlsson N. G. and Sandberg A. S. (1998) High-performance chromatographic separation of inositol phosphate isomers on strong anion exchange columns. J. Agric. Food Chem. 46, 1877-1882.
- Somlyo A. P. and Somlyo A. V. (1994) Signal transduction and regulation in smooth muscle. *Nature* **372**, 231-236.
- Steger J. D., Haswell E. S., Miller A. L., Wente S. R. and OoShea E. K. (2003) Regulation of chromatin remodeling by inositol polyphosphates. *Scie* 299, 114-116.
- Stevensen-Paulik J., Chiou S.-T., Frederick J. P., dela Cruz J., Seeds A. M., C. O. J. and York J. D. (2006) Inositol phosphate metabolomics: Merging genetic perturbation with modernized radiolabeling methods. *Methods* 39, 112-121.
- Strother S. (1980) Homeostasis in germinating seeds. Ann. Bot. 45, 217-218.
- Studier W. F. (2005) Protein production by auto-induction in high-density shaking cultures. *Protein Expression and Purification* **41**, 207-234.
- Tan X., Calderon-Villalobos L. I. A., Sharon M., Zheng C., Robinson C. V., Estelle M. and Zheng N. (2007) Mechanism of auxin perception by the TIR1 ubiquitin ligase. *Nature* 446, 640-645.
- Tsubokawa H., Oguro K., Robinson H. P. C., Masuazawa T. and Kawai N. (1996) Intracellular inositol 1,3,4,5-tetrakisphosphate enablices the calcium current in hippocampal CA1 neurons of the gerbil after ischaemia. J. Physiol. **497**, 67-78.
- Tye A. J., Siu F. K. Y., Leung T. Y. C. and Lim B. L. (2002) Molecular cloning and the biochemical characterization of two novel phytases from B-subtilis 168 and B-licheniformis. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* **59**, 190-197.
- Urbano G., Lopen-Jurado M., Aranda P., Vidal-Valverde C., Tenorio E. and Porres J. (2000) The role of phytic acid in llegume: antinutrient or beneficial function?. *J Physiol Biochem* **56**, 283-294.
- Vaguine A. A., Richelle J. and Wodak S. J. (1999) SFCHECK: a unified set of procedures for evaluating the quality of macromolecular structure-factor data and their agreement with the atomic model. *Acta Crystallographica Section D-biological*

Crystallography 55, 191-205.

- Van Etten R. L., Davidson R., Stevis P. E., Macarthur H. and Moore D. L. (1991) Covalent Structure, Disulfide Bonding, and Identification of Reactive Surface and Active-site Residues of Human Prostatic Acid-phosphatase. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 266, 2313-2319.
- Veiga N., Torres J., Macho I., Gomez K., Gonzalez G. and Kremer C. (2014) Coordination, microprotonation equilibria and conformational changes of myoinositol hexakisphosphate with pertinence to its biological function. *Royal Society* of Chemistry 10.1039, C4DT01350F.
- Verbsky J., Lavine K. and Majerus P. W. (2005) Disruption of the mouse inositol 1,3,4,5,6-pentakisphosphate 2-kinase gene, associated lethality, and tissue distribution of 2-kinase expression. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **102**, 8448-8453.
- Wyss M., Brugger R., Kronenberger A., Rémy R., Fimbel R., Oesterhelt G., Lehmann M. and van Loon A. P. (1999) Biochemical characterization of fungal phytases (myoinositol hexakisphosphate phosphohydrolases): catalytic properties. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 65, 367-373.
- Xiang T., Liu Q., Deacon A. M., Koshy M., Kriksunov I. A., Lei X. G., Hao Q. and Thiel D. J. (2004) Crystal structure of a heat-resilient phytase from Aspergillus fumigatus, carrying a phosphorylated histidine. *J Mol Biol* 339, 437-445.
- Yanke L. J., Bae H. D., Selinger L. B. and Cheng K. J. (1998) Phytase activity of anaerobic ruminal bacteria. *Microbiology* 144 (Pt 6), 1565-1573.
- Yao M. Z., Zhang Y. H., Lu W. L., Hu M. Q., Wang W. and Liang A. H. (2012) Phytases: crystal structures, protein engineering and potential biotechnological applications. *Journal of Applied Microbiology* 112, 1-14.
- York J. D., Guo S., Odom A. R., Spiegelberg B. D. and Stolz L. E. (2001) An expanded view of inositol signaling. *Adv Enzyme Regul* 41, 57-71.
- York J. D., Odom A. R., Murphy R., Ives E. B. and Wente S. R. (1999) A phospholipase C-dependent inositol polyphosphate kinase pathway required for efficient messenger RNA export. *Science* 285, 96-100.
- Zhang Z. Y. (1995) Kinetic and mechanistic characterization of a mammalian proteintyrosine phosphatase, PTP1. *J Biol Chem* **270**, 11199-11204.
- Zhang Z. Y., Wu L. and Chen L. (1995) Transition state and rate-limiting step of the reaction catalyzed by the human dual-specificity phosphatase, VHR. *Biochemistry* 34, 16088-16096.